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1                          Monday Morning Session,

2                          May 23rd, 2016.

3                     - - -

4           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  This is on the

5 record.  The Public Utilities Commission of Ohio has

6 scheduled for hearing on this date and time a hearing

7 in the matter of the complaint of Jane Ann Bidwell

8 versus Ohio Power Company, Case No. 15-1020-EL-CSS.

9           My name is Doug Jennings.  I'm an

10 Attorney-Examiner and I've been assigned to preside

11 over the hearing at this time.  I would request that

12 the parties enter an appearance on the record with

13 name and address, beginning with the Complainant.

14           MS. BIDWELL:  My name is Jane, J-a-n-e,

15 Bidwell, B-i-d-w-e-l-l.  My address is 3813 Far Hills

16 Avenue, Kettering, Ohio 45429.

17           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Thank you.  May I

18 have appearances on behalf of Ohio Power Company?

19           MR. BENZA:  I'm Michael Benza

20 representing Ohio Power Company doing business as AEP

21 Ohio, 1 Riverside Plaza, Columbus, Ohio 43215.  Thank

22 you, your Honor.

23           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Thank you.

24 Ms. Bidwell, you may make an opening statement if you

25 so choose.
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1           MS. BIDWELL:  So I didn't really prepare

2 one because I have it all kind of written down in

3 what I'm going to testify to.  I actually have

4 written down so I wouldn't forget any of my details.

5           I think I'm going to show I never

6 received any copy of any letters that was given to

7 me.  I think it will show there was no disconnect

8 notice, there was -- that was received by me.

9           There was multiple opportunities that we

10 could have corrected the situation that would have

11 given me an opportunity that my medicine would not

12 have expired.  At this point until I read everything,

13 it will all be included in that.  I think that's all

14 I'll say.

15           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Thank you.

16 Mr. Benza.

17           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, this complaint

18 alleges that AEP Ohio wrongfully disconnected the

19 Complainant, Ms. Bidwell.  However, the facts which

20 we will set forth today show that AEP Ohio acted

21 justly and reasonably.

22           We will show that Ms. Bidwell never

23 completed her application to become a customer of

24 record at the address in question.  This is because

25 Complainant never answered the Experian questionnaire



Proceedings

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481

7

1 in order to complete lease and identification

2 requirement.

3           The lease and identification requirement

4 arises when an individual has fraud alerts on her

5 identity.  The same day that Ms. Bidwell started her

6 application for service, October 8th, 2014, AEP Ohio

7 was informed of a fraud alert.

8           On October 9, 2014, an AEP Ohio

9 representative attempted to call Ms. Bidwell at the

10 only number she provided, which went to an automated

11 voice messaging system.  Ms. Bidwell's voicemail box

12 was full and, therefore, no message could be left.

13           Moreover, on October 10, 2014, the same

14 day Ms. Bidwell requested that electric service be

15 put in her name, AEP Ohio sent a letter to

16 Ms. Bidwell at the only mailing address she gave to

17 AEP Ohio.  This letter informed Ms. Bidwell that

18 additional information was needed or her application

19 would be deemed incomplete and disconnection would

20 occur.

21           It gave a disconnection date of

22 October 19, 2014.  Ms. Bidwell never responded to AEP

23 Ohio.  Her application for service was never

24 complete, and because of the fraud alert AEP Ohio

25 could not assume the applicant was actually Jane
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1 Bidwell, or that anything within the application was

2 true.

3           The whole point of the fraud alert is to

4 acquire positive identification, which Ms. Bidwell

5 never provided to AEP Ohio.  From October of 2014 to

6 March of 2015, Ms. Bidwell received electric without

7 receiving a bill.

8           In December of 2014 she received a

9 return deposit check via mail at the only mailing

10 address Ms. Bidwell provided.  Ms. Bidwell cashed

11 this check.  Despite no bill and a returned deposit,

12 Ms. Bidwell never called AEP Ohio until service was

13 disconnected in March of 2015.

14           In March of 2015 AEP Ohio had no

15 reasonable means of knowing that individual was

16 staying at the address in question because no

17 customer of record existed at the address, and

18 because usage on the meter does not equate to a

19 inhabitance.

20           Vacant apartments often have fluctuating

21 usage registering on the meter because people have

22 heat, lights, air-conditioning on, et cetera.

23           Therefore, in sum, AEP Ohio acted

24 reasonably and justly and this complaint should be

25 denied in its entirety.  Thank you, your Honor.
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1           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Thank you.

2 Ms. Bidwell, come up.

3           MS. BIDWELL:  Thank you.  Take the full

4 bottle.  I've got a lot to say.

5           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Raise your right

6 hand, please.

7           (Witness was sworn.)

8           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  You may proceed.

9           MS. BIDWELL:  I've got exhibits to hand

10 out.  And exhibits for you as well.

11           MR. BENZA:  Are you going to introduce

12 these exhibits one by one?

13           MS. BIDWELL:  Yes.  They will be

14 included in my testimony.

15                      - - -

16                 Jane Ann Bidwell,

17 being by me first duly sworn, as hereinafter

18 certified, deposes and says as follows:

19                 DIRECT TESTIMONY

20           MS. BIDWELL:  On October 8, 2014, I

21 contacted AEP to initiate an electrical service for

22 my apartment in Columbus.  This call was recorded and

23 I'd like to play that for you.

24           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, we have this

25 call transcribed, I believe.  This is the -- is this
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1 the call where you originally --

2           MS. BIDWELL:  It is.  I'd still like to

3 play it.

4           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  On what medium do

5 you have it?

6           MR. BENZA:  Can I still introduce the

7 transcript so everyone can follow along?

8           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Yes.  Let's go off

9 the record.

10           (Discussion off the record.)

11             (Playing audio.)

12           MR. BENZA:  It's the same exact phone

13 call, just recorded twice.

14           MS. BIDWELL:  So from this recorded call

15 the following can be ascertained:  The purpose of the

16 call was to request service by opening a new account.

17           I identified that I was new to the area

18 and had never lived in Columbus, Ohio before.  The

19 address was 1051 Las Vegas Boulevard, Apartment 105,

20 Columbus, Ohio.  The mailing address was slightly

21 different with the apartment, being the only

22 difference at 10515.

23           The start date of the electrical service

24 was set for Friday, October 10th.  I gave my general

25 demographics, my name, address, Social Security
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1 number, all those things.  I gave an e-mail address,

2 Jane.Bidwell03@hotmail.com.

3           I requested paper statements.  A deposit

4 was requested of $82, with a phone number to call to

5 make this deposit.  An account number was generated.

6 It was 101-614-908-1-7.

7           Nowhere in this phone call was there

8 mention of fraud or the need for a leasing

9 verification, or any other further actions I would

10 need to take.

11           On October 9th, 2014 the letter was

12 generated, if you want to look at Exhibit A that I

13 gave both of you.  AEP recently -- it states that AEP

14 recently received a request to initiate service in my

15 name at my address.  And in order to provide service

16 a security deposit in the amount of $82 needs to be

17 paid.

18           Note, the date of the letter is

19 October 9th, it is not October 8th.  Note the account

20 number assigned to my account.  There is no mention

21 of fraud alert or leasing verification requirement in

22 this letter.

23           I need it to be on record, and I

24 repeatedly stated it, this letter was never received

25 until the first set of interrogatories in September
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1 2015, 11 months later.

2           On October 9th, 2014, a second letter,

3 which is two pages long, was generated stating -- and

4 again, you can look at Exhibit B -- that my only

5 obligation was of a required deposit for $82.  This

6 was required to have been performed by October 18th

7 or AEP will cancel service -- request for service.

8           Note the date is October 9th, not

9 October 8th, the day of the call where I initiated

10 service.  There is no mention of fraud alert or

11 leasing verification requirement.  Only the $82

12 deposit was required to prevent cancellation of

13 service request.  There was an account number

14 assigned to this letter as well.

15           And again, this letter was also not

16 received until the first set of interrogatories in

17 September 2015, again, 11 months later.

18           On October 10th, 2014, a third letter

19 was generated.  See Exhibit C.  It said that they had

20 received my request to open electric service in my

21 name.  States additional information is needed.  Does

22 not mention fraud alert or leasing verification

23 requirements.

24           It says failure to contact AEP by

25 October 19th will result in cancellation of my
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1 request for service.  And this is the third letter

2 that was also not received until the first set of

3 interrogatories in September 2015, 11 months later.

4           It should be noted, this was a brand new

5 apartment building with approximately 175 apartments.

6 Four other buildings were opened prior to my

7 building.  My apartment building opened for

8 business where the lessees could move in on Friday,

9 October 10th, and there were only three other renters

10 who moved in on that weekend.  The building was

11 virtually empty.

12           I checked my mailbox at least every

13 three days, and nothing was in my box.  The only

14 things I had coming to that box was AEP and any

15 advertisements that I didn't solicit.  That was the

16 only thing coming to that.

17           Everything else that was related to

18 other billing was being sent to my home in Dayton,

19 which I would go home once every week to ten days,

20 maybe two weeks, to check my mail there, because I

21 was only here for a 13-month assignment.

22           I knew I wasn't going to stay here

23 permanently.  I didn't transfer any other mail to

24 come to Columbus.  So the only bill I received,

25 everything else was inclusive in my apartment for
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1 other utilities, was all coming just to Columbus for

2 AEP.  That's it.

3           After my initial call to place service

4 and my follow-up call to give an $82 deposit, there

5 was no further phone calls that I received from AEP.

6 I received no further correspondence, including the

7 three letters that was listed above in Exhibits A, B,

8 and C.  I did not get them.

9           I believe I acted in good faith that an

10 account was completely set up by terms of both

11 letters in A and B.  I had met my deposit.  I met it

12 by the date.  I thought it was a done deal.  I had no

13 reason to believe there would be any further

14 correspondence.

15           On discovery for this hearing, in

16 preparation for this hearing, I requested several

17 documents.  See Exhibit D.  And that's going to be my

18 request -- motion for discovery.

19           Copies of recorded -- I asked for copies

20 of all recorded calls between myself and AEP

21 representatives from March 19th, 2015 to present.  I

22 was presented with two CDs.  Including -- included in

23 these CDs were six recorded calls, including the

24 initial call placed on October 8th, logs of all phone

25 calls I requested made from AEP to Jane Bidwell or
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1 vice versa from October 8th to present.

2           I requested for proof of printing

3 generated paper letters from the AEP computer system

4 to Jane Bidwell, proof of mailing any letters written

5 by AEP, handwritten, computer generated, to Jane

6 Bidwell on October 8th through present, which would

7 have been September of 2015.

8           I requested anything sent by U.S. postal

9 service, Fed-Ex, UPS, et cetera.  I requested proof

10 of delivery of any letters mailed to Jane Bidwell as

11 well as other items.

12           So you will see that on the CD that I'm

13 going to give you that was provided by AEP -- are you

14 planning to give them a CD with everything?

15           MR. BENZA:  We have everything that we

16 wish to present transcribed and certified.

17           MS. BIDWELL:  Okay.  So I'm going to

18 give you the CD that they gave to me that has

19 everything, the documents I requested, as well as the

20 MP3 files.

21           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor -- is that going

22 to contain things that you haven't introduced yet?

23           MS. BIDWELL:  Yes.

24           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, I object.

25           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Let's go off the
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1 record for a moment.

2           (Discussion off the record.)

3           MS. BIDWELL:  So in this CD I want you

4 to take note that in their response of INT-1-002, I

5 requested copies of letters claimed to be generated

6 to Jane Bidwell from AEP.  And that's going to be

7 Exhibit E.  I -- that is on that request.

8           INT-1-003, I requested the logs of phone

9 calls made from AEP to Jane Bidwell from October 8th

10 to present.  No. 3 is INT-1-012, proof of printing of

11 computer generated paper letters from AEP computer

12 system to Jane Bidwell.

13           I received a response on that question

14 of the company keeps no record of proof of printing;

15 however, through the company's computer system, if a

16 letter was not printed an error message would have

17 been received.  The company has no record of such

18 error message in this case.  The company also has no

19 record of returned mail in this case.

20           No. 4 is INT-1-014, proof of mailing of

21 any letters written by AEP, handwritten or computer

22 generated, to Jane Bidwell on October 8th through

23 present, i.e., from the U.S. Postal Service, Fed-Ex,

24 UPS, et cetera.  The company stated that they had no

25 record of proof of mailing.
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1           INT-1-015, proof of delivery of any

2 letters mailed to Jane Bidwell.  They returned a

3 response that the company does not keep proof of

4 delivery records.

5           Basically AEP states in their discovery

6 responses that the company keeps no proof of -- no

7 record of proof of printing, the company keeps no

8 record of proof of mailing, the company does not keep

9 proof of delivery records.

10           On December 15th, 2014 -- a check was

11 printed on December 15th to refund my $82 deposit.

12 No explanation was given as to why it was being

13 returned, and there was no letter or correspondence

14 attached to this check.  The letter was not received

15 on December 15th.  That is only the date on the

16 check.

17           In fact, I didn't even deposit it in my

18 account until January 16th, 2015.  Check Exhibit F

19 and Exhibit G, because I have a copy of the check and

20 I have a copy of my deposit slip for PNC.

21           On March 18th, 2015, I traveled to my

22 home in Dayton, Ohio after completion of work on

23 Wednesday.  With my scheduled day off to be on

24 Thursday, March 19th, I returned to my full-time

25 residence in Columbus on Friday March 20th, 2015, at
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1 approximately 1:30 p.m.

2           I discovered that I did not have

3 electricity in my apartment upon this discovery, but

4 from October 8th, 2014 until March 20th, 2015, I had

5 never received a bill from AEP.  Besides the deposit

6 check I never received any correspondence from AEP.

7           Beyond the October 8th phone call there

8 were no phone calls received, there were no e-mails

9 received, even though I gave an e-mail address on my

10 initial phone call for service on October 8th, 2014.

11           On March 20th, 2015, I returned to my

12 Columbus apartment, my primary residence, at

13 approximately 1:30 p.m.  My work schedule for that

14 day was to begin at 3:00 p.m. until 11:00 p.m.

15           I discovered my electrical service had

16 been disconnected.  This was the first disconnect

17 notice I received, because I had paid my deposit on

18 October 9th, 2014, and I met the requirements from

19 the October 9th letter.

20           I placed a phone call to AEP customer

21 service.  I'm going to play that now.  This is the

22 one that probably needs to be transcribed by her.

23           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Off the record for a

24 moment.

25           (Transcription of audio.)
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1           LIZ:  Hi, my name is Liz.  Can I have

2 your name, please?

3           MS. BIDWELL:  Jane Bidwell.

4           LIZ:  Hi, Jane.  How can I help you?

5           MS. BIDWELL:  Well, I'm in this

6 apartment.  I gave you all a deposit.  I kept looking

7 for a bill.  Never got a bill.  Never got a bill.

8 Then you sent me my deposit back.  So don't know what

9 that was all about.  Now you've cut me off.  I've

10 never gotten a bill.

11           LIZ:  Do you have your account number?

12           MS. BIDWELL:  No, I don't.

13           LIZ:  What is your social?

14           MS. BIDWELL:  Never got a bill to get an

15 account number, but okay.

16           LIZ:  What is your social?

17           MS. BIDWELL:  (Redacted.)

18           LIZ:  What is your address?

19           MS. BIDWELL:  1051 Las Vegas Boulevard,

20 Apartment 105.

21           LIZ:  What city and state is that in?

22           MS. BIDWELL:  Columbus, Ohio.  And I

23 need the electric turned back on.

24           LIZ:  And I'm just taking a look at your

25 account to see what's going on.
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1           MS. BIDWELL:  You see where you sent my

2 deposit back to me?

3           LIZ:  Yes.

4           MS. BIDWELL:  Why would they have done

5 that?

6           LIZ:  I'm not sure.  I'm reviewing the

7 account to see what's going on.  Can I put you on

8 hold for one moment?

9           MS. BIDWELL:  Sure.

10           LIZ:  Thank you.

11           TOM:  This is Tom.

12           LIZ:  Hi, Tom.  This is Liz.  Can I give

13 you an account number?

14           TOM:  Please.

15           LIZ:  101-614-908-1-7, for Jane Bidwell.

16 She said we sent her deposit back to her and we

17 disconnected her.  I'm not sure what's going on here.

18           MR. THOMAS:  Well, it was $82 is the

19 last payment.  This is a canceled account.

20           LIZ:  It says something about a fraud

21 alert in the note.

22           TOM:  (Inaudible) cashed on the check

23 already.  I sent that out back in December.  Okay.

24 Let's see what else we can come up with here.

25 (Inaudible) in Columbus.  (Inaudible) Columbus.
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1 (Inaudible) 663872.  Did she give you another -- a

2 different account number at all by chance?

3           LIZ:  She didn't have an account number.

4 She said we never sent her a bill.

5           TOM:  Well, that's probably because the

6 order got canceled because the requirements weren't

7 satisfied on the account.

8           LIZ:  What requirements?

9           TOM:  Well, fraud alert.  Interesting

10 situation.

11           LIZ:  Yeah.

12           TOM:  See what we can find here.

13 (Inaudible) the fact that the order got canceled

14 because she never had services in her name, and then

15 if it was never put in her name and she's continued

16 to live there using services it ended up getting

17 disconnected for unauthorized use.

18           LIZ:  Even if there was a lease ID and

19 verification?

20           TOM:  Possibility.

21           LIZ:  Okay.  So should I just reopen the

22 account?

23           TOM:  Yeah, that's what we're going to

24 have to do.

25           LIZ:  Okay.
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1           TOM:  Because I don't know what's going

2 on with the account.  We may have to have her get you

3 a meter number, too.

4           LIZ:  Okay.

5           TOM:  But I have no idea where this is

6 at or anything, or what's going on other than that

7 note that's on there.

8           LIZ:  Right.

9           TOM:  It doesn't explain it very much.

10 999 is sent to the area office.  C105089965.

11 (Inaudible) get the order history on this one.  Lease

12 ID requirement not met is the reason it got canceled

13 and the reason it was sent back to her.

14           LIZ:  All right.  I'll reopen the

15 account then.

16           TOM:  Okay.  Make sure you do an ID

17 lease as well.

18           LIZ:  All right.  Thank you.

19           Jane?

20           MS. BIDWELL:  Yes.

21           LIZ:  Are you renting the property?

22           MS. BIDWELL:  Yes.

23           LIZ:  Okay.  It looks like the order

24 got -- or the order got canceled because the lease ID

25 verification wasn't met.  We sent a letter out to
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1 your landlord for them to fill out and turn back into

2 us, and it was never turned back in.

3           MS. BIDWELL:  Nice.

4           LIZ:  So that's why they returned the

5 deposit and everything, and they closed the account

6 out, but I can go ahead and open up the account for

7 you again.  You just want to make sure you follow up

8 with your landlord and get that turned back in,

9 because I'm going to send a new one out to him.

10           MS. BIDWELL:  Okay.  So are you charging

11 me to reconnect this?

12           LIZ:  It will just be the deposit again.

13           MS. BIDWELL:  Which was how much?

14           LIZ:  Last time it was $82.  Let me see

15 what comes up this time.  It should be the same.

16           MS. BIDWELL:  I do have some issues with

17 my leasing office, I will say that.  There are all

18 kind of issues that nothing is done right, so I guess

19 that shouldn't entirely surprise me, should it?  And

20 it's a brand-new complex.

21           LIZ:  Yeah, I've never heard of that

22 street.

23           MS. BIDWELL:  And -- and I pay $1,200 a

24 month, and I'm never late by one day on my rent.

25           LIZ:  Okay.  Let me get this account
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1 opened back up for you.  What is your middle initial?

2           MS. BIDWELL:  A.

3           LIZ:  Your home phone number?

4           MS. BIDWELL:  It's the only one I got.

5 It's 937-760-0976.

6           LIZ:  Thank you.  You want to add an

7 e-mail address to the account?

8           MS. BIDWELL:  No.

9           LIZ:  Okay.

10           MS. BIDWELL:  My Hot Mail account

11 appears to be screwed up.  I'm not getting things

12 coming through.

13           LIZ:  Okay.  The name of your employer?

14           MS. BIDWELL:  Ohio Health.

15           LIZ:  Your occupation?

16           MS. BIDWELL:  IT.

17           LIZ:  Okay.  Your driver's license

18 number?

19           MS. BIDWELL:  Hang on.  I have got to

20 get my license.  Okay.  My license number is

21 RR659611.

22           LIZ:  And that's Ohio?

23           MS. BIDWELL:  Yes.

24           LIZ:  And your date of birth?

25           MS. BIDWELL:  7-27-58.  Can I put this
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1 on a debit card with you all?

2           LIZ:  Yes, I can give you the

3 (Inaudible) phone number and you can pay with a debit

4 card through them.

5           MS. BIDWELL:  But I've got to have an

6 account number.

7           LIZ:  Right.  I'll give that to you in

8 just a moment.  A name of a relative not living with

9 you, (Inaudible).

10           MS. BIDWELL:  I have no relatives.  They

11 are all dead.

12           LIZ:  Okay.

13           MS. BIDWELL:  I have a dog.  She's not

14 going to be much help.

15           LIZ:  Right.  Okay.  The deposit is $82

16 again.

17           MS. BIDWELL:  Okay.  So what's my

18 account number?

19           LIZ:  Almost finished here.  Do you want

20 your bills mailed to your home address?

21           MS. BIDWELL:  Yes.

22           LIZ:  Okay.  I have a start service date

23 for today at 1051 Las Vegas Boulevard, Apartment 105,

24 in Columbus, Ohio.  The account number -- are you

25 ready?
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1           MS. BIDWELL:  Yes.

2           LIZ:  Is 101 -- I'm sorry, 614-908.

3           MS. BIDWELL:  Okay.

4           LIZ:  2-5.

5           MS. BIDWELL:  Okay.

6           LIZ:  All right.  If you want, I can go

7 ahead and transfer you over to bill (Inaudible) to

8 make payment.

9           MS. BIDWELL:  Yes, transfer it over.

10 Can they turn it on today?

11           LIZ:  Once we receive payment it does

12 take one to three business days, but they will get

13 out there as soon as they can.

14           MS. BIDWELL:  I mean, because I have no

15 power until Monday?

16           LIZ:  As I said, there's a possibility

17 they might get out there today, it just depends on

18 how busy they are.

19           MS. BIDWELL:  Okay.  Can you

20 (inaudible)?

21           LIZ:  Yeah, I'll send a note out with

22 them to try to and get out there today.

23           MS. BIDWELL:  All right.

24           LIZ:  Is there anything else I can help

25 you with before I transfer you?
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1           MS. BIDWELL:  No.

2           LIZ:  All right.  One moment.

3           MS. BIDWELL:  Thanks.

4           (End of Audio transcription.)

5           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Off the record for a

6 moment.

7           (Discussion off the record.)

8           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Let's go back on the

9 record.

10           MS. BIDWELL:  Okay.  So you can see from

11 this call that the following was evident; I stated I

12 had never received a bill from AEP for my service

13 since requesting service.  I questioned whether -- I

14 questioned Liz why they would have returned my

15 deposit, and clearly she states, "I'm not sure."

16           She contacts Tom in the help queue, and

17 Liz states to him, "I'm not sure what is going on."

18 After that she states, "I see something that says

19 fraud alert and a note."

20           This was the first time fraud alert was

21 raised.  And I wasn't even on that call, but this was

22 the first time fraud alert was coming into any

23 conversation.  Even letters dated October 9th and

24 October 10th does not mention fraud alert.

25           Tom states the order was canceled
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1 because the requirements were not satisfied on the

2 account.  And again, this is the first time that I

3 was made aware of the account requirements were not

4 satisfied on the account, because I never received

5 any prior notification.

6           Tom then states this was an interesting

7 situation.  Liz then asks, "Do you think there was a

8 lease ID verification?"  This was also never raised

9 on any former correspondence, phone calls, or

10 e-mails.

11           So on any of the three letters that they

12 claim they mailed to me on October 9th and 10th,

13 there's no fraud alert mentioned, there is no lease

14 ID verification requirement mentioned.  This also was

15 never raised on any form or correspondence, phone

16 calls or e-mails.

17           Tom then states, "I don't know what is

18 going on with the account."  Furthermore, he states,

19 "I have no idea where this is going other than the

20 note that is on there.  It doesn't explain it very

21 much."  Tom then states the lease ID requirement was

22 not met, and that is the reason it was canceled.

23           Liz states she will reopen the account.

24 Tom states to her again, "Make sure you do a lease ID

25 as well."  Liz then gets back on the phone with me



Proceedings

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481

29

1 and tells me the leasing ID verification was never

2 met.  First time I'd heard it.

3           She states she sent out a letter to my

4 landlord to fill out and turn back in.  It was never

5 turned in, and that is the reason the deposit was

6 returned, and AEP closed the account.

7           Now, I had asked for all correspondence,

8 and I never received copies of any landlord form to

9 be filled out.  So again, this was Liz telling me

10 this needed to be accomplished.

11           Liz then states she will send another

12 lease ID verification to my landlord and that I

13 needed to make sure -- follow up and make sure that

14 it gets turned back in.  She also states my

15 service -- my service start date is for today, which

16 was the 20th of March, 2015.

17           She states after taking my security

18 deposit it will take one to three business days to

19 turn on service.  I asked if that was -- would be

20 Monday.  She says there was a possibility they could

21 get out there today depending upon how busy they

22 were.  She states she will send a note out for them

23 to try to get out there today.

24           There was no mention of the return of

25 electricity would be dependent upon this lease
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1 verification ID, or that the appropriate apartment --

2 appropriate department would be closed all weekend to

3 verify my lease.

4           There was no offer to transfer my calls

5 to the department who handles these lease

6 verifications to expedite the order.  I could have

7 faxed them my lease right then and there, and had

8 service restored on Friday.  My medicine did not have

9 to be ruined on account of this.

10           This phone call was the first notice I

11 received that the account was closed.  So six

12 months -- nearly six months after I opened the

13 account, I'm now being told I have been closed.

14           I went to work immediately after this

15 call and I worked until about 11:00 p.m.  And I had a

16 class.  I teach physicians in clinical software

17 systems.  And following the release of my class I

18 contacted the AEP twice more.

19           There are a total of three calls to AEP

20 on March 20th, 2015, to try and resolve this issue.

21 They are timed at 1:45, 10:23 p.m., and 10:43 p.m.

22 However, AEP only supplied recorded calls for me for

23 two of those calls.

24           All of my calls were made to the

25 customer service number, so why wasn't the third call
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1 recorded and given to me in discovery?

2           On March 20th, 2015, I contacted AEP at

3 10:23 p.m. and an agent named Peggy answered, and I'm

4 going to play that for you.

5           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, can we go off

6 the record for a second?

7           (Discussion off the record.)

8           (Transcription of audio.)

9           PEGGY:  Hello, my name is Peggy.  May I

10 have your name please?

11           MS. BIDWELL:  My name is Jane Bidwell.

12           PEGGY:  Thank you, Jane.  How can I help

13 you?

14           MS. BIDWELL:  Well, I have had a

15 (Inaudible) so I moved into an apartment.  I gave my

16 deposit.  I never ever got a bill back from you guys.

17 You guys ended up turning me off today, so I ended up

18 calling and what they said to me was I was turned off

19 and my account was closed because my apartment

20 complex never filled out the form to verify that I

21 was the lessee.  So my issue is I repaid another

22 deposit.  They said they would try and get it turned

23 on today.  It did not get turned on.  I have $4,000

24 worth of insulin in my refrigerator and (Inaudible).

25           PEGGY:  Well, I need your account number
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1 to go look.

2           MS. BIDWELL:  (Inaudible) down the road.

3 101-614-908-2-5.

4           PEGGY:  Thank you.  Your address and

5 home phone number, please?

6           MS. BIDWELL:  It's 105 -- hang on, I'm

7 trying to get on with my life.  It's 105 Las Vegas

8 Boulevard, Apartment 105, I think.  My phone number

9 is 937-760-0976.  She told me she wasn't charging me

10 for a reconnection fee because it's come down to the

11 apartment complex screwing up.

12           PEGGY:  What was the house number again?

13           MS. BIDWELL:  I think it's 105 Las Vegas

14 Boulevard, Apartment -- hang on.  I never send

15 anything there.  10 -- 1051 Las Vegas Boulevard,

16 Apartment 105.

17           PEGGY:  Columbus, Ohio?

18           MS. BIDWELL:  Columbus.

19           PEGGY:  Now, I'm -- I'm showing it's

20 still waiting on a lease ID verification.  It will

21 not be released to be worked until that is cleared

22 up.

23           MS. BIDWELL:  She told me -- I have to

24 get this turned on.  I have $4,000 in medications

25 that is going to be ruined.
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1           PEGGY:  Okay.  But it's out of my hands

2 right now.  We're trying to get a lease and ID

3 verification verifying who is living there and stuff,

4 and so far it hasn't been released, so that's what's

5 holding everything up.

6           MS. BIDWELL:  So you're telling me it's

7 the apartment complex?  Are you telling me that this

8 is part of AEP?

9           PEGGY:  Well, it's our procedure because

10 of situations at this address that caused the lease

11 and ID verification, and we're still waiting on that.

12 That could be that we're waiting for the landlord to

13 call us back providing information.

14           MS. BIDWELL:  Have you got a supervisor?

15           PEGGY:  I can see if one is available.

16           MS. BIDWELL:  This has got to be

17 resolved today.  (Inaudible) for verification on

18 Monday.

19           PEGGY:  Well, we can't release it, but

20 let me place you on hold and see if a supervisor is

21 available.

22           RECORDING:  "Please hold for the next

23 available supervisor.  There is not a supervisor

24 available to take your call.  Please take the

25 customer's name and phone number and give to your
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1 lead or supervisor."

2           PEGGY:  Jane, I only have one supervisor

3 this late at night and he's on a phone call.  I can

4 have him call you back.

5           MS. BIDWELL:  Yeah, he needs to call me

6 back.

7           PEGGY:  Okay.  At the 937-760-0976 or do

8 you want --

9           MS. BIDWELL:  Yeah, that's the different

10 number.

11           PEGGY:  And e-mail for a call back then.

12           MS. BIDWELL:  Thank you.  Bye.

13           (End of audio transcription.)

14           MS. BIDWELL:  I never got a phone call

15 back from that supervisor, never heard back from them

16 again, and 30 minutes later I made a third phone call

17 to AEP's customer support.

18           Now, I had asked for all taped

19 recordings between me and AEP.  There is no third

20 phone call of me talking to that gentleman that was

21 on at 10:43, 10:53 that night.

22           So from this phone call Peggy tells

23 me -- I explained the situation.  I told her I had

24 the $4,000 in insulin in my refrigerator, it was

25 going to fry.  I didn't have electricity.



Proceedings

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481

35

1           She states the account was still waiting

2 on the lease ID verification.  It will not be

3 released to be worked until that is cleared up.  Liz

4 has told me to make sure the form was sent back from

5 the landlord, but that she would try and get service

6 restored that day.  So I have very conflicting

7 stories.

8           The woman now tells me it's out of our

9 hands and we're trying to get a lease ID verification

10 to see who is living there, and since it hasn't been

11 released it's holding everything up.  First time I

12 heard that.  Liz told me something else.

13           I specifically asked if it was the

14 apartment complex.  Peggy stated it could be waiting

15 for the landlord to call us back to provide this

16 information.

17           Asked for the supervisor.  Needed to get

18 it resolved today.  She puts me on hold, comes back

19 and tells me he's unavailable.  His call never came.

20 At 10:43 I called back again to the customer service

21 number.  At this point I wasn't very nice.  I will

22 admit I was quite irate because of the fear of losing

23 my medication.

24           I offered to pay my bill in full in that

25 phone call because I had money.  He informed me I
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1 needed to take it up with my apartment complex.

2 Since all calls are recorded on this line, I don't

3 understand why the recording was not sent in the

4 discovery requests from AEP.

5           There is no recording of this call given

6 to me.  And again, it was on the service -- customer

7 service line.  There were three phone calls placed to

8 AEP, and a second deposit paid and a fourth phone

9 call to bill pay on March 20th, 2015.

10           There could have been resolution with

11 the leasing ID department before 5:00 p.m. that day

12 and service could have been restored.  I could have

13 faxed the lease.  There could have been a phone call

14 to the leasing department of my apartment complex

15 because of the urgency of my medication.  It didn't

16 have to be ruined.

17           And here I was nine hours later after

18 the initial call, and I'm still getting conflicting

19 calls about what the verification process was going

20 to be.

21           According to the Ohio Revised Code

22 4933.121, a company may shut off exception, Paragraph

23 A, "An electric light company shall not for any

24 reason, unless requested by the consumer for safety

25 reasons, or unless tampering by utility company
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1 equipment or theft of electricity, or utility company

2 equipment has occurred, cease to provide electricity

3 or utility company equipment has occurred, cease to

4 provide electricity to any residential consumer for

5 the period beginning on the 15th day of November and

6 ending on the 15th day of April unless both of the

7 following apply:  The account of the consumer is in

8 arrears 30 days or more.  If the occupant -- if

9 residential premises is a tenant whose landlord is

10 responsible for payment for the service provided by

11 the company, the company has five days previously

12 notified the occupant of its intent to discontinue

13 service to the occupant.

14           I did not qualify for the energy credit

15 program.  Discontinuation of my service was not at my

16 request.  Service was disconnected on March 20th,

17 which falls within the statute that no service shall

18 be disconnected between November 15th and April 15th.

19           No bill was generated by AEP prior to

20 March 20th for termination of electric service.

21 Customer was given no due dates since the bill was

22 never generated, and therefore could not be 30 days

23 in arrear.  Landlord was not responsible for payment

24 of my service to AEP.

25           Therefore both exceptions to ORC
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1 4933.121, Section A, were not met to allow

2 termination of services.

3           Additionally, in Section C of Ohio

4 Revised Code 4933.121, "Company may shut off

5 electricity exception," states, "No company shall

6 cease to provide electricity to a residential premise

7 between the 15th day of November and the 15th day of

8 April because of failure to pay the amount for the

9 electricity unless the company at the time it sends

10 or delivers to the premises notice of termination,

11 informs the occupant of the premises where to obtain

12 state and federal aid for payment of utility bills

13 and for home weatherization information on local

14 government aid for payment of the utility bills and

15 for moment weatherization.

16           AEP is in violation of the statute

17 because the service was discontinued on March 20th,

18 which falls within the section dates of November 15

19 through April 15.

20           No notice of termination of service was

21 given to Ms. Bidwell, and according to the AEP

22 representative that I spoke with at the direction of

23 Nick Akins, she told me no notice was ever generated

24 by AEP.

25           "There is no attempt to make or inform
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1 Ms. Bidwell of state and federal aid for payment of

2 utility bills, et cetera.  With the rise in kilowatt

3 usage attributed to this address, AEP cannot really

4 claim this address was unknown to be occupied."

5           All conditions of 4933.121, Section C,

6 were not met, and therefore AEP is in direct

7 violation of ORC 4933.121, Section C.

8           AEP is in direction violation of ORC

9 4393.122, "Procedure for terminating residential

10 services," stating, "No gas -- natural gas, gas or

11 electric light company shall terminate service except

12 for safety reasons or upon the request to the

13 customer, at any time to a residential customer,

14 except pursuant to procedures that provide for all of

15 the following:  A, reasonable prior notice is given

16 to such consumer, including notice of rights and

17 remedies, and no due date shall be established after

18 which a customer's account is considered to be in

19 arrears if unpaid that is less than 14 days after the

20 mailing of the bill; B, a reasonable opportunity is

21 given to dispute the reasons for such termination; C,

22 in circumstances in which termination of service to a

23 consumer would be especially dangerous to health."

24           AEP is in violation of this ordinance,

25 Ohio Revised Code 4933.122 statute, because I did not
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1 receive a request to terminate.  I did not generate a

2 request to terminate services to AEP.

3           Since no disconnect notice was given to

4 Ms. Bidwell, therefore no reasonable prior notice was

5 given, so no notice of right and remedies given to

6 me.

7           Additionally, with no bill being

8 generated, therefore there was no due date

9 established for customer, so no opportunity to be 14

10 days in arrears.

11           No reasonable opportunity was given to

12 me to dispute the reasons for termination prior to

13 electrical service being discontinued since customer

14 is unaware the electrical service would be

15 discontinued without due notice generated by AEP.

16           Additionally, service was discontinued

17 on a Friday.  Customer had very little time to

18 attempt to reconnect service for business was

19 concluded at the end of the day.  This meant a

20 prolonged period of time Saturday and most of Monday

21 without electrical service to deal with

22 re-establishing service.

23           It was possible to provide -- it was not

24 possible to provide suitable refrigeration of my life

25 saving medication, thereby causing medication to be
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1 ruined due to AEP's actions.

2           Now, March 21st 2015 I telephoned Tory

3 Murphy.  She was the apartment manager at my complex,

4 and I explained to her the situation where I was told

5 by multiple service representatives, Liz and Peggy,

6 that there were documents that the complex needed to

7 fill out because of leasing ID verification and/or a

8 phone call to verify I was the lessee.  I would like

9 to play the next CD for you.

10           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, I believe we

11 have this call transcribed.

12           MS. BIDWELL:  I still want to play it.

13           MR. BENZA:  That's fine.  But I would

14 like to provide it to everyone so they could follow

15 up.

16           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Off the record for a

17 moment.

18           (Discussion off the record.)

19           (Playing of audio.)

20           MS. BIDWELL:  Okay.  After repeated

21 derogatory remarks by the AEP service representative,

22 Christina, the following comes out of this

23 conversation:  Christina states my account was never

24 set up.  She states my account was -- was still not

25 active, the new one that I placed on the 20th of



Proceedings

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481

42

1 March.

2           She brings up the leasing verification

3 process.  She told me property manager Tory -- Tory

4 states that she had never had to verify somebody's

5 lease for power, it was weird for her.

6           Christina states the lease verification

7 won't happen until Monday because they are not open

8 over the weekend.  Again, this could have been

9 addressed from 1:45 Friday until 5:00 p.m. on Friday,

10 and we could have preserved the medication.

11           Tory stresses the importance of

12 refrigeration for my medicine and health to

13 Christina.  Christina states that this was now

14 backdated to October 10th, 2014.

15           Tory goes so far to ask if a property

16 could be placed back in the name of the property

17 management.  Christina states it won't work.  She

18 actually says she doesn't have a way of doing that.

19           Christina states she doesn't show that

20 there was an application process started.  States

21 there was paperwork that went out to me, but they

22 never got it back.  I've never received paperwork at

23 all regarding a lease verification from AEP.

24           She states the cancellation was because

25 of me not sending that paperwork back in January.
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1 I've asked for all the documents from AEP that they

2 have sent out.  They never had anything after October

3 10th, so I don't quite know where this Christina is

4 getting back in January.

5           I was accused of yelling and screaming,

6 but the recorded calls do not reflect that at all.

7 Christina states they sent something back in October

8 to be filled out, and -- but I didn't return it.  But

9 again, from the documents I requested in discovery,

10 there was no documents that needed to be filled out.

11           I never received anything, not even the

12 three letters, but according to the documents I

13 received through discovery the only thing they

14 claimed to have sent out was the three letters.

15 No -- nowhere was there paperwork to be filled out

16 either from the original request in October or even

17 the order entered by Liz in the first phone call on

18 the 20th of March, 2015, where I was informed to make

19 sure the apartment complex completed the paperwork.

20           In reality, there was never any

21 paperwork to complete, verify, or return back to the

22 leasing ID verification department.  It was simply a

23 few generic questions to a woman on the phone.

24           Now, I had asked for those questions to

25 be given to me during discovery, and it was never
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1 provided for me.  They state that it was included

2 on -- and it will be in the CD, Attachment 1-1-2, but

3 when you pull that up, it's clearly a completely

4 different document, and there are no questions that

5 was asked.

6           What I do remember of the questions

7 being asked was they asked me on the 23rd of March,

8 prior to 2014 what year vehicle did I purchase.  And

9 there was several other questions.  I think one

10 question, if I recall right, was about prior towns or

11 cities that I had lived in.

12           But again, I asked for those questions.

13 I never received them through discovery, so AEP

14 didn't give them to me.

15           I received multiple conflicting stories

16 from all these phone calls that was placed between

17 the one with Tory with the AEP, and the three that I

18 placed on the 20th of March.

19           Liz said that she was sending a second

20 request for paperwork to be filled out, and I needed

21 to follow up with the landlord to make sure they did

22 it.  No mention of the transfer to the department

23 that I could have answered those generic questions to

24 make that happen at night.

25           Now, the second phone call to Peggy,
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1 she's telling me it won't be released to work that

2 order until the leasing ID verification releases it,

3 and Christina said I had paperwork to fill out, not

4 the landlord, but she might be asked some questions,

5 for which no paperwork ever came forth coming to me.

6           I called the only number that I had,

7 which was customer service, to make this happen, to

8 save my medication, and I just kept getting wrong

9 information, continually.

10           In our phone call Tory had made

11 suggestion that I -- I had a phone call with Tory

12 before she called AEP, and she had made the

13 suggestion that I could store my medicine in the

14 clubhouse refrigerator, but it was not a realistic

15 suggestion.

16           My medicine had already been greater

17 than 24 hours without refrigeration.  It was no

18 longer viable medicine to use long term.  This

19 medicine must be kept at constant temperature and it

20 will be unusable for literally greater than --

21 otherwise it could have been used for greater than

22 two years, but not if it loses refrigeration.

23           It's dangerous to have this medication

24 in a location where someone who is not a diabetic

25 could have stolen it, injected it, and died because
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1 it could have dropped their sugar level and could

2 even cause death.  The liability for the complex and

3 myself are far to great.  I told her it was not a

4 viable option.

5           My phone call to her was while I was at

6 work.  I would not be home before the leasing office

7 closed that Saturday on the 21st of March.  I did not

8 have Tory's personal phone number on location to pick

9 up another key to go somewhere else in the complex.

10           There wasn't an option for me.  The

11 medicine was ruined by this point, and it wasn't a

12 viable option to preserve my medicine any more.

13           On March 23rd, 2015, I prepared a letter

14 to Mr. Nick Akins, CEO of AEP.  See Exhibit H in your

15 packet.  I explained the entire situation in this

16 letter, and the letter was signed for by Jimmie

17 Waller to deliver to Mr. Akins, since people not

18 employed by AEP are not allowed access beyond the

19 front desk.

20           Mr. Akins tasked this letter to someone,

21 and I believe her name was Margie Feister.  I have

22 nothing in writing from Margie Feister, but she did

23 contact me multiple times.  From the time I dropped

24 off that letter, she did contact me within two hours

25 of dropping the letter off for Mr. Akins.
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1           She specifically told me she was tasked

2 to investigate this by Mr. Akins himself, and again,

3 the call was never turned over to me in the discovery

4 of documents.  So there is no recorded call of that

5 conversation.

6           An hour or so later she called me back

7 and told me I would be receiving a phone call from

8 someone from another department, and I needed to

9 answer some questions and they could restore service

10 that day.

11           I told her that I needed to open a claim

12 for damages for my medicine.  She assured me she

13 could take care of that as well.  At this point

14 another woman did call that day, probably a matter of

15 an hour or two afterwards.  She left a message.  I

16 returned her call and I answered those generic

17 questions, and I think there was like five of them.

18           And again, it's questions about what

19 year vehicle did I buy, and I think it was what

20 previous cities I had lived in.  So service was

21 restored before I returned home from work that day.

22           So I dropped the letter off first thing

23 in the morning.  Two hours later I got a service rep

24 who -- I think it was Margie Feister contacted me.  I

25 answered the questions and service was turned on
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1 before I ever arrived home.

2           On March 31st Margie Feister once again

3 returned my call.  And again, this recorded -- this

4 phone call was not recorded and provided to me in

5 discovery, either.  She stated no further -- I asked

6 multiple questions of her, and she stated there was

7 no further attempt to contact me after October 10th.

8           She stated no bill was ever generated

9 for my account.  She stated no disconnect notice was

10 served to me.  She stated service was canceled

11 without further notice of any kind.

12           She also stated after listening to the

13 recorded calls there would be corrective counseling

14 performed on the individuals whom I spoke with on

15 that day because of the content of those calls.

16           Again, these calls were not -- these

17 recorded calls were not supplied to me of Margie

18 Feister contacting me.  On April 1st, 2015, per

19 Margie Feister's comment, a claim was opened up and

20 assigned to a woman named Angela Hall.

21           So this claim was for the loss and

22 damages of my medicine and food.  I spoke with Angela

23 and she claims to have investigated and denied my

24 claim for damages received on the disconnect.

25           I want you to check out Exhibit I.  This
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1 is a letter from her.  She claims there was a valid

2 disconnect notice.  I argued with her on the phone

3 call it was not a valid disconnect.  The letters in

4 A, B, and C were never received by me until after

5 discovery requests for my formal complaint to the

6 PUCO.

7           There was never any notice given to me,

8 these letters were never received.  AEP stated in

9 their discovery responses that the company keeps no

10 record or proof of printing, the company keeps no

11 record of proof of mailing.  The company does not

12 keep proof of delivered records.  See Exhibit E that

13 we mentioned earlier.

14           Ms. Hall included a PUCO No. 20 and that

15 is Exhibit J.  "Except as otherwise provided in this

16 Section, the company shall be liable to the customer

17 for damage directly resulting from interruptions,

18 irregularities, delays or failures of electric

19 service caused by the negligence of the Company or

20 its employees or agents..."

21           This was an act of negligence because

22 proper notice was never given.  There were

23 inconsistencies in all phone calls received.  The

24 company was notified of damages within 30 days

25 after -- of the interruption of my letter dated
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1 March 22nd, 2015, after interruption on March 20th,

2 2014.

3           Since no letters were received, there

4 was no disconnect notice to me.  I think that they

5 are in violation of PUCO Rule No. 20.

6           April 22nd, 2014, I wrote my last and

7 subsequent letter to Mr. Akins.  It was handed to an

8 administrative assistant in Mr. Akins' office.  You

9 can see the signature on the front of it.  That is

10 Exhibit K.

11           I explained in the letter all the

12 details, and I included the cost of replacement

13 medicine, breakdown of food items, and photographs of

14 all perishable food and medicine.  Now, I have better

15 copies.  These are color copies, but do you have

16 photocopies in your packet?  Do you want to see the

17 color copies?

18           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Yes.

19           MS. BIDWELL:  Now, what I wish to show

20 you is, this is the medicine that was ruined.

21           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Would you show the

22 photographs to counsel, please?

23           MS. BIDWELL:  Yes.  This is my medicine

24 that was ruined out of my refrigerator, and you can

25 verify it by the photographs right here.
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1           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  You say you have

2 photocopies of the photographs?

3           MS. BIDWELL:  They should be attached to

4 the April 22nd letter.

5           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Okay.

6           MS. BIDWELL:  Those photographs involve

7 this, and the medicine is still in there.  Because

8 it's ruined, I can't use it, I just saved it for you.

9           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  So you have the

10 actual insulin here and you have photographs of

11 these --

12           MS. BIDWELL:  Attached to your -- okay.

13 Are we good for me to put this away?  Good for me to

14 put this away?

15           MR. BENZA:  That's fine if you put it

16 away.

17           MS. BIDWELL:  The letter of April 22nd I

18 received no -- no response from Mr. Akins and I was

19 forced to file this formal complaint.

20           AEP has claimed they have no knowledge

21 of this residence being occupied at the time.  I'm

22 including the first two bill statements that I

23 received, and it's going to be Exhibit L and Exhibit

24 M.

25           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, I object to
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1 these exhibits because they are not replicated to the

2 original.  I can provide the actual accurate copies.

3 If you look at L and M of what she's provided, it is

4 nothing like what an AEP Ohio bill looks like.

5           MS. BIDWELL:  That's what printed out

6 from the CD that you gave me.

7           MR. BENZA:  Well, I can provide the

8 actual bills, or true and accurate copies of the

9 actual bills.

10           MS. BIDWELL:  As long as they show what

11 the amounts were and the dates that were due, I'm

12 fine with that.

13           MR. BENZA:  I think I got it from the

14 first bill produced in March of 2015 through

15 September of 2015.  And I have copies of all those.

16 Can I provide those, your Honor?

17           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  You have copies

18 available?

19           MR. BENZA:  Yes.

20           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Let's do that.  If I

21 understand correctly, the Complainant does not mind

22 if you substitute those documents for the ones that

23 she's provided.

24           MR. BENZA:  Yeah.  Can we take a quick

25 recess, though, because I've got to put paperclips on
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1 all of them otherwise it's going to be --

2           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  We'll take a

3 five-minute break.

4           (Recess taken.)

5           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Ms. Bidwell, you can

6 begin with your Exhibit L and testify on that.

7           MS. BIDWELL:  AEP has claimed they had

8 no knowledge of this residence being occupied.  So

9 I'm including the first two billing statements that I

10 received.  I'm calling them Exhibit L and Exhibit M.

11           The first bill was for 680.73 due on

12 April 8th through 2015.  This bill was to cover from

13 October 10th up through the billing date that this

14 due date was going to be there.

15           The second bill I want to present is for

16 795.39 due on April 9th.  So I received two bills in

17 two days.  And they total together 759.39.  These

18 bills were paid in a few installments from my

19 checking account because my debit card would not

20 process over $500 a single transaction.  So it was

21 paid in 500 and then 295.39, to complete them in

22 full.

23           These are the first two bills I ever

24 received from October 8th to April 1st.  According to

25 the recorded testimony of Michele Jeunelot --
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1           MR. BENZA:  Jeunelot.

2           MS. BIDWELL:  -- claims in her testimony

3 recorded to the PUCO on May 19th, 2016, that I never

4 completed a customer application, that's why I never

5 got a bill.

6           However, the requirement she cites for

7 completing the application were never made known to

8 me.  There was no letters to me, specifically

9 anything involving a fraud alert or the leasing ID

10 verification.

11           The first knowledge I have of this was

12 on March 20th, 2015.  On Page 4 of Michele Jeunelot's

13 testimony she states AEP Ohio had no reasonable means

14 of knowing that anyone was staying at the

15 disconnected apartment since my application was never

16 completed.

17           That statement is so ridiculous because

18 there is a kilowatt usage for this time frame.  See

19 Exhibit O.  It is broken down by month.  AEP's claim

20 is the kilowatt usage did not indicate someone was

21 occupying the residence.

22           Her claims of customers moving in and

23 out and leaving on appliances and lights would

24 account for this kilowatt usage.  They truly want to

25 convince us that this was an empty apartment, and
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1 that an empty apartment will generate as much

2 kilowatt usage as one that's being fully occupied and

3 lived in.

4           They claim there was no way for AEP to

5 know someone was occupying that location.  If someone

6 just looked at my drapes, my furniture, and the

7 living, breathing dog who always looked out the

8 window, they would know differently that somebody was

9 living there.

10           Let me have one minute to look something

11 over to make sure I'm done.  I think I'm done.  The

12 only thing I do want to take note is on that CD where

13 I state that I had asked for the list of questions to

14 verify my identity, I did this on discovery with AEP,

15 and they said to please refer to the enclosed CD of

16 the requested information, specifically Bidwell Set

17 1-1, Attachment 2.

18           I'd like to pull that up so everyone can

19 see what actually shows up there, because it is not a

20 list of questions.

21           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  And what format is

22 this in?

23           MS. BIDWELL:  It's on a computer.  It

24 will be on a computer.

25           MR. BENZA:  I mean, I don't know how
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1 she's going to get that into the record.  Is she just

2 pulling it up on her computer?  Are we supposed to

3 look at it?

4           MS. BIDWELL:  You can look at it and

5 testify if it's the questions that --

6           MR. BENZA:  You can just testify to

7 that --

8           MS. BIDWELL:  Okay.

9           MR. BENZA:  -- instead of pulling it up.

10           MS. BIDWELL:  So the document Bidwell

11 Set 1-1, Attachment 2 is not the list of questions

12 that I was asked to verify the so-called lease ID

13 requirement so that the second time I established

14 service for them would not be in fact disconnected.

15           So I don't know what the questions are,

16 but in fact, I do remember one was about my car, what

17 year did I purchase my car.

18           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Are you saying that

19 the questions that --

20           MS. BIDWELL:  I requested in discovery

21 was never given to me.  They have labeled them as

22 something, but when you pull up the document, it's

23 not there.

24           So their response is -- I guess it's

25 interrogatories -- is not a true and accurate copy.
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1 It was never provided even though I requested it.

2           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Okay.  The exhibits

3 that you have identified as A through O --

4           MS. BIDWELL:  Yes.

5           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  -- do you want those

6 admitted into the record?

7           MS. BIDWELL:  I've got a couple more.

8           On P -- on Exhibit P I actually show the

9 motion for discovery where I had requested those

10 phone calls on the front page.  This is the filing

11 for the motion for discovery with the PUCO.

12           I'd asked for all recorded calls and I'd

13 asked for the list of questions asked of Jane Bidwell

14 to verify her identity, which is No. 4 on the list.

15 So No. 1 and No. 4, I did not receive all the

16 recorded calls between Jane Bidwell and AEP.  And I

17 did not receive the list of questions.  So that's

18 Exhibit P.

19           And then on Exhibit Q is my initial

20 filing of the formal complaint with the PUCO, and I'd

21 like to include that in there because in my closing

22 there will be some information that came out of that

23 document as well.

24           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  I'll consider the

25 motion subject to cross-examination.
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1           MR. BENZA:  As far as -- the ones I take

2 issue with are G because I don't see how it's

3 relevant, or what it has to do -- we haven't even

4 talked about it.

5           Several of these we also introduce in

6 our direct.  That's fine if she wants to introduce

7 them.  L and M I'm objecting to because they are not

8 true and accurate copies, and we'll go on the record

9 saying I'm going to produce them.

10           MS. BIDWELL:  Okay.

11           MR. BENZA:  N is only part of our direct

12 testimony and doesn't include exhibits.

13           MS. BIDWELL:  It is direct testimony,

14 though, to Michele's statements.  And it is --

15           MR. BENZA:  The rest of it is fine.

16           MS. BIDWELL:  So on G, the reason it is

17 submitted is to show that my $82 check, refund check,

18 was not deposited until January 16th.

19           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  So if I understand

20 counsel correctly, your only objection would to be

21 Exhibit L for lack of --

22           MR. BENZA:  And M.

23           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  And M?

24           MR. BENZA:  Yeah.

25           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  And it's my
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1 understanding that for Exhibits L and M, counsel

2 intends to present these records in a more accurate

3 format?

4           MR. BENZA:  That's correct, your Honor.

5 Thank you.

6           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Ms. Bidwell, do you

7 have -- if I understand it correctly, you don't have

8 a problem with substitution --

9           MS. BIDWELL:  No, that should be fine.

10           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  -- for L and M.

11 Given that understanding, Exhibits L and M will not

12 be admitted into the record.

13           (EXHIBITS ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.)

14           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  And let's proceed,

15 unless you have anything further, Ms. Bidwell?

16           MS. BIDWELL:  I'm done.

17           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Mr. Benza.

18                     - - -

19                CROSS-EXAMINATION

20 By Mr. Benza:

21       Q.  Good morning, Ms. Bidwell.  I'm going to

22 start off with a basic overview of the facts.  So you

23 attempted to initiate electric service by AEP Ohio.

24 You attempted to initiate electric service with AEP

25 on Wednesday, October 8th, 2014, correct?
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1       A.  Yes.

2       Q.  And this was a new apartment, correct?

3       A.  Yes.

4       Q.  Were you the first to move in?

5       A.  I was.

6       Q.  And you wanted to start service on

7 Friday, October 10, 2014, correct?

8       A.  Yes.

9       Q.  And after that phone call in which you

10 initially tried to apply for service on October 8th,

11 2014, you still needed to take additional steps to

12 complete your application for service, correct?

13       A.  The only additional step was $82 for a

14 deposit, I was told.

15       Q.  So you needed to give a deposit?

16       A.  Yes.

17       Q.  And you gave that deposit, $82, after

18 that initial phone call?

19       A.  Yes.

20       Q.  And you're denying that you received

21 letters requesting a deposit on October 9, 2014?

22       A.  I deny that I got the letters on

23 October 9th and October 10th, two letters on the 9th

24 and one letter on the 10th.  That did not come until

25 discovery.
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1       Q.  And those letters related to the deposit

2 and the additional information requested?

3       A.  Correct.

4       Q.  So are you denying in October of 2014

5 that you also needed to complete a questionnaire for

6 positive identification for fraud alert on your

7 identity?

8       A.  I was never made aware of that.

9       Q.  And you're claiming you weren't aware of

10 that because you didn't receive a phone call?

11       A.  I never received -- I never personally

12 received a phone call.

13       Q.  What about mail?

14       A.  I never got anything in the mail.  None

15 of those three letters showed up.

16       Q.  Are you denying that AEP Ohio sent those

17 letters?

18       A.  You claim to have sent those letters.  I

19 have no firsthand knowledge you sent it.

20       Q.  Are you denying it?

21       A.  I didn't receive them.  I think that's

22 pretty explicit.  I did not receive them.  You claim

23 you sent them.  They never came to me.

24       Q.  Are you denying that we made the phone

25 call?
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1       A.  My phone records proved that there was

2 no phone call.  You, however, have a recording that

3 says that my voice box was full, which is really

4 weird because it's never full.

5       Q.  From October of 2014 to March of 2015

6 you received electric service from AEP Ohio, correct?

7       A.  Yes.

8       Q.  And you never paid for this electric

9 service during that time period, correct?

10       A.  I was never billed for that electric

11 service.

12       Q.  So you never paid for electric service

13 during that time period, correct?

14       A.  Because there was never a bill generated

15 to me.

16       Q.  Is it a yes or no?

17       A.  Well, I did pay for the service.  I did

18 pay for it when you sent the first bill to me in

19 April, so that's pretty self-explanatory.

20       Q.  But you did not pay for your electric

21 service from October 2014 to March 2015 until April

22 of 2015, correct?

23       A.  I did not receive a bill so I did not

24 pay a bill that was nonexistent.

25       Q.  Did you pay a bill in October of --
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1 excuse me.  Strike that.

2           Did you pay a bill for the usage of

3 October of 2014 to March of 2015, in April?

4       A.  Yes.

5       Q.  Okay.

6           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, I'd like to mark

7 as AEP Ohio Exhibit 1 a bill -- the bill referred to.

8 Your Honor, may I approach?

9           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  It will be so

10 marked.

11           (EXHIBIT MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION.)

12 By Mr. Benza:

13       Q.  Ms. Bidwell, the total amount due

14 according to this bill is $680.73, correct?

15       A.  Yes.

16       Q.  It is addressed to you, Jane A. Bidwell,

17 correct?

18       A.  Yes.

19       Q.  And the address is 1051 Las Vegas

20 Boulevard, Apartment 10515, Columbus, Ohio, correct?

21       A.  Yes.

22       Q.  And you received this bill, correct?

23       A.  I received this bill after March 23rd.

24       Q.  Right.  The bill date says March 23rd,

25 2015, correct?
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1       A.  Correct.

2       Q.  And the due date says April 8th, 2015?

3       A.  Correct.

4       Q.  You spoke earlier that you received a

5 returned deposit check from AEP Ohio in December

6 2014, correct?

7       A.  I said that the date on the check was

8 December 15th.

9       Q.  Did you receive it in December of 2014?

10       A.  I don't remember exactly what date it

11 was.  I did not deposit it until January because I

12 was still expecting some notification what this was

13 all about.

14       Q.  But you cashed the check in January of

15 2015?

16       A.  January 16th, I believe it is.

17       Q.  Okay.

18       A.  2015.

19       Q.  And it was for $82, the same amount for

20 your deposit paid to AEP Ohio in October of 2014,

21 correct?

22       A.  Yes.

23       Q.  And you did not call AEP Ohio despite

24 receiving a returned deposit check after only a month

25 or two months of paying that, correct?
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1       A.  It wasn't two months.  It was longer

2 than two months.  Greater than 60 days.

3       Q.  So --

4       A.  I did not call --

5       Q.  So one to three months, let's say?

6       A.  -- AEP.  I was still waiting on a

7 response from AEP for a bill.  I've never lived here

8 in Columbus before.  I don't know when AEP does their

9 billing cycles.  That was never explained to me in

10 any phone call.

11       Q.  But you've used electricity before?

12       A.  Yeah, Dayton Power & Light.  They didn't

13 act like this.

14       Q.  For the sake of the Court Reporter, I

15 think we should just speak one at a time.  Is that

16 okay?

17       A.  Okay.

18       Q.  Thank you.  So are you denying that it's

19 common practice to send a bill monthly in electric

20 utilities?

21       A.  I don't know what AEP does.  I had no

22 previous knowledge.

23       Q.  So despite not receiving a bill for six

24 months, October of 2014 to March of 2015, you did not

25 call AEP Ohio?
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1       A.  No.

2       Q.  So in your direct testimony you were

3 talking about how you came back from Dayton -- you

4 were in Dayton from March of -- Wednesday, March 18,

5 to Friday, March 20th, correct?

6       A.  Yes.

7       Q.  Okay.  So how were you taking your

8 medicine during that time period?

9       A.  I have other medicine at home that came

10 about -- I kept a very minute amount for those few

11 days that I was there so I wouldn't have to transport

12 the medicine in ice back and forth, but it was a

13 vial.

14       Q.  So when you transfer medicine from

15 Dayton to Columbus you put it in an icebox?

16       A.  I didn't transfer it, I kept the one

17 vial in Dayton.

18       Q.  Is that not transferring medicine?

19       A.  No.  It stayed in Dayton.

20       Q.  So you never transferred medicine?

21       A.  No, I took my -- my pharmacy from UC

22 would mail the medicine to me.  When I would pick

23 this medicine up from Ohio Health's Riverside

24 pharmacy I would carry it straight home and put it in

25 the refrigerator.  It does not sit out.  You're
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1 talking a ten-minute drive.

2       Q.  Okay.  So when you came back on

3 March 20th, 2015, you came back to your apartment

4 around 1:45 p.m. to see that service had been

5 disconnected, correct?

6       A.  It was about 1:30.

7       Q.  But you don't know how long it had been

8 disconnected, correct?

9       A.  Not at that point.

10       Q.  How could you ever tell?

11       A.  Because she said in her recorded

12 testimony that with the PUCO it was disconnected

13 before noon.

14       Q.  So you agree that it was disconnected

15 that day, March 20th, 2015?

16       A.  According to her testimony it was.

17       Q.  And then you called AEP at 10:45 that

18 night, correct?

19       A.  1:45 -- 1:45 p.m., 10:23 p.m., after my

20 work was over, and 10:43 p.m.

21       Q.  And one of those calls you're driving,

22 correct?

23       A.  Yes.

24       Q.  Where are you driving?

25       A.  Where am I driving?
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1       Q.  Yeah, where are you going to?

2       A.  From work to my apartment.

3       Q.  So you're not going to Dayton?

4       A.  No, I wasn't.

5       Q.  Where did you stay from March 20th, 2015

6 through March 23rd, 2015?

7       A.  My apartment.  I had to work Saturday

8 and Sunday.

9       Q.  On Friday, March 20th, 2015, you were

10 informed that since you were a new customer you would

11 not be connected for one to three business day; is

12 that correct?

13       A.  Yes.

14       Q.  And you became a new customer on March

15 23rd, 2015, correct?

16       A.  For the second time.

17       Q.  So you're denying AEP Ohio's assertion

18 that you were never a customer in October of 2014?

19       A.  Yes, I do.

20       Q.  So from the time you were disconnected

21 to the time you were connected in March of 2015, one

22 business day occurred, correct?

23       A.  Say that again.

24       Q.  In other words, you were connected after

25 one business day, after your request for service in
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1 2015, correct?

2       A.  After I got a letter to Mr. Akins.

3       Q.  And you believe that that letter is what

4 spawned it?

5       A.  Considering the fact that a service

6 representative, who I believe her name is Margie

7 Feister, told me herself she was specifically tasked

8 by Mr. Akins to handle this, yes, I do.

9       Q.  And before service was established in

10 March 2510, you had to pay a deposit, correct?

11       A.  Yes, for a second time.

12       Q.  And you had to answer a questionnaire

13 before the application was complete in March of 2015?

14       A.  I answered a questionnaire after Margie

15 Feister was involved and told me that someone would

16 be calling from another department and I was required

17 to answer those questions.

18       Q.  And that someone called you?

19       A.  Yes, she did.  And I called her back and

20 answered those limited questions, for which AEP has

21 never supplied to me.

22       Q.  And you're aware that those questions

23 are from a third party vender?

24       A.  No, I was not.  I thought it was part of

25 AEP.  Nobody has ever mentioned in any recordings
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1 that the lease ID verification was from a third party

2 vender.

3       Q.  How is that of consequence?

4       A.  I don't know.  Why were you asking the

5 question?

6       Q.  So you said that that questionnaire

7 asked you four questions, correct?

8       A.  I think there might have been five.  But

9 again, you never provided them even though I

10 requested in discovery, so I can't verify that for

11 sure.

12       Q.  And those questions you were asked were

13 like where you resided in 1994, correct?

14       A.  I think there was something regarding

15 that.

16       Q.  And the purpose of this was to

17 positively identify you, correct?

18       A.  I think that's a claim AEP makes, but I

19 truly don't feel like it really identified who I was

20 or that it verified who was leasing that apartment.

21 I think my lease would have been a better explanation

22 of who was living in that apartment.

23       Q.  Are you an expert on identity theft?

24       A.  No.  Are you?

25       Q.  So you're denying that those questions
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1 were asked to make sure that you were actually

2 Ms. Jane Bidwell?

3       A.  I said they asked me those questions.

4 Other people felt that it was a verification of who I

5 was.  I personally don't feel like it was a vast

6 knowledge into who I was or really verifying it.

7 That's why I wanted the questions on discovery, but

8 you didn't provide them.

9       Q.  All bills since you've been reconnected

10 in March of 2015 have been sent to 1051 Las Vegas

11 Boulevard, Apartment 10515 Columbus, Ohio, correct?

12       A.  I believe -- Yes, I think that's the

13 address on them.

14       Q.  Okay.

15           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, at this time I'd

16 like to mark as AEP Ohio Exhibit 2 the collection of

17 bills that we have today regarding Ms. Bidwell's

18 account.

19           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  They will be so

20 marked.

21           (EXHIBIT MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION.)

22           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, may I approach?

23           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Yes.

24           MR. BENZA:  This is going to take a few

25 minutes.  I have to write AEP Ohio Exhibit on top of
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1 all of them.

2 By Mr. Benza:

3       Q.  You already have your copy, Ms. Bidwell,

4 it's already over there.  I can grab it for you if

5 you want me to.

6       A.  No, I'm good with it.

7       Q.  I'm going to need you to look at it

8 because I'm going to ask you a few questions about

9 it.

10       A.  Okay.

11       Q.  Can you peruse through these bills,

12 Ms. Bidwell, and just confirm that they are what I

13 say they are?

14       A.  See what date I have.  Okay.

15       Q.  You received these bills?

16       A.  Yes, I did.

17       Q.  And you received all the communications

18 from AEP Ohio at that address?

19       A.  Yes.  Everything was to come to that

20 address.

21       Q.  Okay.  Let's talk about the letter you

22 sent to Mr. Akins.

23       A.  Okay.

24       Q.  On April 22nd, 2015 you addressed a

25 letter to Nick Akins, chief executive officer of
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1 American Electric Power, correct?

2       A.  Yes.

3       Q.  And you put that on the docket and you

4 introduced it today, correct?

5       A.  Yes.

6       Q.  Okay.

7           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, I'd like to mark

8 as AEP Ohio Exhibit 3 a letter from Ms. Bidwell

9 addressed to Mr. Akins, dated April 22nd, 2015.

10           THE WITNESS:  April 22nd?

11 By Mr. Benza:

12       Q.  Yes, Ms. Bidwell.

13       A.  And how did you say that I addressed

14 him?

15       Q.  Mr. Akins.

16       A.  And his title?

17           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Let's go off the

18 record for a moment.

19           (Discussion off the record.)

20           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Go back on the

21 record.  Perhaps you can explain that.

22           MR. BENZA:  Instead of marking it AEP

23 Ohio Exhibit 3, we're going to strike that and

24 instead refer to Ms. Bidwell's Exhibit K.

25           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Okay.
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1           MR. BENZA:  Thank you, your Honor.

2 By Mr. Benza:

3       Q.  In this letter you're claiming that you

4 want reimbursement for medicine you allegedly lost,

5 correct?

6       A.  I did lose it, yes.

7       Q.  You're claiming reimbursement, though?

8       A.  Yes.

9       Q.  And from this letter you're claiming

10 there were $3,000 in damages for lost medicine,

11 correct?

12       A.  Yes.

13       Q.  And you also state in your letter that

14 your insurance does not cover the cost of that

15 medicine?

16       A.  I gave you the bills -- I gave you

17 copies of the bills where it shows insurance doesn't

18 pay it.

19       Q.  Ms. Bidwell, I'm asking you if in this

20 list it says your insurance does not pay for your

21 medicine?

22       A.  It did not pay for this medicine for

23 reimbursement.  So -- go ahead.

24       Q.  So you're agreeing that your insurance

25 does not cover the cost of this medicine, correct?
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1 That's what your letter represents?

2       A.  For loss of medicine, yes.

3       Q.  Ms. Bidwell, one more time, please

4 directly answer the question.  Did your insurance

5 cover the cost of this medicine?

6       A.  Originally it covered it.  It was lost.

7 Just because I need more medicine, if I'm not within

8 a specific time frame that the insurance allows for

9 replacement, they will not pay it.

10           So if I contact my insurance company and

11 it's been 30 days since they gave me a 90-day supply,

12 they won't just give it to me because I want it.  You

13 understand that?

14           So medicine gets replaced.  It doesn't

15 mean that insurance always pays for it.  I gave you

16 bills and I showed you receipts that the replacement

17 medication was not paid for.

18       Q.  You state in the letter that you did not

19 move into the apartment until October 15, correct?

20       A.  That was a mistake on my part.

21       Q.  It's October 10th, correct?

22       A.  That is correct.

23       Q.  And it's also a mistake when you say in

24 the letter, October 15th was the date on which you

25 requested to start service in your name?  That's a
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1 mistake, too?

2       A.  Correct.

3       Q.  It was October 10th?

4       A.  Yes.

5       Q.  Finally in that letter you state, and I

6 quote, "The bottom line is AEP cannot prove a letter

7 was generated and mailed out.  You have no proof a

8 letter was received by me.  This is not a favorable

9 picture for your company," correct?

10       A.  I don't know -- what page is that on?

11       Q.  Your version is not paginated, but if it

12 was, it would be Page 3, second-to-last paragraph,

13 last line -- or last two lines, excuse me.

14       A.  I wrote that, yes.

15       Q.  Let's talk about the lease of your

16 apartment complex.

17       A.  Okay.

18       Q.  The apartment complex you lived at

19 during the time period in question is called The

20 Avenue, correct?

21       A.  The Avenue at Polaris.

22       Q.  And you signed a lease?

23       A.  Yes, I did.

24       Q.  And you presented that lease to AEP Ohio

25 during discovery?
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1       A.  Yes, I did.

2           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, I'd like to mark

3 as AEP Ohio Exhibit 3 the lease in question.

4           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Sorry?

5           MR. BENZA:  Mark as AEP Ohio Exhibit 3

6 the lease in question.

7           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Okay.  It shall be

8 so marked.

9           (EXHIBIT MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION.)

10           MS. BIDWELL:  Tell me you're not

11 expecting me to read this?

12           MR. BENZA:  And again, this will be

13 marked as AEP Ohio Exhibit 3.

14 By Mr. Benza:

15       Q.  I'm presuming you read this lease

16 before, correct?

17       A.  I did.

18       Q.  And I know the writing is small, but it

19 says the tenant number is 10515, correct?

20       A.  Yes.  That's what it says at the top.

21       Q.  And that's your signature at the bottom

22 by the tenant signature?

23       A.  Yes.

24       Q.  Okay.  If you go to the next page,

25 Section 11, the writing is very, very small, so what



Proceedings

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481

78

1 I've done is I've zoomed in on it.

2           MR. BENZA:  And I'd like to mark that as

3 an Exhibit, the zoomed in version of Section 11.

4           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Okay.  It will be

5 marked as AEP Exhibit?

6           MR. BENZA:  It's going to be AEP

7 Exhibit 4.

8           (EXHIBIT MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION.)

9 By Mr. Benza

10       Q.  Now, it's still a little fuzzy, but I

11 think we can work with it.  It says as the heading,

12 conspicuously, "Utilities and Electric and Gas

13 Service," correct?

14       A.  Yes.

15       Q.  And under A it says, "All utilities

16 shall be furnished by the tenant and all bills

17 therefore shall be paid by the tenant"?

18       A.  Yes.

19       Q.  So you paid for your utilities then?

20       A.  No.  Water and trash was paid by the

21 company, by the apartment complex.

22       Q.  So it was built into your rent?

23       A.  Yes, it is.  And so was my -- built into

24 the rent was also my cable and internet service.  The

25 only bill I was responsible for was the electric, and
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1 I attempted to establish that because I did call the

2 appropriate department with AEP to establish it, and

3 I paid a deposit of $82.  I never --

4       Q.  So you're fully, unequivocally aware

5 that you had to pay the utility costs for electric?

6       A.  That I had to pay the electric bill,

7 yes.  And I took steps to make sure that happened.

8       Q.  Okay.  Let's talk about the incident

9 where you were robbed.

10       A.  Okay.

11       Q.  July of 2014 your primary residence at

12 3813 Far Hills Avenue, Dayton, Ohio was robbed,

13 correct?

14       A.  Yes.

15       Q.  That's the same residence you direct all

16 mail to now in this case, correct?

17       A.  Yes.

18       Q.  It's listed on the docket, correct?

19       A.  Yes.

20       Q.  Okay.  Back to the robbery.  As a result

21 of the robbery it was noted that banking information,

22 passport, certified birth certificate were taken,

23 they were all taken, correct?

24       A.  What he did was, I had a freestanding

25 silver chest in my formal dining room and he took the
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1 drawers out of my silver chest and dumped it, and

2 included in that was my Wright State diploma, my

3 Sinclair diploma, I had my passport he stole.  I had

4 checks that was in that freestanding item as well.

5 So he took everything.  I could not assume that he

6 didn't do something with that banking information.

7       Q.  So he had your birthday, assuming it's a

8 he?

9       A.  It was a he.  It took me ten weeks, but

10 I found him and sent him to prison.  Yes.

11       Q.  He had your birthday?

12       A.  Yeah, but I don't know what he did with

13 it.

14       Q.  He had your full name?

15       A.  He did.

16       Q.  He had your address?

17       A.  He did.

18       Q.  He had your Social Security number?

19       A.  He didn't have my Social Security card,

20 but I don't know if it's written -- I don't know if

21 my Social Security number is on my passport or not.

22       Q.  Had your phone number?

23       A.  No.

24       Q.  But you don't know that he didn't?

25       A.  I had nothing in that drawer that had my
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1 phone number in it.

2       Q.  Are you claiming that it's impossible to

3 find a phone number without stealing --

4       A.  The only phone number I had was a

5 cellphone.  I think that's a lot harder to find.  And

6 the cellphone account was not in my name, I share an

7 account with a friend, so it's technically in her

8 name.

9       Q.  So in response to this robbery you spoke

10 with PNC Bank, correct?

11       A.  I did.

12       Q.  You also spoke with three major credit

13 agencies, Experian --

14       A.  I did not speak with them, I wrote them

15 letters.

16       Q.  But you reached out and contacted the

17 credit agencies Experian, Equifax and TransUnion,

18 correct?

19       A.  Correct.

20       Q.  And as a result of a fraud alert, it was

21 placed on your identity, correct?

22       A.  It was.  Well, that's what I requested.

23 I requested that there be an alert placed on my

24 accounts.

25       Q.  Let's talk about the day of
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1 disconnection.  You're claiming that you came back

2 from Dayton to Columbus on Friday, March 20th, 2015,

3 correct?

4       A.  Yes.

5       Q.  And you worked that day, correct?

6       A.  Yes.

7       Q.  You worked from when to what time?

8       A.  Like 3:00 to 11:00.

9       Q.  Did you work that weekend?

10       A.  I did.

11       Q.  Can you give me the hours?

12       A.  Because it was so late, midnight -- I

13 probably went in about 7:00 a.m.  Usually I went to

14 work at 5:00 a.m., but I usually was the first

15 instructor teaching at 6:00 a.m., but on that weekend

16 because I worked until 11:00 that night it was well

17 after midnight before I got home, got things settled,

18 got the dog walked, I think I went in about 7:00,

19 stayed until about 5:00 on both -- well, Sunday I

20 might have went in a little earlier.

21           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, I'd like to mark

22 as AEP Ohio Exhibit 4 -- 5, a schedule provided in

23 discovery from Ms. Bidwell to AEP Ohio.

24           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  It shall be so

25 marked.
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1           (EXHIBIT MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION.)

2           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, may I approach?

3           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Yes.

4 By Mr. Benza:

5       Q.  Ms. Bidwell, this is the schedule you

6 provided to AEP Ohio in discovery, correct?

7       A.  Yes.

8       Q.  And your name only appears on here

9 twice, correct?

10       A.  I can't write on this, can I?

11       Q.  Let me help you out.  On the fifth one

12 down it says "Jane Bidwell"?

13       A.  I see it.

14       Q.  And the date on that is March 20th,

15 2015, correct?

16       A.  Yes -- well -- first one is -- Oh.  The

17 second one.

18       Q.  I just want to talk about the first one

19 right now.  And the start time says 6:00 p.m.?

20       A.  Uh-huh.

21       Q.  The end time says 10:00 p.m.?

22       A.  Uh-huh.

23       Q.  And the hours say "4"?

24       A.  Yes.  To all of them, yes.

25       Q.  The next time your name appears on this
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1 schedule, it's the seventh from the bottom, I

2 believe, is March 24th of 2015, correct?

3       A.  I believe it does say the 24th.

4       Q.  And that says 7:00 a.m. until 11:00

5 a.m., correct?

6       A.  Yes.

7       Q.  That's a total of four hours?

8       A.  Yes.

9       Q.  And nowhere else on this work schedule

10 that you provided representing that this is your work

11 schedule for that weekend does it say that you worked

12 on the weekend?

13       A.  This is my teaching schedule.  It does

14 not mean those are not my days worked.  This is my

15 teaching schedule.  So my class for 6:00 p.m. to

16 10:00 p.m. isn't really 10:00 p.m. because I'm

17 actually teaching until 11:00, because after they get

18 done with their teaching I have to grade competencies

19 and have to enter information in a computer.

20           I'm required to work eight hours a day

21 when I was working there.  So these only demonstrate

22 when my teaching class is.  It's not every -- if I'm

23 not teaching, I'm not on the schedule.

24           But I was there, and I was working on

25 Saturday and Sunday on a project for Epic.  So I have
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1 an Epic certification and I'm going for a

2 proficiency --

3       Q.  But when I asked you to provide this, I

4 asked you for your work schedule.

5       A.  The work schedule that they provided me

6 from Ohio Health listed that I worked 8:00 to 5:00

7 Monday through Friday when that was really not the

8 case.  This gives the best representation that I was

9 actually there beyond hours.

10           What it really did come down to was a

11 manager who was lazy and put in 8:00 to 5:00 Monday

12 through Friday even though we were open seven days a

13 week and teaching and open from 5:00 in the morning

14 until midnight every day.

15           And I explained that to you when I

16 dropped off the documentation.  I was a salaried

17 employee.  There was no time clock.  There was

18 nowhere for me to clock in and out.  But I was

19 expected to be there five days a week at any given

20 schedule that they threw at me.

21       Q.  You had access to your Dayton home from

22 March 20th of 2015 -- or excuse me, strike that.

23           You had access to your home from

24 March -- in Dayton, Ohio, from March 20th, 2015 to

25 March 23rd, 2015, correct?
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1       A.  I always have access to my home.  That

2 does not mean I have availability to go there.  It

3 was the end of the week.  I was required to work five

4 days that week, and that meant I had to be there on

5 Saturday and Sunday in order to do that.

6       Q.  It's about an hour-and-a-half drive from

7 your -- Columbus to your house in Dayton?

8       A.  It's about 91 miles, I believe.

9       Q.  About an hour-and-a-half?

10       A.  Roughly.  Depending on traffic.

11       Q.  Did you store your medicine at this

12 house in Dayton during the period in question,

13 March --

14       A.  I only kept one type of medicine of each

15 type in that refrigerator, because 90 percent of the

16 time or greater I was in my apartment in Columbus,

17 Ohio.

18       Q.  Ms. Bidwell, please direct your answer

19 to my question.  Did you store the medicine in

20 question at your house in Dayton during the time

21 period at issue?

22       A.  Yes, one vial of each type that I used.

23 Was that an answer to your question?

24       Q.  The medicine at issue?

25       A.  This medicine was kept in Columbus.
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1 This is what got ruined.  But the two types that I

2 have, I kept one vial of each in my home in Dayton;

3 not from this group.

4       Q.  So you're claiming that you did not take

5 your life saving medicine from Columbus, Ohio to

6 Dayton, Ohio, which is an hour-and-a-half drive,

7 correct?

8       A.  Okay.  I don't really know how to

9 explain this any further to you.  I kept two vials at

10 my Dayton home and the rest of it was with me in

11 Columbus.  What got ruined was in the Columbus home.

12           Why transport it an hour-and-a-half each

13 direction when I don't have to?  I kept a vial of

14 each of my two insulins at my house in Dayton.

15       Q.  So you didn't have to transfer the

16 medicine between March 20th of 2015 because you

17 didn't feel like it was at risk?

18       A.  Excuse me.  I was working.  I was here.

19 I was required to be here, and I have an animal to

20 care for.  So I've spent my time here on Saturday and

21 Sunday on the 21st and the 22nd of March because my

22 work commitment made me be here.  So no, I didn't

23 drive 90 miles each way because of what my work

24 commitment was.

25       Q.  Despite it being life saving medication?
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1       A.  I didn't have any choice.  It's not just

2 eight hours a day, it can be longer.  It can also be

3 I don't drive at night typically.  I don't like

4 driving at night, there's too much risk of deer in

5 the road.

6           So in order for me to be at work at 7:00

7 in the morning I would have had to leave at 5:00 a.m.

8 to get there.  And in order to stay until 5:00 I

9 would have been back at home driving until roughly

10 7:00 p.m. at night.  A lot of miles.  I have a work

11 commitment here.

12       Q.  So you're claiming that your attempts at

13 mitigating damages to the medicine in question were

14 to keep the refrigerator door closed, correct?

15       A.  I kept it closed for as long as I could.

16 But once I didn't get power restored on Saturday it

17 was ruined.  Now, I gave you --

18       Q.  Why do you think it was ruined?

19       A.  Why would it get ruined?  I gave you the

20 information regarding this medication and what is

21 required.  It was required to be refrigerated at a

22 specific temperature.

23           This amount of insulin is not used in a

24 30-day window.  This amount of insulin goes for weeks

25 and months.
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1       Q.  Why did you have so much at your

2 apartment in Columbus if you had a place in Dayton?

3       A.  Because I wasn't really staying in

4 Dayton but about five days a month.  Where I was

5 spending the rest of the time was at the apartment in

6 Columbus because my work commitment was here.  I paid

7 rent for here for that reason.

8           If this was such an easy commute I would

9 have never spent the 1,200 bucks a month I spent to

10 live in an apartment in Columbus.  It's not an easy

11 commute.

12       Q.  Maybe not every day of the month, but

13 for -- sounds like you go there frequently.  Five

14 days a month, correct?

15       A.  Two days at a time.  So you're talking

16 twice, maybe three times a month I go home.

17       Q.  So you --

18       A.  This isn't a frequent occasion.

19       Q.  Your apartment complex offered you a

20 place to store your medicine?

21       A.  Tory offered.  In the phone call after I

22 was at work on Saturday she said that she could put

23 it into the clubhouse refrigerator.  And I explained

24 to her that, A, the medicine was already ruined, and

25 I explained to her there was a liability with having
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1 it in an unsecured area.

2           Should somebody steel it, who is going

3 to be responsible?  Should somebody take it and

4 inject it, where was the liability?

5       Q.  Earlier you played a recording of the

6 phone call between the property manager, Tory Murphy,

7 and an AEP Ohio customer representative, correct?

8       A.  Yes.

9       Q.  And we provided a transcription to the

10 Court Reporter, to you, and to His Honor, correct?

11       A.  Yes.

12           MR. BENZA:  Okay.  Your Honor, at this

13 time I'd like to mark that as AEP Ohio Exhibit 6.  I

14 don't believe it was introduced into the record

15 previously.  It's the transcribed call between the

16 property manager at The Avenue and AEP Ohio.

17           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Ms. Bidwell, did you

18 have that marked in a certain way?

19           MS. BIDWELL:  The phone call with Tory?

20 The phone call with Tory was labeled as what they

21 called it on the CD.  It would have been called

22 "Attachment Landlord" on disk No. 2.

23           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Let's go off the

24 record for a moment.

25           (Discussion off the record.)
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1           (EXHIBIT MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION.)

2           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Let's go back on the

3 record.  AEP has just marked Exhibit 6, which is a

4 transcription.  You may proceed.

5 By Mr. Benza:

6       Q.  On the cover page it says, "Telephone

7 conversation between Christina, AEP customer service

8 representative, and Tory Murphy, property manager of

9 The Avenue at Polaris Apartment," correct?

10       A.  Yes.

11       Q.  And you agree with that statement?

12       A.  Yes.

13       Q.  Okay.  Please turn to Page 11.  On

14 Lines 9 through 13 it says that the apartment complex

15 never billed you for electric power; is that true?

16       A.  Yes.

17       Q.  Please turn to Page 13.  On Lines 15

18 to 17, it states that the form sent to you was for

19 you to complete; is that true?  And that form they

20 are talking about is the additional information

21 needed from AEP Ohio.

22       A.  Number one, I don't know that that's the

23 form she's referring to.  I actually took her

24 conversation that there was a series of paperwork

25 that needed to be completed.
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1           So -- and I never got the letter that

2 was that October 10th letter stating there was

3 additional information needed, so I had no knowledge.

4       Q.  But this conversation wasn't between you

5 and AEP Ohio.

6       A.  You're right, it's not.  So what do I

7 know what she's referring to?  I wasn't a party to

8 this conversation.

9       Q.  By context.

10       A.  She's claiming she sent -- that

11 something was sent out to me and it was for me to

12 fill out and not her, basically.  But I have no

13 knowledge of that, and I received no form stating I

14 needed to fill it out.

15       Q.  Can you please turn to Page 15, Lines 20

16 to 24?  The property manager states that you told her

17 you were taking your medication to your home in

18 Dayton.  Is that true?

19       A.  No, that's not true.  And Tory got it

20 wrong.

21       Q.  Why did she say it?

22       A.  I told Tory that I was working in

23 Columbus.  Tory has no knowledge as to what my work

24 schedule is.  I am not friends with Tory.  I had no

25 phone number for Tory other than the leasing



Proceedings

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481

93

1 apartment number.  I never did anything with her

2 outside of business conducted for The Avenue at

3 Polaris.

4           She knows that I lived -- I had a home

5 in Dayton because she's from Dayton.  So she knows

6 there was a home in Dayton, she knows what part of

7 Dayton my home was in.  She made assumptions that I

8 never said to her.

9       Q.  Are you okay?

10       A.  Maybe.

11       Q.  Are you okay?

12       A.  I got a tickle.

13       Q.  Take your time.

14       A.  Okay.  Let's try it again.

15       Q.  Do you need more time?

16       A.  Let's try it.

17       Q.  So you're saying that you may have said

18 something to her?

19       A.  No, that's not what I said.

20       Q.  Didn't you say "or maybe"?

21       A.  No.  I never told Tory -- I never told

22 Tory I was going to Dayton.  I never told her that I

23 was -- that I was going back to the apartment, I

24 never told her anything like that.

25           I called her from work on my cellphone
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1 because there wasn't any phones at work to do that

2 with.  I told her about the multiple phone calls

3 telling me that my apartment manager needed to fill

4 out paperwork for a lease ID verification.

5           (Recess taken.)

6           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Back on the record.

7 By Mr. Benza:

8       Q.  One last time, I just want a yes or no.

9 Do you deny that you told your property manager that

10 you told her you were taking your medication to your

11 home in Dayton?

12       A.  Yes, I deny that.

13       Q.  Okay.  Let's turn to Page 16, please,

14 Lines 8 to 10.  The property manager says that she

15 offered for you to put your medication in the

16 clubhouse; is that true?

17       A.  Yes.  I had forgotten that, but yes, she

18 did.

19       Q.  On Page 16, Lines 14 to 16, the property

20 manager states that she offered you a vacant or a

21 model room to store your medication; is that true?

22       A.  She did mention that.  However, because

23 of the hours that the property management office is

24 open, and it was a weekend, and I don't know where

25 Tory lived in the apartment, she kept that a well
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1 hidden secret, I had no way of getting in touch with

2 her after I got off work.

3       Q.  She gave her cellphone number to AEP

4 Ohio.

5       A.  I'm sorry?

6       Q.  She gave her cellphone number to AEP

7 Ohio.

8       A.  Okay.

9       Q.  Why wouldn't she give it to you?

10       A.  She didn't give that out to anybody on

11 the premises.  She was extremely protective of her

12 privacy when she wasn't at work.  She didn't want to

13 be called, she made that well known.

14       Q.  And did you state your objections to the

15 vacant or model home offer?

16       A.  What I told her was I had to work and I

17 wouldn't be in until later, and it was after their

18 offices closed.  There was no way to access it.  And

19 the medicine was already ruined.  That's what you're

20 ignoring.

21           Electricity turned off on Friday prior

22 to noon.  This is now going to be 5:00 p.m. on

23 Saturday.  You can't just make it better by sticking

24 it back into a refrigerator.  It doesn't work that

25 way.
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1       Q.  You didn't try to call your leasing

2 office until the next day at 5:00 p.m.?

3       A.  Okay.  I dealt multiple phone calls with

4 AEP until almost 11:00 p.m. on Friday night.  It was

5 almost 11:00 p.m. Friday night.  After I got home

6 from work, electricity is not back on.  Who am I

7 going to call?

8       Q.  But if the fridge was shut the entire

9 time, what would make you think that the medication

10 was ruined?

11       A.  Would you eat any medicine coming out of

12 a refrigerator that had been without electricity for,

13 say, 30 hours?  I wouldn't.  I'm not going to inject

14 bad medicines, that is just the bottom line.  If you

15 wouldn't do it to your family member or your kid, I'm

16 not going to do it to me.

17       Q.  So you don't know the medication was

18 ruined, you just made that assumption?

19       A.  It had been without electricity for

20 greater than 30 hours.  It was ruined.

21       Q.  But I thought you said you weren't sure

22 when it was disconnected.

23       A.  Well, I was there at 1:30 and we're

24 talking now it's Friday after 5:30, 6:00 at night.

25 What makes you think that that refrigerator -- what
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1 evidence do you have that proves that refrigerator

2 would have kept a constant temperature?

3           Because I sent you -- you requested on

4 discovery the details regarding the medicine, and it

5 clearly identifies what temperature it has to be kept

6 at.

7       Q.  So you're claiming that you didn't try

8 to contact your apartment complex until 5:00 p.m. the

9 next day in order to try to save your life saving

10 medication, correct?

11       A.  No, that's not true.  I contacted her

12 when she came in in the morning and told her that I

13 was --

14       Q.  The morning of what date?

15       A.  The course of one day.  The next day,

16 Saturday the 21st.

17       Q.  So you tried --

18       A.  She contacted your department and you

19 have a transcript of that call.  What time was that

20 call made?  You should have a record of that.

21           So I didn't try to reach out to Tory

22 until 5:00 at night on Saturday as you'd like to

23 claim.  In fact, you should have a record on when

24 this call came into your department, which tells you

25 I spoke with Tory that morning prior to her calling
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1 you.

2       Q.  So did you talk to her Friday night or

3 Saturday morning?

4       A.  Saturday morning.  Where was I working?

5       Q.  So with the fridge door closed, exactly

6 when would the medication go bad?

7       A.  You know what?  I don't know the exact

8 moment and neither do you, so I don't know why you're

9 asking it of me.  But I do know that 30 hours

10 unrefrigerated, that refrigerator will not stay at a

11 consistent temperature to preserve my medication.  So

12 unless you have scientific proof, please show it to

13 me, I'd like to see it.

14           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, this next part

15 that I'm going to talk about deals with Ms. Bidwell's

16 medicine specifically.  On the docket in here today

17 she has publically stated some of the medicines that

18 she takes and publicly spoken about or alluded to

19 some of her health issues; however, some of what I'm

20 good to talk about may deal with parts of her medical

21 record that I'm not a hundred percent sure is not

22 already publically available.

23           Therefore, I want to offer Ms. Bidwell

24 the opportunity to go into confidential session.  If

25 she wants to waive that and is okay with everything
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1 being on the record then I'm -- I will proceed.

2           MS. BIDWELL:  I guess it depends what

3 we're going to talk about.

4           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Let's go off the

5 record.

6           (Discussion off the record.)

7           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Let's proceed.

8 Let's go back on the record.

9 By Mr. Benza:

10       Q.  After the disconnection of service on

11 March 20th, 2015, you did not counsel a doctor about

12 the storage of your medicine, correct?

13       A.  Correct.

14       Q.  You did not counsel a pharmacist about

15 the storage of your medicine either, correct?

16       A.  No.

17       Q.  You list Humalog/NovoLog and Lantus as

18 the types of medicine that were allegedly ruined as a

19 result of the disconnection of service, correct?

20       A.  Yes.

21       Q.  And you provided pictures today?

22       A.  Yes.

23       Q.  And you also provided physical evidence

24 today showing all three of those medications?

25       A.  Yes.
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1       Q.  Now, I want you to look at one of the

2 pictures that you have.

3           MR. BENZA:  I have a large printout of

4 it.  I can distribute that or she can go through the

5 pictures that she has.

6           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Are these the

7 pictures that are attached --

8           MR. BENZA:  It's going to be one of the

9 pictures that she attached.  Should I just make it an

10 exhibit?  Are you okay with that?

11           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Yes, that's fine.

12           MR. BENZA:  I'd like to mark as AEP Ohio

13 Exhibit 7 pictures of Humalog -- or two pictures of

14 Humalog that Ms. Bidwell provided in discovery and

15 today.

16           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Exhibit will be so

17 marked.

18           (EXHIBIT MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION.)

19 By Mr. Benza:

20       Q.  It's dated January 8th, 2015, correct?

21       A.  In the bottom picture, yes.

22       Q.  Okay.  You also sent AEP Ohio receipts

23 of medicine allegedly ruined, correct?

24       A.  Yes.

25       Q.  And one of those receipts is for the
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1 medication Lantus, correct?

2       A.  No, that is -- wait a minute.  Let me --

3 yes.

4       Q.  In discovery I'm talking about.

5       A.  Is it part of the Nick Akins' letter?

6       Q.  The receipt itself is not.  This is

7 something that -- you delivered to us during

8 discovery.

9       A.  Should be the same receipt.

10       Q.  In Exhibit K it's there.

11       A.  Okay.  Which one are you looking for?

12       Q.  I'm talking about the Lantus receipt.

13       A.  Okay.  This is the receipt of

14 replacement cost for the replacement medication,

15 because it was for 4-3-15, after the disconnect.

16       Q.  Okay.  And it has your name on there,

17 Jane A. Bidwell, correct?

18       A.  It does.

19       Q.  It has 3813 Far Hills Avenue?

20       A.  Yeah.

21       Q.  That's where you pick up all your

22 medication?

23       A.  Where I pick up all my medication?

24       Q.  In Kettering or Dayton.

25       A.  No, I pick up this medication at
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1 Riverside Hospital, RMB pharmacy.

2       Q.  How much money did you pay for it?

3       A.  Price it says $1,016.12 insurance --

4 where it says to the right, insurance, Optima Health

5 paid zero.

6       Q.  So you're claiming that in big font, the

7 number in zero, is not what you paid for?

8       A.  Whenever I picked up pharmacy

9 medications that they actually provide for me, it

10 actually puts in there what the insurance paid.

11       Q.  And you're claiming to have paid the RX

12 price below the bar code?

13       A.  Yes.

14       Q.  That's $1,016.12?

15       A.  Yes, for Lantus.

16       Q.  How did you pay for that?

17       A.  Cash.

18       Q.  Did you get a receipt?

19       A.  This is my receipt.

20       Q.  Where does it say that you paid cash?

21       A.  It doesn't say it.  But I'm not in

22 control of what they print on their receipts.  This

23 is the receipt.

24       Q.  Where does it say on here that you paid

25 for it?
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1       A.  It doesn't say, but this is their

2 receipt.

3       Q.  Okay.  So the how to use part, it's in

4 the middle of the page, it says, "Read the patient

5 information leaflet provided by your pharmacist

6 prior -- before you start using this medication and

7 each time you get a refill."  Do you do that?

8       A.  No, I do not, because I've been using

9 this medication for approximately eight years.

10       Q.  And so your assumption is that nothing

11 about its chemical makeup ever changes?

12       A.  Not Lantus, no.

13       Q.  Okay.  And then also in Exhibit K you

14 have a Humalog receipt.  Do you see that?  I think

15 it's the very next page.

16       A.  Well, okay.  Back up.

17       Q.  And that's dated April 3rd, 2015.

18       A.  Back up.  Back up.  This medication was

19 an old prescription, so when it got ruined I had to

20 go see my physician because he would not refill it

21 without seeing me.  So that's why there was a time

22 frame between the 20th and when I had to go get this,

23 all right?

24           What he decided to fill it with was the

25 pens.  Now, I have an example of the pen.  Do you
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1 want to see it?  It's medication in a pen, can be

2 carried with me, will expired at 30 days, it will not

3 be used.

4       Q.  So you got a different type of

5 medication in April than you got in June?

6       A.  Same medication, different mode of

7 dispensing.

8       Q.  So it's different?

9       A.  It's a different mode to dispense, same

10 medication.

11       Q.  So how is it a replacement?

12       A.  What do you mean?

13       Q.  You're saying --

14       A.  I take the same number of units on this

15 pen as I take when I was injecting by these vials.

16       Q.  Let's go through the receipt again.  It

17 says your name, correct?

18       A.  Yes.

19       Q.  It says the date is 4-3-2015?

20       A.  Yes.

21       Q.  Next to the bar code in big font is a

22 zero, zero dollars, correct?

23       A.  Yep.

24       Q.  And you're claiming that you -- that's

25 not what you paid?
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1       A.  That I didn't pay zero.  I did not pay

2 zero.  I paid the money underneath that says 1,016?

3       Q.  How did you pay for that?

4       A.  Cash.  Asked and answered previously.

5       Q.  And on the how to use part it says,

6 "Read the patient information leaflet provided by

7 your pharmacist before you start using this

8 medication each time you get a refill."  Did you do

9 that?

10       A.  No.

11       Q.  Does Humalog require refrigeration?

12       A.  Yes.

13       Q.  Does Lantus require refrigeration?

14       A.  Yes.

15       Q.  Does it always require refrigeration?

16       A.  It requires refrigeration up to a 30-day

17 window.  So after 30 days it is expired.

18       Q.  So could you have it outside of --

19       A.  I do not.

20       Q.  -- the refrigerator for 30 days?

21       A.  Okay.  So the pens can be carried with

22 me 24 hours a day, don't have to worry about it.

23 This was always kept in the refrigerator.  No matter

24 what their suggestion was, it was always kept in the

25 refrigerator.
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1           I cannot use this amount of medication

2 in a 30-day window, so the medication has to be kept

3 in the refrigerator until I open the bottle.  Once

4 the bottle is open it's got a 30-day shelf life.

5           But even when I was using the vials, I

6 still kept the vials in the refrigerator between

7 uses, I never kept it out.

8       Q.  So the fact that your electric was out

9 for three days, and despite the fact that you didn't

10 try to mitigate with your apartment complex or go to

11 Dayton, it could have been left out in the open and

12 not been ruined, correct?

13       A.  Okay.  Do you see how much is in this

14 bag?  Do you see how much is in this bag?  I cannot

15 use this in a 30-day window.

16       Q.  But your electricity was back on March

17 23rd.

18       A.  It is ruined once it is kept out of the

19 refrigerator.  It is not refrigerable and rekept

20 again.

21       Q.  But you never consulted a doctor?

22       A.  Don't have to.  I've been an insulin

23 dependent diabetic for many years.

24       Q.  But medicines change.

25       A.  Medicine didn't change in this case.
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1 Prove to me it did.

2       Q.  The burden is on you, isn't it,

3 Ms. Bidwell?

4       A.  You know what?  The medicine is the same

5 medicine I've been taking for the past eight years.

6       Q.  So this medication you originally got in

7 January of 2015, correct?

8       A.  Yes.

9       Q.  And you got a new batch of it in -- in

10 April of 2015?

11       A.  Wait a minute.  Let me look.  I keep

12 stock.  So they have written me a script, because I'm

13 on a sliding scale.  So the sliding scale could be

14 dependent upon what I eat and how my body is

15 reacting.

16           They had written a prescription to be up

17 to 100 units a day in the event that my sliding scale

18 was really bad.  So in those cases where I used 45 a

19 day it gave extra stock.  So what I would do is it

20 would sit in my refrigerator, and when I got a new

21 supply at my 90-day window I would put it in the back

22 and move the stock up to be used.

23           So if you're asking why I had so much,

24 some of it could have been stock that was older and

25 I'm carrying it through.  This is saying 100 units a
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1 day.  Maximum daily does, a hundred units.  Maximum

2 daily dose, a hundred units.  A hundred units.

3           This is saying inject 15, but that is a

4 very old dosage, it's not current anymore.

5       Q.  I thought you said medications never

6 change.

7       A.  The medication itself hasn't changed, my

8 dosages have.

9       Q.  The dosage would change, so how is that

10 not changing the medication if you're changing the

11 dose?

12       A.  It doesn't change chemical composition

13 of this.

14       Q.  But it changes your usage?

15       A.  It changes how much I use of it, it is

16 not changing the chemical composition of this

17 medicine.  I don't know why this is so difficult for

18 you to grasp.

19       Q.  Okay.  So you're aware that each

20 medicine product that was talked about publicly

21 releases this product information including how to

22 store this medication, correct?

23       A.  Yes.

24           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, I would like to

25 mark as AEP Ohio Exhibit 8 said product information
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1 for Lantus.  This is publicly available information.

2 I got it off their website, self-authenticating

3 document.

4           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  It shall be marked

5 accordingly.

6           (EXHIBIT MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION.)

7 By Mr. Benza:

8       Q.  Ms. Bidwell, does this say Lantus at the

9 top?

10       A.  It does.

11       Q.  That's the medication we have been

12 talking about?

13       A.  Yes, it is, one of my medications.

14       Q.  Can you turn to Page 27, please?  It's

15 paginated at the top.  The Section 6.2 says

16 "Storage", correct?

17       A.  It does.

18       Q.  Okay.  And there's a little chart there,

19 correct?  And it says, "Not in use, unopened,

20 refrigerated 10 milliliter vial until expiration

21 date," correct?

22       A.  Yes.

23       Q.  "Not in use, unopened, refrigerated, 3

24 milliliter pen, until expiration date," correct?

25       A.  Well, the pen is what I went to after
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1 this medication was expired, after I replaced this.

2       Q.  I'm just asking you to read the chart,

3 Ms. Bidwell.

4       A.  Yes.

5       Q.  "Not in use, unopened, room temperature,

6 10 milliliter vial, 28 days"?

7       A.  Yes.

8       Q.  "Not in use, unopened, room temperature,

9 pen, 28 days."

10       A.  Yes.

11       Q.  Like Lantus, I'm sure you're aware that

12 Humalog releases a similar product information sheet.

13           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, I'd like to mark

14 as AEP Ohio Exhibit 9 said product information for

15 the medication Humalog.

16           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  It will be so

17 marked.

18           (EXHIBIT MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION.)

19           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, may I approach?

20           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Yes.

21 By Mr. Benza:

22       Q.  At the top it says "Humalog", correct?

23       A.  Yes.

24       Q.  About three lines --

25       A.  Yes.
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1       Q.  Okay.  You said yes, correct?

2       A.  Yes.

3       Q.  Turn to Page 13, please.  And you see a

4 section called "Storage and Handling"?

5       A.  Yes.

6       Q.  It says, "Not in use, unopened, room

7 temperature, 10 milliliter vial, 28 days," correct?

8       A.  Yes.

9       Q.  It says, "Not in use, unopened, room

10 temperature, 3 milliliter vial, 28 days," correct?

11       A.  Yes.

12       Q.  It says, "Not in use, unopened, room

13 temperature, 3 milliliter cartridge, 28 days,"

14 correct?

15       A.  Yes.

16       Q.  It says, "Not in use, unopened, room

17 temperature, 3 milliliter Humalog Pen, 28 days,"

18 correct?

19       A.  Yes.

20       Q.  It says, "Not in use, unopened, room

21 temperature, 3 milliliter pen for Humalog U200, 28

22 days," correct?

23       A.  Yes.

24       Q.  I'm sure you're also aware that NovoLog

25 has a similar product information document, correct?
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1       A.  I'm sure it does.

2           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, I'd like to mark

3 as AEP Ohio Exhibit 10 the NovoLog product

4 information document.

5           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  It shall be marked

6 accordingly.

7           (EXHIBIT MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION.)

8           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, may I approach?

9           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Yes.

10 By Mr. Benza:

11       Q.  Ms. Bidwell, it says "NovoLog" at the

12 top, correct?

13       A.  It does.

14       Q.  It says, "NovoLog frequently asked

15 questions," correct?

16       A.  Yes.

17       Q.  Website at the bottom is NovoLog.com,

18 correct?

19       A.  Yes.

20       Q.  Please turn to Page 3.  Well, it's going

21 to be 2 and 3.  Question 21, "How and where should

22 NovoLog be stored."  That's what it says, correct?

23       A.  Yes.

24       Q.  And then at the bottom it says, "Storage

25 for NovoLog flex pen, 3 milliliter pen fill cartridge
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1 and 1010 milliliter vial."  That's what it says,

2 correct?

3       A.  Yes.

4       Q.  On the next page in the chart it says,

5 "Not in use, unopened, room temperature, up to 28

6 days," correct?

7       A.  Okay.  We're talking about the pens, and

8 these are not pens.

9       Q.  If you look on the page before you just

10 said that, it's storage for the pen, the cartridge,

11 and the vial.

12       A.  Okay.  So let's look at Section 21.  And

13 the first thing it says is the NovoLog, in the

14 refrigerator -- should be stored in the refrigerator

15 between 36 and 46 degrees until first use.  If you

16 take this out of the refrigerator you don't get to

17 just put it right back in the refrigerator.

18       Q.  Where does it say that?

19       A.  Where is the assumption that it isn't?

20 It's not.  Chill first use.  Now, I can't use all

21 this medicine in a 28-day window.

22       Q.  You could use 28 days' worth of it?

23       A.  Okay.  So let's figure out what 28 days

24 is.  Actually -- look, I've already done that.

25       Q.  You can do that in redirect.  Underneath
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1 that it says NovoLog can take the heat, correct?

2       A.  It says that.

3       Q.  Okay.

4       A.  It says that for the pen cartridge and

5 flex pen.  Does not say it for the vial.

6       Q.  Ms. Bidwell, during discovery you gave a

7 receipt, and it's -- basically it's called the

8 patient prescription history; is that correct?

9       A.  I don't have a copy of it before me.

10       Q.  But did you provide something like that

11 in discovery to AEP Ohio?

12       A.  I vaguely recall that.

13       Q.  Okay.

14           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, I'd like to mark

15 as Exhibit 11, AEP Ohio Exhibit 11, the patient

16 prescription history sheet.

17           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  It shall be so

18 marked.

19           (EXHIBIT MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION.)

20           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, may I approach?

21           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Yes.

22           THE WITNESS:  I can't read that.

23 By Mr. Benza:

24       Q.  It is small so you're going to have to

25 bear with me.  Worse comes to worse we'll take
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1 judicial notice.

2           The second one down, it says Humalog

3 insulin, the quantity is 90, correct?  Is anything

4 I'm saying incorrect?

5       A.  I see Humalog.  I don't see quantity 90,

6 it looks more like 80.

7       Q.  Okay.  It says day supply, 90, correct?

8       A.  I don't see day supply.

9       Q.  It says day supply right in the middle

10 there, the column.  In that row for Humalog, it says

11 90 days, correct?

12       A.  Where it says quantity?

13       Q.  Where it says days supply, it says 90 in

14 the Humalog row, second row.

15       A.  I don't see days supply.

16           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, will you take

17 judicial notice that says 90 day supply in the second

18 row of Humalog?

19           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Perhaps if you point

20 it out to Ms. Bidwell so she could find it.

21           MR. BENZA:  Okay.  Second row, 90.

22           MS. BIDWELL:  You're saying quantity.  I

23 don't have anything.

24           MR. BENZA:  90.

25           THE WITNESS:  Okay.  I guess it says 90,
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1 but I'm struggling with it.

2 By Mr. Benza:

3       Q.  Over a couple more columns it says

4 price, 1,961.61 -- or 66, correct?

5       A.  Yes.

6       Q.  It says third party pays 1,800,68,

7 correct?

8       A.  Yes.

9       Q.  It says patient pays zero dollars,

10 correct?

11       A.  That's what it says.

12       Q.  It says date filled, 1-8-2015, correct?

13       A.  Yes.

14       Q.  Underneath the Humalog row is a Lantus

15 row, correct?

16       A.  Yes.

17       Q.  It says days supply, 89, correct?

18       A.  Yes.

19       Q.  It says price, $1,070.09, correct?

20       A.  Yes.

21       Q.  It says third party pays $981.59,

22 correct?

23       A.  Yes.

24       Q.  It says patient responsibility, zero

25 dollars, correct?
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1       A.  Yes.

2       Q.  It says date filled, January 8, 2015,

3 correct?

4       A.  Yes.

5       Q.  Go down a few more rows.  It's about

6 fifth from the bottom.  It says Humalog, correct,

7 fifth from the bottom?

8       A.  Okay.

9       Q.  Days supply, 90, correct?

10       A.  Yes.

11       Q.  Price, $1,203.65 -- excuse me.  It says

12 $2,526.68, correct?

13       A.  I don't know, that's a little hard to

14 read.

15       Q.  But it says around 2,500?

16       A.  Yeah.

17       Q.  It says third party pays 2,319.54,

18 correct?

19       A.  Yes.

20       Q.  It says patient responsibility, zero

21 dollars, correct?

22       A.  Yes.

23       Q.  So on that receipt, when I asked you

24 what that zero dollars meant, that would be the

25 amount that you paid for the medication, correct?
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1       A.  As I recalled, I paid money out of my

2 account, out of my home.  I took cash there and paid

3 for it.

4       Q.  Ms. Bidwell, this receipt says you paid

5 zero dollars.  The other receipt says you paid zero

6 dollars.  Do you still deny that you paid zero

7 dollars for this medication?

8       A.  I'm not sure now at this point.  I think

9 I remember paying cash, because I had to go home and

10 get cash out of my home to come back and pay it.

11       Q.  That's okay, Ms. Bidwell, you can

12 address it on redirect.  Excuse me.  Date filled, it

13 says April 3rd, 2015, correct?

14       A.  I don't know.  It says that.

15       Q.  Okay.  Underneath that row is a row that

16 says "Lantus".

17       A.  Okay.

18       Q.  It says days supply, 90, correct?

19       A.  I'd say --

20           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Sorry, counsel, I

21 see 45.

22           MR. BENZA:  That's the quantity.  The

23 day supply is the row --

24           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Okay.

25 By Mr. Benza:
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1       Q.  Does it say 90 days, Ms. Bidwell, for

2 days supply?

3       A.  I think it could say that.

4       Q.  Okay.  For price it says $1,203.65,

5 correct?

6       A.  Yes.

7       Q.  For third party pays, 1,060.12, correct?

8       A.  Yes.

9       Q.  It says patient responsibility, zero

10 dollars, correct?

11       A.  Yes.

12       Q.  It says date filled, 4-3-2015, correct?

13       A.  Yes.

14       Q.  So the zero dollars in that receipt

15 relating to Lantus, when it was in big fonts it said

16 zero dollars, that's the amount you paid, correct?

17       A.  I'm still not sure, but that's what the

18 receipt says.

19       Q.  So you did not pay for the medication

20 that you're claiming was lost?

21       A.  I don't know that right now.  I'm not

22 sure.

23           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, I'd like to turn

24 to Ms. Bidwell's Exhibit B, and that is -- it's a

25 letter dated to Ms. Bidwell on October 9, 2014.  It
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1 is also going to be in our direct testimony.

2 By Mr. Benza:

3       Q.  Can you turn to this document, Exhibit

4 B?

5       A.  Sure.  What is it labeled?

6       Q.  Exhibit B.

7       A.  Okay.

8       Q.  So when you were talking about this

9 document you said somewhere on here it says that the

10 deposit was the only requirement.  Where does it say

11 that?

12       A.  Obligation, one, required deposit, $82.

13       Q.  Where does it say it's the only

14 requirement?

15       A.  I would assume that it would be on

16 Line 2, had there been a Line 2.

17       Q.  So your argument is that since you

18 received this letter, is that what you're saying?

19       A.  I didn't receive this letter until

20 discovery in September.

21       Q.  So if you never received this letter,

22 how do you think it's the only obligation you have to

23 fill?

24       A.  Because in the phone call, the initial

25 call, she said I had $82 to pay on this deposit.  She
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1 gave no indication that there was anything further

2 that needed to be done.

3       Q.  But when AEP tried to call you, they

4 can't get a hold of you and then sent this letter to

5 this address.

6       A.  You claim you mailed this letter, but I

7 did not get it.

8       Q.  But you got all the other letters, just

9 not the one that's at issue?

10       A.  No, I didn't get any of the first three

11 letters from A, B, and C.

12       Q.  But you got the deposit check back,

13 which you cashed?

14       A.  In December, greater than 60 days after

15 I set up the account.

16       Q.  And what would that have to do with you

17 receiving mail?

18       A.  Well, the only thing I can think of is

19 it was a brand-new complex.  Maybe the mailman didn't

20 know any of the people, since this came right as I

21 first moved in and the building had been completely

22 empty.  I don't know what --

23       Q.  So you admit that AEP Ohio sent the

24 letters?

25       A.  No, I don't admit that.  I don't know
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1 what happened.

2       Q.  But you're saying it's possible that

3 it's not AEP Ohio's fault?

4       A.  I honestly find it hard to believe a

5 mailman misplaced three letters.  It is their job and

6 they have been delivering to this complex for months,

7 it's just this was a brand-new building.

8       Q.  When you're talking about a recorded

9 phone conversation, one of the ones you played, and

10 someone mentioned the lease and identification

11 requirement, on what date was that?  That was

12 March 20th?

13       A.  The first time I heard, it was

14 March 20th.

15       Q.  And that was after you had been

16 disconnected?

17       A.  Yes.

18       Q.  And that was six months after you tried

19 to make an application and you failed to complete it?

20       A.  I didn't know that I failed to complete

21 anything.  I thought I met all the requirements

22 because of the two phone calls, the phone call to set

23 it up and the call I made to pay the deposit.  There

24 was no mention that there was going to be a lease

25 verification.
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1       Q.  So the reason that you claim you weren't

2 able to complete the application is because you're

3 claiming you never got the letter and you never got

4 the phone call?

5       A.  I had no knowledge.  There was no

6 mention in any phone call.

7       Q.  So the lease and ID requirement, which

8 you're confused about on March 20, 2015, has nothing

9 to do with why you were disconnected?

10       A.  That's not true.  They told me that the

11 reason I was disconnected was because the leasing ID

12 verification was not done.

13       Q.  But even if you knew this information,

14 you still would have been disconnected because you

15 never completed it, correct?

16       A.  If I had had that information at my

17 hand, I would have completed it.

18       Q.  But your confusion about the issue after

19 the fact has nothing to do with why you were

20 disconnected, correct?

21       A.  What issue am I confused about exactly,

22 because I'm not quite clear what you're trying to get

23 at.

24       Q.  The leasing and ID requirement, you're

25 confused about it.
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1       A.  No.  They gave conflicting stories in

2 both phone calls on the 20th, and to the phone call

3 to Tory on the 21st as to what the requirement would

4 be to meet that verification of the leasing ID.

5       Q.  I'm saying what does that have to do

6 with you being disconnected?  Because the reason

7 you're claiming that you got disconnected was because

8 you didn't know that you had anything else to do?

9       A.  Well, God, I think that's pretty

10 self-explanatory as to you're not told there's

11 anything else to do, you receive no information

12 stating you need to get any other information to AEP,

13 and when it's disconnected you're told well, it's

14 because you didn't complete the requirements.  You

15 didn't fill out a leasing ID verification.  What

16 leasing ID verification?  I didn't get any.

17       Q.  So why didn't you call AEP Ohio when you

18 received electric for six months and you never

19 received a bill?

20       A.  Well, to be very honest, I thought they

21 left it in the name of the apartment complex, which

22 was not an issue because I was paid up months in

23 advance on my rent.

24       Q.  But we looked in the lease, and in the

25 lease it says you're responsible for that.
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1       A.  Okay.  There are things in electric

2 business, and Dayton Power & Light follows this, that

3 if somebody moves out of an apartment it is

4 automatically turned over back into the apartment

5 owner's name.  So the house or rental is never

6 without electric power.

7           Do I think that's what had transpired?

8 Yeah, I kind of thought that when they send the check

9 back for the deposit, because I was still expecting a

10 further clarification from AEP and it never arrived.

11       Q.  So you were fine with receiving unpaid

12 electric under the assumption that maybe The Avenue

13 at Polaris was paying for it?

14       A.  Actually, I was paid up months in

15 advance in my rent so there was no issue that Avenue

16 at Polaris wasn't getting their money.

17       Q.  Look at the lease.  What does that have

18 to do with your electric bill?

19       A.  The lease says that I'm supposed to pay

20 the electric bill, and I called the appropriate

21 company and department to set up that electric, and I

22 got no further notification, so where --

23       Q.  Right.  So you never received a bill and

24 then you did nothing about it because you wanted to

25 receive free electric?
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1       A.  Why didn't you send me a bill and I

2 could have paid it?

3       Q.  Because you weren't a customer.

4       A.  Funny, you expected payment when you

5 sent out a bill for 680-some dollars and a bill for

6 795.  You expected payment, but I wasn't your

7 customer.  So I guess I should be asking for a refund

8 from you.

9       Q.  Well, didn't you admit to using that

10 electricity?

11       A.  I admitted to it from the time that I

12 actually signed up for my electric to start on

13 October 10th.  That was going to be my

14 responsibility.  But as a business, you did not

15 fulfill your requirement by sending me a bill.

16           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, at this time I

17 would like to admit AEP Ohio Exhibits 1 through 11.

18           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Ms. Bidwell, AEP has

19 asked for the admission of Exhibits 1 through 11.

20 Are there any that you object to?

21           THE WITNESS:  I guess I need to know

22 what is 1 through 11, because they are not labeled.

23           MR. BENZA:  I said what they were before

24 handing it to her.

25           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Let's go off the
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1 record for a moment.

2           (Discussion off the record.)

3           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  There being no

4 objection to the admission of AEP Exhibits 1 through

5 11, accordingly they will be admitted into the

6 received.

7           (EXHIBITS ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.)

8           MR. BENZA:  And, your Honor, may I just

9 note very quickly on the record that in AEP Ohio

10 Exhibit 11, which is the patient prescription

11 history, we are going to be removing the second line

12 from the bottom.  We're going to be redacting that.

13           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Thank you.

14 Appreciate that clarification.  With that exception,

15 all exhibits will be admitted into the record at this

16 point.  Mr. Benza, if you've completed your --

17           MR. BENZA:  Okay.  I just want to say on

18 the record that if Ms. Bidwell wishes to say

19 something about the exhibits that were just admitted,

20 that she can do so on redirect right now.

21           MS. BIDWELL:  I'm going to read this.

22           MR. BENZA:  Can you tell me what you're

23 referring to?

24           MS. BIDWELL:  The product information.

25           MR. BENZA:  Which one?
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1           MS. BIDWELL:  All of them.

2           MR. BENZA:  At the same time?

3           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Well, if you've

4 completed your cross-examination we can move to

5 redirect, is that --

6           MR. BENZA:  Okay.  Yes, your Honor.

7           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Ms. Bidwell, at this

8 point you can clarify any statements you made.

9           MS. BIDWELL:  What I really need to do

10 is go through this.  He's based his questions on

11 this, and I need to see it.

12           (Pause.)

13           (Luncheon recess taken.)

14                     - - -

15           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Let's go back on the

16 record.  We have reconvened from lunch.  Start with

17 the redirect of Ms. Bidwell.

18                     - - -

19                REDIRECT TESTIMONY

20           MS. BIDWELL:  Okay.  So I'm looking over

21 here at the exhibit that was presented from AEP, and

22 the first one I'm going to talk about is going to be

23 the Humalog.

24           So on the Humalog, as I'm reading Page

25 13, it states that unopened Humalog should be stored
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1 in the refrigerator, not the freezer.

2           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Ms. Bidwell, what

3 are you reading?

4           MS. BIDWELL:  I don't know, he didn't

5 number mine.

6           MR. BENZA:  Exhibit 9, your Honor.

7           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Thank you.

8           MS. BIDWELL:  So it states Humalog

9 should be stored in the refrigerator between 36

10 degrees and 46 degrees Fahrenheit, but not the

11 freezer, do not use it if it's been in the freezer.

12           In use Humalog vials -- so there is a

13 difference between in use and those that are in

14 storage.

15           I've taken one of the vials out and

16 there's a little cap on the end of it.  When that cap

17 is popped, that is considered in use.  So when that

18 occurs, then it changes the composition.  This is

19 when it goes through the process of going through

20 a 28-day window.

21           So if it is not in use, meaning the cap

22 is on it, and it's unopened, that it can stay

23 refrigerated until the expiration dates.  Now, if it

24 is not in use, and it is -- if it's in use and you've

25 popped the top, then it's only got 28 days' life
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1 whether it is refrigerated or at room temperature.

2           Not in use, unopened, room temperature

3 means the cap's on, not in use, but it's at room

4 temperature, has 28-day expectancy to survive it

5 before it loses its efficacy.

6           And I did a calculation here.  This is

7 Humalog.  Humalog, I take 35 units or more per day --

8 per time I inject, which I inject three times a day,

9 so it's a minimum of about 105 units per day times 28

10 days, because that's the maximum life expectancy at

11 room temperature, is going to come up to 2,940 units

12 for a total of 28 days.

13           So there is 10 milliliters in a vial.

14 Each milliliter is a hundred units, so that's

15 basically a thousand units in a bottle this size.

16 Now, if I'm going to use 2,940 units in a 28-day

17 window, that's a little less than three vials.  So

18 this one now goes away.  So this is what could not be

19 used in that 28-day window by not being refrigerated.

20           He is mistaken to believe that you can

21 take it out of the refrigerator and then put it back

22 in and you've given it its full life expectancy until

23 expiration date.  Can't do it.

24           Next one we have got is NovoLog.  And

25 NovoLog -- it says to store NovoLog in the
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1 refrigerator between 36 and 46 degrees Fahrenheit

2 until first use.  Again, first use is when you pop

3 that cap.  It says not to freeze it.

4           It says that if I was using a flex

5 pen -- these are flex pens, which is what I'm now on.

6 A flex pen, once I open it and start using it, then a

7 flex pen can be kept at room temperature for 28 days.

8 Vials, it is saying once it's in use it can be kept

9 in the -- either room temperature or in the

10 refrigerator.

11           Use means I've popped the top.  I can't

12 keep this for longer than 28 days once the top is

13 popped.  But I don't get to keep it out of the

14 refrigerator and stick it back in the refrigerator

15 and it gets to stay until full life expectancy of

16 expiration date.  So he's wrong on this one.

17           Next one is Lantus.  Same thing, only

18 this one doesn't say store in refrigerator, it

19 actually says shouldn't be stored in the freezer, but

20 it is in the refrigerator, and I know this because

21 I've been using it for years.  It says not in use.

22 Again, haven't popped the top, unopened, and it's

23 refrigerated, it's good until the expiration date; 28

24 days is all it's good for if it's not in use,

25 unopened, but is at room temperature.
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1           Now, if it's in use, I've popped the

2 top, then the temperature said 28 days whether you

3 put it in the refrigerator or you don't.  But again,

4 you can't just take it out of the refrigerator, put

5 it back in and say okay, now it's good until life

6 expectancy.  It's 28 days once it is out of the

7 refrigerator.

8           Now, as I look at my Lantus, my Lantus,

9 which is also NovoLog, they are used in the exact

10 same way, and the products say the same thing for

11 them.

12           I use approximately 45 a day, although

13 I'm on a sliding scale, could be a little bit more I

14 inject at night, times 28 days, that's going to equal

15 a total of 1,260 units.  So if there's a thousand

16 units in a bottle, I'm going to use one-and-a-quarter

17 bottles, roughly.

18           So I can't use all of this product and

19 three-fourths of this one is still available.  This

20 is what can't be used after 28 days.  It's gone.  So

21 there is a loss.  Now we're going to talk about --

22           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Before you move on,

23 just for clarity in the transcript, I don't know what

24 "this" is.  Can you quantify those boxes in some way?

25           MS. BIDWELL:  Yeah, these bottles are
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1 all insulins.  I take two different types of

2 insulins.  One is going to be this Humalog.  It's

3 going to be taken three times a day with meals.

4           Roughly I take about 35 units every time

5 I eat.  It can be a sliding scale, more sliding scale

6 for it because it depends upon what I eat.  So if I

7 eat pasta, turns into sugars, I've got to put more

8 insulin in to accommodate those sugars.

9           This one over here is my nighttime

10 medicine, so this one I take once a day at nighttime,

11 at bedtime.  It's long acting.  So even though I

12 inject 45 units, it takes roughly 24 hours for it to

13 get out of my system.

14           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Let me ask the

15 question another way.  Can you quantify the value of

16 each box?

17           MS. BIDWELL:  No, it's based upon what

18 they give me.  If this is a 28-day window, this is

19 roughly a little over three months of use of Humalog.

20 This over here is one-and-a-quarter bottles a month.

21 So I've got just under a three-month supply right

22 here.

23           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  And how much went to

24 waste?

25           MS. BIDWELL:  All of this went to waste.
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1           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Earlier in your

2 testimony you said three boxes were usable within a

3 28-day period.

4           MS. BIDWELL:  This is what's left, which

5 was waste.

6           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  So you had three

7 additional boxes?

8           MS. BIDWELL:  I had a couple things that

9 was opened in the refrigerator I did use.  And

10 eventually when I went home I had the other bottles

11 that I could use, back to my house in Dayton.

12           All right.  So I need to talk about how

13 this comes about.  They have written the script for

14 up to 100 units per injection to modify and use as a

15 sliding scale.

16           So if I -- if I'm really good about what

17 I eat, then I end up with extra insulin at the end of

18 that 90-day supply.  So it took a long time to create

19 this excess supply for me.  Okay?

20           So if I fill the script in January and I

21 filled a script in April, and my medicine was ruined

22 on the 20th of March, then this is basically what I

23 managed to save over the course of quite a while.

24           This says this medication was good until

25 2016, so the shelf life on this stuff is really
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1 long-term.  Some of it is even longer.  I don't have

2 it on the outside of this box, but the shelf life

3 lasts longer.

4           So typically what happens when I get my

5 medicine, when I get new dosages like a new 90-day

6 supply, because my employer always required it was a

7 90-day supply given so that they get the benefit of

8 buying it in bulk, so that 90-day supply I put to the

9 back of the refrigerator and I would move forward the

10 overstock.  Okay?

11           So same thing for this type of medicine

12 as well.  So this took a while to accumulate.  When

13 the medicine was ruined because I can't use it all in

14 the first 28 days after the incident on March 20th, I

15 now don't have this stock anymore, it's gone.

16           And no matter how much I want to tell my

17 insurance company I need you to give me more of my

18 stock, I don't get it.

19           So the next stock that was purchased,

20 I'm starting from scratch again.  And I only have

21 that 90-day supply.  So I lost all this.  And

22 honestly, it don't matter who paid for what, I lost

23 the stock and I don't have it to use again.

24           So now I'm in the situation right now

25 where I'm unemployed, and I don't have the money.  My
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1 insurance that I have right now says I pay the first

2 $6,000 before they pay anything.  This stock would

3 have been extremely handy for me to have.  I don't

4 have it.  It's gone.  It's gone forever, and there

5 was a value to that stock.  And the value is what

6 they got on that paperwork, and it's gone.

7           And it's gone because I never got told I

8 needed to give any more information on that leasing

9 and ID verification.

10           I am now on pens, so my mode of delivery

11 is very different.  These are still refrigerated.  I

12 inject 35 units at every meal for this one, and I

13 inject 45 units at nighttime on this one.

14           These are good for 28 days, but I don't

15 take them out of the refrigerator until I am actually

16 popping it open and using it for the first time.

17 Same rules apply, different mode of delivery.

18           These I have to draw up in a needle.

19 This one I have to draw up in a needle.  Where did it

20 go?  Maybe I put it back.  So this vial, same

21 medication, it just has to be drawn up with a needle.

22 I pop the lid, I insert a needle and I have to draw

23 down how many units I need, just like a nurse does in

24 a hospital setting.

25           I don't think there's anything else I
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1 have to say on rebuttal.

2           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Just had one

3 additional question.  You mentioned something about

4 your e-mail account was not working?

5           MS. BIDWELL:  Actually, that's a good

6 point.  When I first opened up the account on October

7 the 8th, my e-mail account worked fine and it worked

8 fine for several months.

9           But by the time -- and I never got an

10 e-mail from anybody at AEP, even though they had them

11 on file.  They could have shot me off another e-mail.

12 That certainly would have been an easy way to get in

13 touch with me again to tell me that I had -- my

14 account was closed.

15           The e-mail account started locking up on

16 me, and that's kind of a trade of Hot Mail, it does

17 that.  That's why I switched to Gmail.  So by the

18 time I opened up the second account on March the

19 20th, I no longer was using that original Hot Mail

20 account because I couldn't access it anymore, it had

21 locked me out.

22           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  On March the 20th?

23           MS. BIDWELL:  It had locked me out

24 probably a good month, six weeks before that, but it

25 was long after I established service.
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1           Anything else?

2           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Nothing from me.

3 Any followup?

4           MR. BENZA:  Just a couple questions.

5                     - - -

6                RECROSS-EXAMINATION

7 By Mr. Benza:

8       Q.  Ms. Bidwell, you said you wanted paper

9 statements, correct?

10       A.  Yes.

11       Q.  Why couldn't you have stored your

12 medicine at work?

13       A.  Well, what does that have to do with

14 paper statements, anything?

15       Q.  I'm not asking about paper statements,

16 I'm asking --

17       A.  So at work we would run probably --

18 okay.  So let me calculate this, give you a better

19 idea.  We had greater than 30 classrooms at work.

20 And in each classroom they could hold anywhere

21 from 12 people to 35 people.

22           The organization was bringing up the

23 clinical software system for nine different

24 hospitals.  There was people in and out of this door,

25 we didn't know who they were.
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1           They are really -- there was one small

2 refrigerator that everybody was supposed to put their

3 lunch in.  It wasn't nearly big enough to accommodate

4 the number of trainers.  We had 80 trainers that was

5 on-site.  There wasn't room.

6       Q.  So you don't think if you asked, hey

7 everyone, this is my life saving medication, do not

8 put your sandwich --

9       A.  No, but it also brings about the risk

10 factor as well.  We don't know who any of these

11 people are.  It could have been stolen, and if it

12 gets stolen I don't know who is injecting it, I don't

13 know what they are doing with it.  There's a

14 liability there.

15           They wouldn't let me put it in when I

16 was there working on the day, because I did ask that

17 in the very beginning when I was hired.  They are

18 like no, we can't have you do that.  That's a

19 medication.  It's a locked-up medication.  You can't

20 do it.

21       Q.  So you didn't even bring it to them

22 whether you could store it?

23       A.  No.  There wasn't anywhere to store

24 there.

25       Q.  So despite the fact that it's life
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1 saving medication, in your terms, that you didn't try

2 at your work to see if they would let you store it in

3 their fridge?

4       A.  They had already told me no when I first

5 got hired.  I actually asked that question.  I

6 actually have a small refrigerator from my job at UC

7 that I kept in my office.  I was willing to bring it

8 in and they told me absolutely not.

9       Q.  Well, that was probably under the

10 circumstances that you were going to be doing it

11 every day.

12       A.  Well, you're trying to make assumptions

13 you can't enter into evidence.  They told me no, and

14 I did no.

15       Q.  I'm asking you a question, you have to

16 answer it.

17       A.  What question?

18       Q.  The question is wasn't it under

19 different circumstances when you asked originally

20 than when you were going to this time?

21       A.  Different circumstances, but they gave

22 me a response, and I had to respect that response.

23 That was my employer.

24       Q.  I thought they only gave you one

25 response because you never asked a second time.



Proceedings

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481

141

1       A.  Number one, no supervisor in the

2 building on weekends.

3       Q.  How come you didn't say that before?

4       A.  Just thought of it.  But no supervisor

5 was in the building on weekends.  Are you kidding me?

6 We could barely find them Monday through Friday.

7       Q.  So if no supervisor was there, why

8 didn't you put it in the fridge?

9       A.  Well, apparently you think I need to

10 just break the law or their rules whenever and get

11 myself in trouble.  I can't risk the liability and

12 somebody comes back and does something.

13           They could take it, steel it, sell it on

14 the black market, inject it themselves.  Too much

15 liability.  And at that point I would have lost my

16 job.  So I have to weigh where does my

17 responsibilities lie?  It lies that I have to be

18 responsible with medication.  I can't just make up my

19 rules on my own because it suits your purpose.

20       Q.  So you think they would have fired you

21 because --

22       A.  I know they would have.

23       Q.  -- you need to stick medicine in a

24 fridge for two days?

25       A.  They put me into a final written warning
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1 for such a thing as I didn't make my patient come

2 alive enough for a physician in training.  Are you

3 kidding me?  This is way more serious than that.

4       Q.  What does that have to do with your

5 diabetes?

6       A.  Doesn't have anything to do other than

7 the fact that they were very strict in what they did

8 and went after who they wanted to go after and make

9 up anything they wanted to make up.

10           I'm not going to break the rules.  You

11 want me to have broken the rules to save you the

12 expense?  It can't happen.  I have to think about my

13 future earning income.

14       Q.  I didn't put any desire on the question,

15 I simply asked you a question.

16       A.  What else do you want to know?

17       Q.  On every single call that was recorded

18 beforehand, didn't it say, "This call may be

19 recorded"?

20       A.  I don't recall.  I don't have those

21 recordings to tell you.

22       Q.  Well, it wouldn't be recorded, would it,

23 because it would be before the recording?

24       A.  Well, every other call that I made to

25 the customer service number was recorded, but you did
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1 not give me that third call on that Friday night at

2 10:43 p.m.

3       Q.  Don't most people, when they have

4 conversations, they don't record it?

5       A.  I don't know what most people do in

6 their work, but your regulatory body seems to have

7 wanted a lot of recordings.  I don't recall -- I

8 never had my conversation recorded at my workplace,

9 but I'm not AEP.  I can't speak for them.

10           MR. BENZA:  No further questions, your

11 Honor.

12           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Okay.  Thank you.

13           (Witness excused.)

14           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Mr. Benza, you may

15 call your next witness.

16           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, AEP Ohio calls

17 Michele L. Jeunelot to the stand.

18           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Raise your right

19 hand, please.

20           (Witness sworn.)

21           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Thank you.

22                Michele L. Jeunelot,

23 being first duly sworn, as prescribed by law, was

24 examined and testified as follows:

25                     - - -
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1                DIRECT EXAMINATION

2 By Mr. Benza:

3       Q.  Please state your name and business

4 address for the record.

5       A.  My name is Michele Jeunelot.  I work at

6 850 Tech Center Drive, Gahanna, Ohio 43230.

7       Q.  By whom are you employed and in what

8 capacity?

9       A.  I work for AEP Ohio as manager of

10 regulatory operations.

11       Q.  Did you cause direct testimony to be

12 filed in this case on May 19, 2016?

13       A.  Yes.

14           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, I'd like to mark

15 as AEP Ohio Exhibit 12 the direct testimony of

16 Michele Jeunelot.

17           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  It shall be so

18 marked.

19           (EXHIBIT MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION.)

20           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, may I approach?

21           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Yes.

22           MR. BENZA:  Thank you.  And you have a

23 copy as well, your Honor?

24           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Yes.

25 By Mr. Benza:
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1       Q.  Ms. Jeunelot, will you please identify

2 this document?

3       A.  Yes.  This is the testimony that I filed

4 in this case -- or had legal file in this case.

5       Q.  Was this prepared by you or under your

6 direction?

7       A.  Yes, it was.

8       Q.  Do you have any changes, corrections, or

9 additions to the testimony?

10       A.  Not at this time.

11       Q.  Did you answer these questions honestly

12 and truthfully?

13       A.  I have, yes.

14       Q.  Would your answers in your direct

15 testimony be the same today if you were asked the

16 same questions?

17       A.  Yes, they would be.

18       Q.  Do you adopt AEP Ohio Exhibit 12 as your

19 testimony today for this docket?

20       A.  Yes, I do.

21       Q.  So I'm just going to ask you some

22 general questions that will relate to your direct

23 testimony.  The first is:  Are the questions on the

24 Experian questionnaire always the same?

25       A.  To my knowledge, no, the Experian
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1 questionnaire is based off of stuff on the credit

2 agency reporting.  So through the Experian

3 questionnaire they usually will know like what city

4 you've lived in, possibly what kind of car you

5 bought, what year that was.  So it's very specific

6 questions to each individual's circumstances.

7       Q.  And does AEP Ohio own those questions?

8       A.  I don't believe they do.  It's a

9 software tool we use through Experian that pulls in

10 stuff from like a credit agency, reporting stuff to

11 ask questions that, again, no one else would know, to

12 help with things like fraud when, you know, we need

13 to prove that somebody is who they say they are.

14       Q.  Do we have those questions?

15       A.  I don't believe so.

16       Q.  What is the effect of the lease and

17 identification requirement?

18       A.  So when AEP Ohio refers to lease and ID,

19 it means a multitude of things.  It's -- there's a

20 screen that pops up that says lease and ID

21 requirements.

22           Most often than not we require a lease

23 and ID identification because somebody at the premise

24 has left an unpaid bill, a high unpaid bill, so we

25 would ask for proof that name switching isn't
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1 occurring.

2           At times, too, and I haven't seen this

3 very often, it also refers to fraud alerts where they

4 need to verify that the person is who they say they

5 are.  It is handled by a specific department in our

6 company, and they know what specific requirements

7 need to be filled in order to complete an action of

8 service.

9       Q.  Can you explain briefly what name

10 switching is?

11       A.  Sure.  At times we'll have customers who

12 may end up not paying a bill and they have a high

13 balance that's due, and they believe that maybe if

14 they switch the account to the wife's name, the

15 roommate's name, a cousin living there, or just, you

16 know, call and pretend they are somebody else, that

17 they can start a brand-new account from scratch and

18 not have to pay a bill.

19           We use a software tool to be able to

20 tell, you know, do we think that person is still

21 living there, and we would ask for verification to

22 prove that that person who owes that debt has

23 actually left the residence.

24       Q.  And that verification would involve the

25 landlord?
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1       A.  Yes.  A lot of times we have to actually

2 call the landlord in cases where an ex or somebody

3 has moved out, we'll need verification that that

4 person has left the premise.

5           Generally the landlord, of course, would

6 know if the lease and -- or the lease has changed for

7 that premise, and if the person has left the

8 premises.

9       Q.  So does AEP Ohio telling Ms. Bidwell

10 that she and her apartment complex sought a lease

11 verification form have any effect on the date of

12 connection?

13       A.  I don't believe so.  Our system is

14 pretty much automated.  So when Ms. Bidwell, either

15 time, goes to start service, once she goes through

16 the initial phone call, and it flags something else

17 it needed on the account, at that time it

18 automatically generates a work flow to that

19 department that handles that, and they get to that

20 work flow in their normal day-to-day process to

21 complete whatever requirement is needed, whether it

22 be, you know, a lease and ID type verification, fraud

23 alert to verify that she is who she says she is, it

24 all falls under that lease and ID type of

25 requirement.
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1       Q.  So can you briefly explain what happened

2 in Ms. Bidwell's case in October of 2014?

3       A.  So Ms. Bidwell called on October 8th.

4 She asked for service to be started.  Went through

5 the phone call, was told that she had to pay an $82

6 deposit.

7           Shortly thereafter Ms. Bidwell paid the

8 $82 deposit.  What happens at that time is on the

9 initial phone call it flags to send out letters about

10 the deposit.  So that's why two letters were sent

11 immediately the next day on October 9th, saying hey,

12 you have to pay a deposit.

13           Not all customers pay it right after the

14 phone call, so we make sure the customer has a letter

15 that states exactly how much they have, even though

16 Ms. Bidwell in this case had already paid it prior to

17 those letters being sent out.

18           It also, after the phone call, flags

19 something that says there was something else that

20 needed to be required.  It flagged it through

21 Experian that, hey, Ms. Bidwell has a fraud alert

22 flag, we can't complete this.  We need to make sure

23 that she is who she is.

24           At that point it sends a work flow to

25 our other department to complete that requirement in
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1 order to finish opening up service.

2       Q.  And that other department, who is that

3 other department you're referring to?

4       A.  We call them direct collections.  They

5 may have another official title, I'm not sure.  I

6 just refer to them internally as direct collections.

7       Q.  And when you say it sent a letter, what

8 are you referring to?

9       A.  Can you clarify that?  I guess I wasn't

10 sure where I said that.

11       Q.  At times you would say "it" sent a

12 letter to Ms. Bidwell on October 9th for the deposit

13 letter or "it" sent a letter on October 10.

14       A.  So when I say "it", I mean our system.

15 So when we entered a work flow for a new account our

16 system automatically generates a letter to

17 Ms. Bidwell saying you have a deposit requirement in

18 our system.  Also sends the work flow saying an

19 additional requirement over to direct collection at

20 the same time.

21       Q.  Why does it stay one to three business

22 days to connect new customers?

23       A.  So existing customers who are

24 disconnected for nonpayment get first priority.

25 There are certain rules about if you pay the same day
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1 we can reconnect you the same day by a certain time.

2           There is an Ohio Administrative Code

3 rule that does require electric utilities to have new

4 customers applying for service connected within one

5 to three business days.

6       Q.  Explain how service was already on at

7 the apartment in question.

8       A.  Okay.  It appears that -- again, these

9 are new apartment complexes.  The apartment complex

10 had service in their name.  It was on.  There was no

11 call to disconnect service in the apartment complex's

12 name.

13           Ms. Bidwell called to initiate service

14 on October 8th.  At that point our system does a

15 force close on the apartment complex's account and

16 then tries to open an account for Ms. Bidwell.

17           MR. BENZA:  Thank you very much,

18 Ms. Jeunelot.  Your Honor, I would move for the

19 admission of AEP Exhibit 12 into the record pending

20 cross-examination.

21           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  It will be admitted

22 subject to cross-examination.  Ms. Bidwell.

23           MS. BIDWELL:  No.  Do I have cross?

24 Yes, I have cross.  Sorry.  I have a whole bunch of

25 things to say.  Does she have a copy of this up
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1 there, the testimony?

2           MR. BENZA:  Does she have a copy of her

3 testimony?  Yes, she does.

4                     - - -

5                CROSS-EXAMINATION

6 By Ms. Bidwell:

7       Q.  So we're going to go through some things

8 on here, because I think there's some things -- would

9 you say that AEP takes fraud seriously?

10       A.  Yes, absolutely.

11       Q.  Do you have a policy that talks about

12 what your procedure is for fraud alerts, a written

13 policy?

14       A.  I do not know that.  I'm not in the

15 group that handles that directive, so I'm not sure.

16       Q.  So we don't have a policy to give to the

17 court today at hearing?

18           MR. BENZA:  Objection.

19           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  I'll allow the

20 question.

21           MR. BENZA:  Can you read the question

22 back?

23           (Question read back.)

24           THE WITNESS:  Correct.

25 By Ms. Bidwell:



Proceedings

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481

153

1       Q.  Typically you notify the applicant in a

2 phone call from that department?

3       A.  From my understanding, it looks like the

4 first -- the first contact is through a personal

5 phone call where one of the representatives picks up

6 the phone and tries to reach out to the applicant in

7 order to get the requirements done in a timely

8 manner.

9       Q.  Okay.  And then what do you follow that

10 up with?

11       A.  In this case there was a letter sent

12 once that phone call could not be completed.

13       Q.  Okay.  So let's go and reference that

14 letter of October 9th, the first one where I was

15 establishing service.  Was there any mention of fraud

16 in that letter?

17       A.  The October 9th letter?

18           MR. BENZA:  Objection.  Vague.

19           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Overruled.

20           THE WITNESS:  The two letters sent on

21 October 9th were about the deposit.  The letter sent

22 on October 10th was about the fraud alert.

23 By Ms. Bidwell:

24       Q.  Does it specifically say in that letter

25 fraud alert or leasing verification ID?
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1       A.  On the October 10th letter it only

2 states that additional information is needed.

3       Q.  So there was no further clarification

4 pertaining to fraud alert or leasing verification ID,

5 correct?

6       A.  There is no information about fraud

7 alert on that letter, you are correct.

8       Q.  So, in essence, what you're saying to

9 verify, that none of these three letters mentioned

10 fraud or -- fraud alert or leasing ID verification

11 required?

12       A.  The first two letters were about the

13 deposit.  Neither one of those letters did mention

14 either of those requirements.

15           The third letter sent on October 10th,

16 while it does not specifically say fraud alert, it

17 does state that it needs additional information.

18       Q.  So how would I have known that that

19 meant fraud alert?

20           MR. BENZA:  Objection.  Speculation.

21           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Overruled.

22 By Ms. Bidwell:

23       Q.  From that letter, how would I have

24 known?

25       A.  You would have to call us to find out
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1 what additional information we would need.  At that

2 point we would be able to tell you.

3       Q.  So if I didn't get that letter, how

4 would I have known?

5       A.  You would have known through the first

6 phone call, which was unsuccessful, and then you

7 would know through the letter which we sent.

8       Q.  And we all know that the first phone

9 call didn't go through to me, according to your

10 recording, and I didn't get the letter.  So how would

11 I have known?

12           MR. BENZA:  Objection.  Assumes facts

13 not in evidence.

14           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Overruled.

15           THE WITNESS:  At that point we would

16 assume when you don't get a bill or when you get your

17 returned deposit back, that that would prompt you to

18 call and say hey, there's something going on here.  I

19 haven't received a bill.  I received my deposit back.

20 I'm not sure what's going on.

21 By Ms. Bidwell:

22       Q.  So the thought process from AEP is there

23 would be no further contact with me available, the

24 initial phone call to alert me to the fraud that I

25 didn't get, and the only letter coming out that
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1 stated a generic we need more information?

2       A.  After the two attempted different

3 contacts that we tried to make with you, no, there

4 was no additional contact after those two.

5       Q.  So was there information on your website

6 that I could have looked that up to find out about

7 fraud alert?

8       A.  I am not sure.

9       Q.  Is there any other publications that AEP

10 has produced that would have notified me about fraud

11 alert or the process behind your fraud alerts?

12       A.  I'm not sure about that.

13       Q.  Okay.  You think I could Google anything

14 and it would pull up AEP fraud alerts, any search

15 engines?

16       A.  I'm not sure.

17       Q.  Okay.  So you don't know -- are you

18 aware if it's been printed in any other public media

19 that I should have known to look for it?

20       A.  I'm not sure I understand the question.

21 When you say public media --

22       Q.  Would you have published it anywhere,

23 any other media that I would have known to go look

24 for it?

25       A.  I'm not sure.
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1       Q.  Okay.  So is it possible that this

2 letter didn't make it to me?

3       A.  I can only say that we sent the letter.

4 Once it's out of our hands I'm not sure what happened

5 to the letter.

6       Q.  Now, let's go back to that.  So in the

7 interrogatories on Exhibit B, AEP stated there was no

8 proof of printing these communications.  That's what

9 they say in their Exhibit D.

10           MR. BENZA:  Can you give me a specific

11 reference, Ms. Bidwell?

12           MS. BIDWELL:  I will.  I believe it is

13 12.

14 By Ms. Bidwell:

15       Q.  I asked for an INT-1-012, proof of

16 printing of computer generated letters from AEP's

17 computer system to Jenny Bidwell.  It says the

18 company keeps no record of proof of printing.

19           However, through the company's computer

20 system, if the letter is not printed an error message

21 would have been received.  The company has record of

22 no such error message in this case.  The company also

23 has no record of returned mail in this case.

24           Does AEP offer any proof of printing?

25       A.  When our system has the letters in
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1 there, and it shows that there was no error message

2 that it printed, then it printed out of the system.

3           We don't have anything that pops up that

4 says hey, it worked, worked as planned.  It printed

5 as it should have.  Instead it tells us if something

6 has happened where it doesn't print.

7       Q.  So your testimony is that there is no

8 proof of printing?

9       A.  I would say our system shows that it

10 printed out correctly because there was no error

11 message.

12       Q.  But you don't know that firsthand

13 because your lawyer said it keeps no record of proof

14 of printing on the interrogatories?

15       A.  I guess I'm assuming you say proof of

16 printing that you're looking for a screen that says

17 it printed correctly.  We do not have a screen that

18 says I printed correctly.

19       Q.  So I'm not looking for assumption, I'm

20 looking for you to answer the question.  Do you have

21 any proof -- that record of proof of printing?

22       A.  Our system shows that it printed.  There

23 was no error message that showed --

24       Q.  No, it shows if there's an error.  It

25 doesn't show if there's -- printed.  There could be a
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1 difference.  If there's a glitch and it didn't read

2 right, there's a difference.

3           Okay.  Do you have any proof that these

4 things were mailed?

5       A.  When it goes through our printing

6 process it automatically goes through our mailing

7 process as well.  It goes in to be mailed.

8       Q.  But do you have proof that it actually

9 left your facilities?

10       A.  I do not have anything that shows on

11 paper that it left our facility, no.

12       Q.  Okay.  So you don't know whether or not

13 it was mailed to me?  You have no proof of that?

14       A.  Our system shows that it was sent to

15 you.

16       Q.  No.  You have no proof that it left your

17 facility and it was mailed through the U.S. postal

18 service and given to me?

19           MR. BENZA:  Objection.

20           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Overruled.

21           THE WITNESS:  Again, I would say with

22 this, we get an error message or something pops up

23 when it does not work correctly.  So being that we

24 did not get an error message on it, this would have

25 gone through our normal process and sent out the
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1 door.  But I do not have anything that states I have

2 printed or I have been sent out the door.

3 By Ms. Bidwell:

4       Q.  Okay.  So you have offered no error

5 messages to this hearing today, have you?  You've

6 offered no proof of error messages, I am to take your

7 word?

8       A.  There was no error message that showed

9 on these things that printed out or were sent.

10       Q.  So you're not offering a list of error

11 messages to this hearing today to prove that?

12           MR. BENZA:  She just answered that.

13           MS. BIDWELL:  No, she didn't.

14           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Answer the question.

15           THE WITNESS:  We did not see any error

16 messages that popped up with the mailing of the

17 letters.

18 By Ms. Bidwell:

19       Q.  Do the error messages print something

20 out?

21       A.  The error messages are in our system,

22 and I believe we can print out the error message or

23 do a screen shot of an error message if it does show

24 up.

25       Q.  So you didn't do any screen shots or
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1 print out any error messages to bring here today to

2 show that there was not an error message to me?

3       A.  You are correct, I did not print out a

4 blank screen showing the absence of any error

5 message.

6       Q.  You didn't print out any error messages

7 to show that I was not included on it, that's the

8 point?

9       A.  I guess I'm confused.  There were no

10 error messages on this account, so there would be no

11 error messages to print.

12       Q.  I guess what I'm looking for, is there a

13 spreadsheet that has all the error messages to show

14 that I'm not included on that account?

15       A.  I'm sorry, that you're not included on

16 the account?

17       Q.  My account is not included in that list

18 of error messages.

19       A.  I don't believe there is a spreadsheet,

20 I believe it's in our system and it's tied to each

21 specific account, my understanding.  But I do have

22 some limited knowledge on what exactly the error

23 message would look like in the system.

24       Q.  Okay.  Do you have any proof of receipt,

25 that I did receive those letters?
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1       A.  No.

2       Q.  Okay.  If I have never received these

3 letters, how would I have known to contact AEP?  What

4 is the expectation I should have known to contact

5 you?

6       A.  I would expect that after a few months

7 of not receiving a bill, as well as receiving your

8 deposit check back, that a phone call would have been

9 made inquiring what was occurring on your account and

10 why you haven't received a bill to date.

11       Q.  So the assumption is I should have

12 followed up with you, you should not have followed up

13 further with me?

14       A.  I think the fact is we did send two

15 different types of communications to you, and at that

16 point I would expect that you should follow up with

17 us.

18       Q.  So how many phone calls did AEP make to

19 me regarding this fraud alert?

20       A.  We do have one recorded phone call that

21 did not allow us to leave any contact information.

22       Q.  Okay.  So would it surprise you if I

23 said that I had made eight phone calls and a lengthy

24 letter to the CEO before I could resolve this fraud

25 alert problem?
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1       A.  No.

2       Q.  That doesn't surprise you?

3       A.  No.

4       Q.  So would you say then in the normal

5 course of business that that's the standard practice,

6 that it takes many phone calls to satisfy the

7 requirements of a fraud alert and a leasing ID

8 verification?

9       A.  That is not typical.  Generally our

10 offices would contact you to finalize the account to

11 finish the --

12       Q.  So we heard some testimony on these CDs,

13 the recorded calls, where multiple calls were made to

14 your customer service department and no one there was

15 willing to transfer me to the fraud verification

16 department -- what did you call them, you called

17 them --

18       A.  Direct collection.

19       Q.  Direct collections.  Do your service

20 account representatives have the ability to transfer

21 calls?

22       A.  I believe so, yes.

23       Q.  So can you explain why I wasn't offered

24 the opportunity to transfer me to verify it to get it

25 set up, because I had expressed that I had life
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1 saving medication?

2       A.  Our systems are very automated.  There's

3 a set process that it goes through.  So when you

4 called both the first time and the second time to

5 start service, it does not know beforehand or during

6 the call that you have a fraud alert on your account.

7           So again, the first time that -- on

8 October 8th it clicked that fraud alert, it was sent

9 to direct collections, tried to contact you, and was

10 unsuccessful.

11           The second time you called to

12 re-establish service on March 20th, I believe, at

13 that point the customer service agent on the phone

14 with you doesn't know if you have a fraud alert on

15 your account at that time because it hasn't triggered

16 that flag yet, so they wouldn't know to transfer you

17 over to that department.

18           But our process is very automated, so

19 the minute she tried to start service for you it then

20 does work you out to our direct collections team in

21 order to accomplish that task to the correct

22 department.

23       Q.  Okay.  Let me ask you this:  Does your

24 service account representatives who I called at the

25 service customer number, do they have anywhere in
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1 their script or a screen where they are supposed

2 to -- they could have, or could it be added that they

3 could ask have you ever filed a fraud alert or an

4 identity theft?

5       A.  They are -- our call center reps are

6 under strict timeline guidelines per the rules.  They

7 have to respond to calls in a very quick time manner,

8 so we try to make sure those calls are done

9 efficiently, effectively, and very quickly.

10       Q.  Yeah, I heard the length of those calls.

11 It's not always very efficient when one is telling me

12 about her boyfriend who is nine years younger than

13 her and what they have to say.

14           So my question is, why can't a service

15 agent ask, "Have you ever filed a fraud alert or an

16 identity theft," a simple question?  If the answer is

17 yes, why can't they ask the customer -- or tell the

18 customer you will be receiving, in all likelihood,

19 further information you'll have to answer to in a

20 timely fashion, to alert them?  Why couldn't that be

21 done?

22       A.  I believe it may make the process more

23 confusing.  People may not remember having a fraud

24 alert on their own information 20 years ago.  They

25 may think there's another requirement.  They may be
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1 looking for something that may never come.

2           I believe the process we have as the way

3 it stands is, again, efficient, and does what it

4 should the right way.

5       Q.  Well, I think it failed for me.  So I'm

6 going to have you -- Let's see.  I want to go down to

7 Page 4 of 18 on your document.  So on Lines 5, 6, 7,

8 it states, "AEP had no reasonable means of knowing

9 anyone was staying at the disconnected apartment."

10           I have put into evidence Exhibit 0,

11 which is the kilowatt usage.  Have you seen that?

12       A.  Your specific Exhibit O?  I do not have

13 it in front of me.

14           MS. BIDWELL:  He has -- I gave you O.  I

15 don't have an extra copy to --

16           MR. BENZA:  Michele, it's MLJ 8.

17 By Ms. Bidwell:

18       Q.  Do you have it?

19       A.  Yes.

20       Q.  Okay.  So I see here that in October it

21 says the kilowatt usage was 493, November it was 641,

22 December 790, January was 1,149, February was 1,224,

23 March was 734.

24           Now, you have made claims in your

25 statement that you had no knowledge that anybody was
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1 staying there.

2       A.  Uh-huh.

3       Q.  You have made statements that you

4 believe there's explanations for why that kilowatt

5 usage could be so high; a realtor showing the

6 apartment, okay?  So I want to let you know there was

7 no realtor.

8           Are you saying to me that you believe

9 that an empty apartment can show the same kilowatt

10 usage as one that is being lived in every day by a

11 single person?

12       A.  I'm saying that I've seen circumstances

13 where we do get complaints from empty houses or

14 apartments where realtors will go in and crank up the

15 heat because it's very cold, and they accidentally

16 leave the heater or air conditioning on very high or

17 low depending on which one, and they will produce a

18 high amount of kilowatt-hour usage without somebody

19 actually living in the house.

20           I can't give you a specific cutoff of

21 what we think, you know, at a certain level somebody

22 would be occupying the apartment or not.

23       Q.  Would it surprise you that this kilowatt

24 usage reflects that I had a washer, dryer,

25 refrigerator, dishwasher, multiple appliances in the
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1 kitchen?

2       A.  I can't argue with that.  I'm not sure

3 how efficient or, you know, what kind of appliances

4 they are, if they are energy efficiency type

5 appliances or what you have, but it would not

6 surprise me.

7       Q.  Okay.  I find that hard to believe.  So

8 the situation where you site that there's realtors

9 that come in, are you saying to me that you believe

10 there were realtors who were involved in leasing

11 activities at this apartment complex?

12       A.  I was giving an example or an

13 illustration of things I've seen in past on other

14 customer's accounts, where a leasing agent may go

15 in -- I've personally been in before where it's been

16 cold and they crank up the heat really high, so that

17 way it provides a more comfortable environment while

18 you're looking at an empty unit.

19       Q.  Now, do you believe this kilowatt usage

20 could actually represent one person living there?

21       A.  It could, yes.

22       Q.  Okay.  Are there monthly meter readers

23 who physically come onto the apartment premises to

24 read meters?

25       A.  We do have monthly meter readers that do
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1 read meters, as well as we do have meters that have

2 radio frequency where they can drive by and pick up

3 the meter reading remotely.

4       Q.  So would it surprise you that they would

5 have to come onto the property, because it was a big

6 complex, and actually drive by my building to be able

7 to read my meter, if it did have radio frequency?

8       A.  It would not surprise me, no.

9       Q.  Okay.  So was there an opportunity for

10 communication to be delivered to my door by the meter

11 reader?  They were already on the premises.

12       A.  I guess the meter readers don't know our

13 billing activity, they are there just to read the

14 meters.  And that's their only function at that time,

15 unless we send them out for a disconnection activity.

16       Q.  So the meter readers also do the

17 disconnect?

18       A.  We generally have -- meter readers will

19 go out and only read the meters for that day.  We may

20 use the same type of personnel to do disconnect on

21 that day.

22       Q.  Are your meter readers capable of

23 getting out of the car, walking inside, not even

24 climbing the steps and putting a communication on the

25 door?
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1       A.  I believe our meter readers' functions

2 are to read the meter when they are reading them.  I

3 don't think that they have any other responsibilities

4 for customer communication unless they see something

5 odd or they can't get to the meters that day.

6       Q.  Are you aware there was a leasing office

7 on my premises?

8       A.  I'm not.  It would not surprise me

9 though.

10       Q.  Would there have been an opportunity

11 that if there is consistent wattage going up at a

12 facility, at a location, that a meter reader could be

13 instructed to ask the leasing office is somebody

14 living there?

15       A.  I believe that would add a lot of extra

16 time if we did that for -- you know, sent them in to

17 talk to a leasing agent for every customer at the

18 premise to ask if every apartment was occupied.

19       Q.  It doesn't have to be for every

20 apartment.  What about for an apartment that you're

21 saying is unoccupied and kilowatt usage is being

22 used, and it's one in a building?

23       A.  I'm not sure if the meter readers --

24 they read with a hand-held unit.  I'm not sure what

25 information they have in front of them at that time
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1 to know --

2       Q.  So it's possible that's not their job

3 responsibility now, but is it impossible that they

4 are incapable of doing that job?

5       A.  Is it impossible that a meter reader is

6 incapable of talking to someone and leaving notice?

7 No.

8       Q.  Okay.  Is that meter reader capable of

9 dropping off paperwork to the property management to

10 verify my lease ID, because multiple phone calls said

11 my apartment manager -- that property needed to fill

12 out paperwork?

13       A.  I believe adding additional requirements

14 on to the meter reader's job in order to sort out

15 paperwork and deliver it to the correct address would

16 add a lot of extra burden on our meter reader.

17       Q.  So it would have been a better

18 opportunity to have further communication?

19       A.  Is that a question?

20       Q.  Uh-huh.  What would have been a better

21 opportunity to have further communication with an

22 apartment that you're questioning whether or not

23 somebody is actually living there, or is it vacant?

24       A.  I'm sorry.  I guess I didn't understand

25 the question.  Are you asking me a better opportunity
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1 to have a meter reader --

2       Q.  Is there a better opportunity somewhere

3 within AEP that communication could -- somebody could

4 have reached out to the person or find out if

5 somebody was living in an apartment?

6       A.  I believe we did communicate, I think

7 through a phone call and a letter.

8       Q.  And did I tell you that I received that

9 letter or not?

10       A.  You did mention that -- you state you

11 did not receive the letter.

12       Q.  Did I receive that phone call or not?

13       A.  Our recorded phone call does show that

14 we were not able to get through to you, nor leave a

15 message to call us back.

16       Q.  So would there have been another

17 opportunity that AEP could have done?

18       A.  I guess.

19       Q.  Could AEP have mailed communication to

20 my property management to verify my lease

21 identification as implied by these phone calls?

22       A.  I'm sorry, I missed -- was it could or

23 can --

24       Q.  Could AEP have mailed communication to

25 my property management to verify my lease ID
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1 verification as was implied by the phone call from

2 Liz?

3       A.  Although the phone call by Liz stated

4 that you needed to have something filled out through

5 your lease -- through your property rental, you did

6 not, you just needed a fraud alert, which needed --

7 which you had to answer questions for.  So your

8 leasing agent is not required to give us any

9 additional information.

10       Q.  So in other words, I was told improperly

11 on that voice phone call that we heard?  I was

12 improperly instructed by your AEP representative

13 regarding what my requirements would be?

14       A.  Most of our lease -- when our agency

15 lease and ID requirement -- most of them do require

16 lease verification through a landlord.

17           In this scenario, that was not the case.

18 It was handled through a separate department who

19 would know exactly what was required for your

20 specific case.

21       Q.  So I was told wrong by your AEP

22 representative?

23       A.  About having your leasing agent have to

24 fill out paperwork, that piece is incorrect, yes.

25       Q.  Okay.  You know, would it surprise you
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1 that I had curtains up at my apartment, and drapes,

2 and a dog who stared out the full-length door to my

3 apartment all day long, because I had a full-length

4 door to the outside of my apartment -- would that not

5 be a clue that somebody was living there?  Because

6 I'm pretty sure I'm not going to leave my dog alone.

7       A.  I believe our meter readers are not

8 generally looking in windows for customers.  They

9 have gotten in trouble in the past for being, quote,

10 unquote, you know, staring into people's apartments.

11 So I believe they are instructed to get in, read the

12 meters, and get out.

13       Q.  How much was the bill for for that full

14 length of time from October the 8th to March 20th?

15       A.  For October until February there was a

16 $680.73 bill generated.

17       Q.  And the next day?

18       A.  So -- for March usage.  So again, the

19 680.73 was for October through February usage.  We

20 did have a March meter reading bill also generated

21 for an additional $114.66.

22       Q.  Okay.  Would you say it's common

23 practice for AEP to leave electricity on for that

24 length of time to accumulate that much money in

25 arrearage from a single -- I don't want to say
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1 homeowner, but a single person living in an

2 apartment, not like a business?

3       A.  Generally, no.

4       Q.  So you find that to be unusual?

5       A.  There was some unusual circumstances

6 about that January and February as well, and why we

7 did not get around to disconnecting a little sooner.

8       Q.  Why -- what were they?

9       A.  So in January and February of 2015 we

10 had an extremely cold winter.  I believe -- I'm not

11 sure if that was called a polar vortex or the second

12 year of the polar vortex, because the temperatures

13 were so low consistently throughout these two months,

14 a lot of these we were keeping in both our meter

15 readers and our disconnect personnel for their

16 safety.  So we were not sending them out into the

17 field to both read meters and disconnect customers.

18           So a lot of people, during those two

19 months, were estimated bills, and also were not

20 disconnected during those two months in order for our

21 employee's safety.

22       Q.  Was mine an estimated bill?

23       A.  I don't have the bills in front of me in

24 order to answer that question for a specific month.

25       Q.  Okay.  I'll drop it.  Is there a
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1 standard business practice within your industry that

2 converts disconnected electric service back into the

3 name of property management especially in places

4 where it's a rental?

5       A.  My understanding is that there is a

6 contract that we will take out with either the

7 landlord or the rental agency in order to allow that

8 to happen.  It's not something that we automatically

9 do, it is a contract between us and the landlords.

10       Q.  Okay.  Is there one of those that was in

11 place when I was living there?

12       A.  To my understanding, when you first

13 started either of these, there was not something to

14 that effect in place.

15       Q.  But something occurred later that put

16 that into place?

17       A.  I believe there is one now that would

18 put it back into the name of the landlord.

19       Q.  Do you know the date that that was

20 signed?

21       A.  I do not.

22       Q.  Okay.  So we don't know when that was?

23       A.  No.

24       Q.  Okay.  So my assumption, when I said

25 that I thought it was probably still in the owner's



Proceedings

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481

177

1 name since I never got a bill, that might not be a

2 completely unreasonable assumption?

3       A.  I agree with that.

4       Q.  Okay.  Why do you do this, these -- this

5 practice of turning it back into the owner's name?

6 Is it because you want someone to be continually

7 responsible for electricity at a specific address?

8       A.  My understanding is it would be out of

9 convenience for the landlord.  Also for them to make

10 sure that, you know, they have electric throughout

11 the entire time, it doesn't go vacated.  They could

12 have heat during the winter so the pipes don't

13 freeze.  I think it's a contract between us and the

14 landlord for their convenience.

15       Q.  Did AEP have any other options to verify

16 the property was occupied?

17       A.  Under our current process?

18       Q.  No.  Do you have other options that you

19 did not utilize?

20       A.  I mean, if you're asking if there's a

21 lot of things we could have done?  Potentially, but

22 in our current process that's not what we do.

23       Q.  Is that process written down in the

24 policy?

25       A.  For fraud alerts?  Again, I don't have
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1 that process of how we handle fraud alerts to see if

2 somebody -- when occupying it or --

3       Q.  What I want to know is not specific to

4 fraud alerts.  Does AEP have -- did they have any

5 other options to verify the property was occupied?

6       A.  One way we verify if it's occupied is

7 knocking on a door.

8       Q.  Okay.

9       A.  But if no one is there to answer, we

10 could only assume that there's no one there, and we

11 didn't get an answer at that time either.

12       Q.  So that's an option.  But AEP chose not

13 to do that, correct?

14       A.  That -- I don't know if they knocked on

15 the door or tried to knock on the door the day of

16 disconnect.

17       Q.  Okay.  Did it ever occur to AEP to

18 utilize the e-mail that I had on record with AEP when

19 I established service on October 8th?

20       A.  Our call center agents don't use that.

21 The direct collections who do the checking with the

22 fraud alert, I'm not sure if they have a system set

23 up in order for them to do e-mail to customers or

24 not.

25       Q.  So you're not sure if AEP's system
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1 allows for those employees to write an e-mail and

2 send it?

3       A.  I'm not sure if they have a system set

4 up in order that if one of them sends an e-mail to

5 you and, say they go on a vacation for a week, that

6 the other employee would be able to share that work

7 queue management system and be able to respond to

8 e-mails.

9       Q.  Okay.  So the question now becomes does

10 one employee in the call collect -- whatever you

11 called it -- what did you call it, direct

12 collections -- have the ability to e-mail me and send

13 me a notice that hey, we need to hear from you

14 because we have got this fraud alert?

15       A.  I'm not sure if that's into their work

16 process.

17       Q.  So it might not be in your work process,

18 but do they have the ability to do it?

19       A.  I'm not sure if there's any way for them

20 to -- do they have e-mail that they e-mail other

21 company folks?  Yes.  But do they have a way to track

22 that to show that that e-mail was sent?

23           I'm not sure if they have that ability,

24 and that might be why it's not in the process.  I'm

25 not sure about that at all.
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1       Q.  Are you aware that e-mails have the

2 ability to be flagged when they are read so that the

3 sender will know when it was read?

4       A.  I'm aware of that, yes.

5       Q.  So the process that I'm suggesting that

6 would have taken care of this is they could have sent

7 me an e-mail saying there's a fraud alert, not just

8 the generic hey, we need to talk to you, but a fraud

9 alert and your account is going to be closed

10 unless -- and your employee could have sent it and

11 could have gotten an alert that I opened up that

12 e-mail and received it?

13           Do you think that would have been

14 helpful to have stopped whatever was going on since

15 you have no proof that anything ever printed or was

16 delivered to me?

17       A.  I'm sorry.  That was a very long

18 question.  Can I have that reread?

19           (Question read back.)

20           THE WITNESS:  Again, I'm not sure

21 what -- I don't have the fraud -- I don't have direct

22 collections policies in front of me to say whether

23 they can send e-mails or whether they can track them

24 or the system is set up for them to do that.  You

25 know, I know they can send e-mails.
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1 By Ms. Bidwell:

2       Q.  Okay.  Do you think that would have been

3 helpful in allowing me to have another opportunity at

4 notice and at very little cost to AEP?

5       A.  I can't assume that is low cost.  I'm

6 not sure if they would have to set up any special

7 systems.  Again, do I think that could have been

8 another option?  Perhaps.  But I know it wasn't in

9 the process at this time.

10       Q.  Okay.  Do you have a process for these

11 fraud alerts to send any of these letters by any kind

12 of mailing instructions, like signature required, any

13 of those things so that you have proof that I

14 actually received it?

15       A.  I don't believe we do that, no.

16       Q.  And why would that be?

17       A.  There's initial cost for those type of

18 things, and so any costs are typically borne by all

19 the ratepayers.  So in order to do that, again, at

20 that time if we were to send you a certified letter,

21 you weren't a customer of record at that point, those

22 costs would be spread amongst all ratepayers and

23 would add to the rates of our customers.  We would

24 have to get an approval in order to do a change of

25 process like that.
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1       Q.  So do you agree that a $3 expense for

2 AEP to send a letter that I actually have to sign for

3 guaranteeing that I would have gotten it, or not got

4 it, you would have had your proof, versus my loss of

5 $3,500 in medicine and food would have been a

6 small -- certainly a viable option, 3 bucks, 3,500?

7       A.  I do not agree with that.  We have 1.5

8 million customers in our service footprint.  You add

9 $3 to each one of those, even -- you know, that can

10 add to be a huge cost after a while that each

11 ratepayer would have to pay for.

12       Q.  What if that was sent as a last

13 alternative after the phone call, after the first

14 letter, and you still did not get a response, it

15 would not be 1.5 million people?

16       A.  It's still a cost that we would have to

17 pass on to all our ratepayers.

18       Q.  $3 would have saved my medicine.

19       A.  Yeah.

20       Q.  Okay.  On Page 6 out of 18, very last

21 line, it says I only provided one phone number and

22 declined to provide an alternative number.  Did it

23 occur to you that I only had one phone and that was

24 the number I provided to AEP?

25       A.  Yes, I agree you could possibly only
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1 have one phone.

2       Q.  Okay.  Is that an uncommon practice in

3 today?

4       A.  I'm not sure what our statistics are for

5 people providing more than one phone number at our

6 call center.

7       Q.  Do you know people personally that only

8 have one phone?

9       A.  Yes.

10       Q.  More than one?

11       A.  Yes.

12       Q.  Okay.  So maybe it's a little more

13 common these days, people don't want to pay for a

14 cellphone and house phone, would you agree?

15       A.  Sure.

16       Q.  Okay.  Does it also occur to AEP that

17 not every working person actually has access to a

18 work phone or they are not allowed to call while on

19 work duty?

20       A.  Yes.

21       Q.  Okay.  So as I explained before, I have

22 over 30 classrooms that I could have been in and

23 there wasn't a phone available for me.  I wasn't

24 being difficult.  But it was kind of very subtlety

25 implied in your testimony here that I was only
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1 allowing one phone number to be given.

2           So let's go down to Line 5 of Page 7 of

3 18.  I want you to look at those exhibits, A, B, and

4 C, which is the letters from the October 9th and

5 10th.  Can you show me in any of these three letters

6 that clearly identifies I would fail to complete the

7 customer application if I did not respond?

8           MR. BENZA:  Can we refer to those

9 letters in terms of what exhibits they are on

10 Michele's direct testimony, please, instead of what

11 they were to your exhibits?

12           MS. BIDWELL:  Can you tell me what those

13 numbers are?

14           MR. BENZA:  I believe they are MLJ 4

15 through 6.

16 By Ms. Bidwell:

17       Q.  So it's two letters from October 9 and

18 one from the 10th.  So I want you to clearly look at

19 those and I want you to identify where it says in

20 there that if I didn't respond I would fail to

21 complete a customer application.

22       A.  So, again, the first two letters sent on

23 October 9th were strictly about the deposit, and

24 those were treated specifically just about the

25 deposit, so those two don't address those issues,
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1 that was a system generated letter.

2           MLJ 4, which was dated October 10th,

3 states that we do need additional information in

4 order to complete your request.  While it does not

5 say Experian specifically, it does say we need

6 additional information.

7       Q.  Does it say in any of those three

8 letters if I didn't do what they were asking of me,

9 that I would fail to complete the customer

10 application, those words specifically?

11       A.  Verbatim, those words are not in here.

12       Q.  Is customer application --

13           MR. BENZA:  Objection.  She's

14 interrupted the witness.

15           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  I'll allow her to

16 ask the question.

17 By Ms. Bidwell:

18       Q.  You had a -- there was a lilt in your

19 voice that led me to believe it was a question.  So

20 I'm clarifying.  Is there any wording in any of those

21 three letters that mention that I would fail to

22 complete the customer application if I didn't

23 respond?

24       A.  Yes.  It says on MLJ 4, "Failure to

25 contact AEP by October 19th of 2014 will result in
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1 the cancellation of your request for service without

2 further notice."

3       Q.  Okay.  Where does it say "customer

4 application"?  It doesn't say it, does it?

5       A.  I take that cancellation for your

6 request for service means your customer application.

7       Q.  Okay.  You work in the industry.  I'm

8 little Jane Bidwell down the street, never been in

9 electrical power of any kind.  It does not say

10 customer application to me, and you can't provide the

11 wording in your letter; is that correct?

12       A.  It says request for service.

13       Q.  It does not say customer application.

14 The word application is nowhere in that document; is

15 that correct?

16           MR. BENZA:  She already answered the

17 question, your Honor.

18           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  I'll allow the

19 Complainant to clarify the question.

20 By Ms. Bidwell:

21       Q.  Is the word customer application --

22 those two words together, are they anywhere in any of

23 the sentences on that paper?

24       A.  Verbatimly the words customer

25 application are not on the letter.
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1       Q.  So you're telling me as Jane Bidwell,

2 who is not involved in any kind of utility company,

3 should have associated those words you said to mean

4 customer application?

5       A.  I would assume that a request for

6 service would be reasonable to assume that's your

7 customer application for service.

8       Q.  I never heard application in any of my

9 phone calls where I was calling to establish service.

10 I didn't get that letter.  How would I have known

11 complete the customer application?  How would I have

12 known?

13       A.  Through this letter.

14       Q.  But I didn't get the letter.

15       A.  Or by the phone call that we --

16       Q.  That I didn't get.  So how would I have

17 known?  Take the letter, and the phone call is gone.

18 You've both established I didn't get them.  I know I

19 didn't get them.  How would I have known customer

20 application?

21       A.  Again, after not receiving a bill after

22 several months and getting your customer deposit

23 back.

24           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, she said that

25 she never received this letter, and now she's asking
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1 questions about how the content of the letter is

2 confusing to her.  I don't understand how that's a

3 relevant question.

4           MS. BIDWELL:  The letter came a year

5 later almost.

6 By Ms. Bidwell:

7       Q.  So you're telling me repeatedly,

8 customer application.  Where would I have gotten

9 that?  Even if I had gotten the letter, it still

10 doesn't say that.  The letter never came.  How would

11 I have known customer application was not completed?

12       A.  Are you assuming you got the letter at

13 this point, or you didn't get the letter at this

14 point?

15       Q.  I didn't get the letter, how would I

16 have known?

17       A.  Again, there was no bills generated.

18       Q.  Does the bill say anywhere on there?

19 You have the bills.  Do they say customer

20 application?

21       A.  No.

22       Q.  Even the one that I paid for the 683 for

23 October through March doesn't say customer

24 application.

25       A.  No.
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1       Q.  Okay.  So if there's a customer

2 application, where would I find this information?  Is

3 it on AEP's website?

4       A.  I'm taking that customer application

5 means you're applying for service.  And so --

6       Q.  You're assuming.

7       A.  Yes.  So the phrase to me, "customer

8 application", means applying for service.  If you're

9 using it as something else, then I may have to reword

10 that.

11       Q.  I think the problem here is you're

12 assuming that I talk in the same language as people

13 who work for a utility, okay?  I don't.  But if you

14 want to talk about the medical language you probably

15 wouldn't understand that either, but I can be all

16 over that.

17           So the problem is I don't know what

18 customer application is as an outsider to the

19 industry for utilities.  So what, would I find that

20 explanation on your webpage?

21       A.  On our webpage you'll find how to apply

22 for service.  I'm not sure if it uses the exact

23 phrase customer application.

24       Q.  Okay.  Is it in the media somewhere that

25 I'm not familiar to go look at?
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1       A.  Can you define what you mean by "media"?

2       Q.  Newspapers, articles, advertising?

3       A.  I'm not sure.

4       Q.  Okay.  Is it mentioned in my initial

5 phone call of October the 8th, customer application?

6       A.  I don't have the phone call in front of

7 me to review.  Do you have -- can I have that,

8 please?

9           MR. BENZA:  Which phone call are you

10 referring to?

11           THE WITNESS:  Wait, it's on my --

12           MR. BENZA:  Depends on which phone call

13 you're referring to.

14           MS. BIDWELL:  October 8th.  Did you

15 transcribe that one?

16           MR. BENZA:  Yeah.  The initial one.

17           (Pause.)

18           THE WITNESS:  The transcribed phone

19 recording on October 8th, the word customer

20 application is not in that phone call.

21 By Ms. Bidwell:

22       Q.  Okay.  So how would I have known this

23 was a customer application, then?  The verbiage isn't

24 used to me.  It appears to be specific to your

25 organization.  How would I have known?
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1           MR. BENZA:  Objection.  Your Honor,

2 she's the one using customer application.  In this

3 context, if you look through the entire transcript

4 and Ms. Jeunelot testified on there -- nowhere on

5 there does it say customer application.  It refers to

6 opening a new account, Page 2, Page 7 and 8.

7           Ms. Bidwell is talking about turning on

8 service.  We're fighting over verbiage and she's just

9 using a term that she pulled from our direct

10 testimony, and is now saying that this is somehow

11 related to the process in general, which it's not.

12 She's making an equation that doesn't exist, and

13 she's badgering our witness over it.

14           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  I think we have well

15 done on this point.

16           MS. BIDWELL:  I want to read something

17 out of her direct testimony.  On Page 7 of 18, and it

18 is Line 5, it says, "Ms. Bidwell failed to complete

19 the customer application for service.  Ms. Bidwell

20 never completed a questionnaire provided by AEP Ohio

21 by Experian prompted by a fraud alert."

22           She is using the term application,

23 customer application.  She then goes down on Line 12,

24 of Page 7 of 18, and says, "Ms. Bidwell's application

25 for service."  I keep hearing the word application
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1 throughout her testimony, but application was never

2 used with me in any of the recorded calls, except

3 after -- I believe, after they disconnected me.  So

4 how would I have known when I called to set up

5 service that I was merely applying?

6           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, she literally

7 just said exactly what I said, and that she's just

8 pulling the word application from our direct

9 testimony, which is a synonym for request of service

10 or synonym for opening an account.

11           We killed this point, and I don't think

12 badgering Ms. Jeunelot further about this is going to

13 get us anywhere or produce any sort of probative

14 testimony.

15           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  I do think it's time

16 to move on, whether it's a customer application,

17 request for service, or some other verbiage.  Let's

18 move on.

19           MS. BIDWELL:  I want to make note, I

20 think they made it very clear that there was a

21 customer application, and I didn't complete it and

22 that's why they terminated me.  That is throughout

23 their documentation, I didn't complete the customer

24 application.

25           So I don't think it's just a synonym,



Proceedings

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481

193

1 it's actually something that they feel they have

2 reason to discontinue me because I didn't complete

3 the application.  And yet I was never told I was

4 filling out an application.  So I think it's

5 extremely pertinent.

6           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  I think you made

7 your point.

8           MR. BENZA:  Can we strike that from the

9 record as well?  Because that was just testimony.

10           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  I'll allow it to

11 stay in.

12           MR. BENZA:  Okay.  Thank you, your

13 Honor.

14 By Ms. Bidwell:

15       Q.  Was the word Experian ever mentioned in

16 any of the phone calls to me, that this fraud alert

17 was triggered by Experian?  Because I wasn't hearing

18 that.

19       A.  Not that I remember.

20       Q.  Okay.  On Page 8 of 18 you testified

21 there was two letters on October 9th and one letter

22 on October 10th.  So you have put into your testimony

23 on Page 8 of 18 that October 8th, when I called in to

24 establish service, the same day I initiated the call

25 AEP was notified of a lease and identification
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1 requirement for Ms. Bidwell because of the fraud

2 alert.

3           So on the 8th you were made aware of the

4 fraud alert, but in the letters from the 9th and on

5 the 10th, you never included that.

6       A.  The letters on the 9th, we never

7 included that because those were generated from the

8 initial call regarding the deposit.

9           For the letter on the 10th, that was the

10 one in regards to the fraud alert asking you to call

11 us back because we needed more information.

12       Q.  But you never said fraud alert?

13       A.  That's correct.  It did not specifically

14 say the word fraud alert.

15       Q.  All right.  So on Page 11 of 18, on

16 Lines 8, 9 and 10, you state in your testimony there

17 was nothing else within reason that AEP Ohio could

18 have done to ensure that Ms. Bidwell received the

19 letter.  Okay.  What about second phone call, could

20 that have been done?

21           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, I believe we

22 have already covered this as well.  We have talked

23 about every single possible thing that could ever

24 have been done.  The meter reader could have saw her

25 dog.  The meter reader could have walked up and
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1 looked into her window.

2           I think she suggested at one point the

3 meter reader could have drove up to her doorstep, the

4 meter reader could have started asking questions at

5 the leasing office, the meter reader could have saw

6 from the street that she had her light on or

7 something.

8           I mean, we have covered every possible

9 hypothetical scenario where possibly the meter reader

10 could have done something, and now she's asking

11 another thread of that -- of that basic point, and I

12 don't think that going further is going to provide

13 any more probative material.  We understand what her

14 point is.

15           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  I'll sustain the

16 objection.

17           MS. BIDWELL:  Okay.

18 By Ms. Bidwell:

19       Q.  Page 11 out of 18, Line 21 you state

20 that, "AEP Ohio generally leaves power on between

21 customers at locations for convenience of the

22 customer and cost savings benefits.  For example, an

23 apartment complex such as Ms. Bidwell lived, if

24 customers are moving in and out within a short period

25 of time the cost to send a meter technician to
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1 disconnect the meters and then reconnect is not a

2 cost we want to pass on to customers.  In addition,

3 new customers moving in would have to wait one to

4 three business days to get service connected, and

5 many customers do not plan that far ahead."

6           So just to clarify, AEP leaves the power

7 on in what they believe to be an unoccupied structure

8 for six months as a convenience to a customer and a

9 cost savings benefit; is that correct?

10       A.  The situation is atypical because of the

11 initial month where we weren't sending out a lot of

12 people to disconnect.  Typically we don't wait six

13 months to disconnect customers.

14       Q.  And the cost of this electric power you

15 testified was 795.39.  Can you explain again what the

16 cost saving benefit is?  Because if $3 is

17 inappropriate for AEP to send me a letter requiring

18 my signature, I'm a little confused about the 795, to

19 leave it on in between customers.

20       A.  So as I mentioned before, it is atypical

21 that we would have left this on that long.  Again,

22 with the January and February cold snap we had, we

23 were not sending a lot of our meter readers and our

24 disconnect folks out in the field in order to do

25 that.
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1           So I think looking at that whole amount

2 is not a typical amount to the value.  What we do say

3 though is if a customer calls in to disconnect

4 service, which was not the case unless we had -- the

5 apartment agency had it in their name, no one called

6 to disconnect service out of their name for

7 convenience of customers.

8           We don't have to dispatch a meter

9 technician to disconnect service and possibly have

10 someone apply for service the next day, the cost of

11 doing that for each meter is actually a tariff charge

12 to go out there and reconnect and disconnect that

13 meter.

14           It is a set -- a typical set fee that

15 would be an expense we would have to pass on to all

16 ratepayers if that was something we decided to do.

17       Q.  So do you have any idea what a

18 technician, a meter technician, makes an hour,

19 ballpark?

20       A.  I do not.

21           MR. BENZA:  Irrelevant, your Honor.

22 She's asking about the salary of our meter

23 technicians.  What does it have to do with this case?

24           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Objection sustained.

25 By Ms. Bidwell:
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1       Q.  Would you say that it is a good estimate

2 that it's less than 795.39 for an hour?

3           MR. BENZA:  To the extent the objection

4 needs to be extended?

5           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Objection sustained.

6 By Ms. Bidwell:

7       Q.  Are you aware of ORC 4933.121?

8       A.  Yes, I am.

9       Q.  And that you're not supposed to

10 terminate service between the dates of 11-15 to 4-13?

11           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, can she see the

12 statute, or is she just supposed to memorize what the

13 statute says?

14           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Do you have a copy?

15           MS. BIDWELL:  Actually, it's included in

16 my initial complaint.

17           MR. BENZA:  Can you please hand her a

18 copy of that?  Also, your Honor, what I'm looking at

19 from -- on Page 3, it's not the complete statute,

20 it's her quoting the complete statute.  So how do we

21 even -- I don't want our witness to be looking at an

22 alleged quote in the complaint in the statute,

23 instead of looking at the actual statute itself.

24           MS. BIDWELL:  She's already testified

25 she's familiar with 4933.121.
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1           MR. BENZA:  Right, she's familiar with

2 the actual statute, not a supposed quote by you in a

3 complaint.

4           MS. BIDWELL:  Supposed quote?

5           MR. BENZA:  Right, you're supposedly

6 quoting it.  I don't have the statute next to me to

7 say that for sure that's what it is, so I don't want

8 her reading something that you quoted and then us

9 assuming that that's what the statute says.

10           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  With that objection

11 I will sustain.  I want to make sure that she has the

12 correct verbiage in front of her.

13           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, we have it on

14 the phone right here.  We could just give it to

15 Ms. Jeunelot as far as the statute reference.

16           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Ms. Bidwell, counsel

17 has the statute on the phone.

18           MS. BIDWELL:  That's fine.  That's fine.

19           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Do you have a

20 problem with that?

21           MS. BIDWELL:  That's fine.

22 By Ms. Bidwell:

23       Q.  Can you see on this statute where it

24 says that you cannot terminate service between the

25 dates of 11-15 and 4-15?
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1           MR. BENZA:  Can you read that question

2 back, please?

3           (Question read back.)

4 By Ms. Bidwell:

5       Q.  Should be in Section A, probably No. 3.

6       A.  Yes, I see it.

7       Q.  Okay.  So what date was my power

8 discontinued?

9       A.  April 20th.

10       Q.  No.

11       A.  I'm sorry.  Sorry about that.  March

12 20th.

13       Q.  So in fact, it was discontinued between

14 those two dates that the statute says you cannot?

15           MR. BENZA:  I'm going to object, your

16 Honor, because she's misapplying the statute.  She's

17 trying to make an inference there that doesn't exist

18 because the statute only applies to residential

19 customers.

20           Her whole argument is that Ms. Bidwell

21 never became a customer, never was a customer of

22 record until March 23rd, 2015, and therefore she's

23 trying to confuse the facts and the law.

24           MS. BIDWELL:  So I've argued all along

25 that I was your customer.  I never got notification
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1 that my account has been closed.  I never received a

2 bill.  I never got notification that there was a

3 fraud alert, that there was something further I

4 needed to do.

5           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  I'll overrule the

6 objection.  To the extent that you can prove that

7 you're a customer, this may apply.

8           MS. BIDWELL:  I'm done with my cross of

9 Michele Jeunelot.  See, I got your name right.

10           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  I just have a few

11 questions before you.

12                     - - -

13                   EXAMINATION

14 By the Attorney Examiner:

15       Q.  Your testimony has been that there's

16 been a fraud alert on this account?

17       A.  Yes.

18       Q.  Who or what generates a fraud alert?

19       A.  It will -- the customer, or agent of the

20 customer would be the one who puts a fraud alert on

21 their account.

22           At that point when we go to start

23 service, it pops up that the customer has this fraud

24 alert on their account, and we actually have to make

25 sure the customer is the customer of record, because
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1 a lot of times it's done through like theft.

2           So somebody may steel your wallet, they

3 are going to have your Social Security number, they

4 are going to have your driver's license number, they

5 are going to have your date of birth, so just because

6 you call into our call center and have every piece of

7 identifying information that generally customers have

8 only to themselves, does not mean that you are the

9 customer who you're saying you are.

10           So our fraud alert trips, and at that

11 point we have to ask certain questions that only you

12 would know.  It would be something you wouldn't have

13 in your wallet, like where did you live in 1994, what

14 car was the last car you bought, or what car did you

15 buy in this year.  That's something that only the

16 customer would know, we could verify your identity.

17       Q.  Okay.  Did Ms. Bidwell generate the

18 fraud alert?

19       A.  It is my understanding that Ms. Bidwell

20 put a fraud alert on her account due to a theft at

21 her residence.

22       Q.  How is that information shared between

23 the company and Experian?

24       A.  So we use a software tool provided by

25 Experian to ask the questions.  We actually are not
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1 notified which are the right questions or whether the

2 customer like missed a question, I believe we're only

3 given if they get four out of five.  We're not even

4 given which ones are the right ones, my

5 understanding.

6           I've never actually done the fraud

7 alert.  But if the customer passes, then you're told

8 yes, this is your customer, they pass the fraud alert

9 question.

10           So it's a tool we get from Experian, and

11 the software, I think it's called something like

12 Precise ID, that we use that tool through Experian to

13 make sure that customers of fraud alert are who they

14 say they are.

15       Q.  So generally a customer calls to apply

16 for service, that I guess a name comes up from this

17 database provided to you from Experian and that

18 allows -- that let's you know there is a fraud alert

19 and additional questions need to be asked?

20       A.  Yes, it's like an account -- so when a

21 customer generally starts an account, the account is

22 in a pending status.  So in Ms. Bidwell's case when

23 she's given an account number, it's actually put in a

24 pending status because she also had a deposit to pay.

25           Well, she was able to pay that deposit
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1 immediately, but again, we give her a pending account

2 number until all those requirements were met.  If she

3 didn't have a fraud alert on her account and she paid

4 her deposit, then it would have check marked the box

5 yes, everything has been paid, move this pending

6 account status into a final account status and she

7 can become a customer of record.

8       Q.  When a property is vacant, you said that

9 even though electricity is used, it may not generate

10 signs of occupancy.

11       A.  Yes.

12       Q.  What alerts you to the possibility that

13 there may be occupancy?  Is there a certain amount of

14 kilowatt usage?  What determines whether this is just

15 somebody showing the property as opposed to somebody

16 living there?

17       A.  I'm not sure what the trigger is.  It's

18 a few months of seeing usage on the meter.  You know,

19 again, I have seen cases where, you know, property is

20 unoccupied, but like I said, people have left stuff

21 plugged in and it does show use on the meter.

22           I don't know offhand though what the

23 triggers are in the system for us to go look at

24 whether somebody -- or to disconnect because we don't

25 know if somebody is living there or not.
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1       Q.  Okay.  It appears that at some point

2 that trigger did in fact occur, which led the company

3 to terminate the service to that unit.

4       A.  Yes.  And I can't tell you what date

5 that trigger occurred.  It may have been, in fact,

6 December -- November, December.  Probably more, I

7 would guess, around the December time frame only

8 because that would be about the time we would get

9 some usage showing up on there.

10           We wouldn't have disconnected her until

11 January or February because of keeping our employees

12 in for the extreme cold.  So she was left on a lot

13 longer than normally would have been because of the

14 cold snap.

15       Q.  Having arrived at the conclusion that

16 there was occupancy, are there any notice

17 requirements for even fraudulent use of electricity?

18       A.  There is a rule, but the rule is very

19 specific that the -- after a customer calls in to

20 have service disconnected, so there would have had to

21 have been a prior tenant.

22           So if the apartment complex would have

23 called in and said I don't want service anymore,

24 disconnect me, and we were showing usage on the meter

25 at that point, we are required by law to leave a door
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1 hanger showing we are registering usage, no one has

2 called in to put service in their name, and at that

3 point we would do that.

4           This case did not have that happen.  In

5 this case the apartment complex kept service in her

6 name until Ms. Bidwell called to try to apply for

7 service.

8           So it was not a prior tenant that closed

9 it to meet that fraudulent rule -- or I think

10 fraudulent -- or it's under the fraudulent rule

11 unless she pays that, not being fraudulent.

12       Q.  Okay.  So are you saying you had ruled

13 out fraudulent activity?

14       A.  It does not follow the rule for the

15 fraudulent activity.  Fraudulent activity rule does

16 say that somebody has to have lived there and stop

17 service in their name for the rule to apply to them.

18       Q.  Are you aware of any notice requirements

19 in the event that you have someone occupying a

20 premises who has not started an account, there is no

21 record of an account, but evidence appears to be that

22 there is occupancy, and the company would of course

23 want to disconnect service?  What rules apply in a

24 situation like that?

25       A.  I'm not -- the only rule that I'm
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1 familiar with is the one under fraudulent rules,

2 which states that if we're seeing usage after

3 somebody has closed an account, then we're required

4 to leave notice.  I'm not aware of any other rules

5 that apply.

6       Q.  To your knowledge, was notice posted in

7 any manner on this property prior to disconnection?

8       A.  No.  Generally notice is applied for

9 customers, so I guess I do want to clarify that.

10 Once somebody becomes a customer, if we are to

11 disconnect their service we would go through very

12 stringent customer notification processes of

13 disconnect and whatnot.

14           Because this case did not meet a

15 customer, we didn't show anybody living there on our

16 account records at the time, so no disconnection

17 notice was left, and so I'm not aware of us having

18 posted anything.

19       Q.  Let's say in an instance where a tenant

20 moves into a rental unit, they have the obligation to

21 have service in their name.  Let's say they fail to

22 do that or refuse to do that.

23           The company is going to see usage.

24 Would you apply the fraudulent rules in a situation

25 like that, or would you post a notice on the door?
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1       A.  Our system has a process that if the

2 prior -- Let's say the landlord had called and said I

3 no longer what service in my name, disconnect me,

4 stop my service, and then we started seeing usage,

5 then yes, we have a process where we leave a door

6 hanger at the customer's home.

7       Q.  Is there an instance where in that

8 rental complex that the bill would be directed to the

9 owner?

10       A.  If they -- if the bill -- in this case

11 Ms. Bidwell had not applied for service on October

12 8th, for instance, the bills for service, I believe,

13 would still be going to her apartment complex

14 landlord who had it prior to her applying for

15 service, paying the bill for that.

16           So if they refused to pay the service

17 and the landlord had it in their name and didn't call

18 to stop service, the bills then go to that landlord.

19       Q.  Let me ask the question in a different

20 way.  Is there a distinction between fraudulent use

21 and someone who just forgets to apply for service, or

22 doesn't follow the steps to complete the application

23 for service?

24       A.  Well, yeah, fraudulent use, again, you

25 have to have somebody who has called to disconnect.
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1 When I say "call", it could have been done on our

2 website, but they have stopped their account -- who

3 stopped their account, the rules are very specific

4 about saying that when a customer calls to disconnect

5 service, if the utility company leaves service on in

6 between those days and we see usage, at that point

7 then we have to follow the fraudulent rules.

8           So yes, if somebody -- we start seeing

9 usage at that point, then we would leave the notice

10 on the door prior to the disconnect.

11           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  I have no further

12 questions.  Mr. Benza?

13           MR. BENZA:  Thank you, your Honor.

14                     - - -

15               REDIRECT EXAMINATION

16 By Mr. Benza:

17       Q.  Ms. Jeunelot, Ms. Bidwell was never a

18 customer of record at AEP Ohio until March 23rd,

19 2015, correct?

20       A.  That's correct.

21       Q.  And Ms. Bidwell stated earlier today

22 that she was the one who put the fraud alert on her

23 identity, correct?

24       A.  That is my understanding, correct.

25       Q.  And Ms. Bidwell was talking about the
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1 letters on October 9th and October 10th referencing

2 the deposits and the additional information

3 requested, she said that we didn't have any evidence

4 that the letters were sent.  But isn't the evidence

5 itself that we have copies in our system?

6       A.  I believe that to be true, yes.

7       Q.  And isn't that what you say in your

8 direct testimony?

9       A.  Yes.

10       Q.  And you reviewed Ms. Bidwell's account

11 thoroughly and have firsthand knowledge about

12 everything you're talking about, either through

13 speaking with AEP Ohio employees or by reviewing the

14 business records?

15       A.  I do, yes.

16       Q.  Ms. Bidwell, at some point during her

17 cross-examination, talked about eight phone calls and

18 a letter, and some confusion that she had because of

19 these phone calls and a letter, but that was after

20 she was disconnected on March 20th, 2015, correct?

21       A.  That is correct, yes.

22       Q.  So all the confusion she's talking about

23 was after she was already disconnected, correct?

24       A.  Yes.

25       Q.  You mentioned earlier that AEP Ohio has
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1 1.5 million customers.  And if we had to certify a

2 letter to each customer, that would be 1.5 times -- 5

3 millions times 3, that's 4.5 million, correct; $4.5

4 million to certify a letter to each customer,

5 correct?

6       A.  That's correct.

7       Q.  I didn't mean to give you a math

8 question.

9           Is there any rule that says that a meter

10 reader should contact a leasing office when they are

11 not the customer of record?

12       A.  Not that I am aware of, no.

13       Q.  Is there any rule that the meter reader,

14 when they are doing their job as a meter reader,

15 should do anything other than be a meter reader?

16       A.  Not to my knowledge, no.

17       Q.  So when Ms. Bidwell talks about the

18 leasing identification form that needed to be filled

19 out by her leasing office, which in fact turned out

20 not to be true, that really had no consequence,

21 because no matter what, she was a new customer and

22 therefore it would take one to three business days

23 for her to get connected; is that correct?

24       A.  I would agree with that again because

25 our processes are preset into place.  It would have
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1 sent a work flow over to the correct department to

2 determine what needed to be done at that point.

3       Q.  And she got connected after one business

4 day, correct?

5       A.  That is -- that's correct, yes.

6       Q.  So we followed the rules?

7       A.  Yes.

8       Q.  In March of 2015 there was no agreement

9 between AEP Ohio and The Avenue at Polaris, was

10 there?

11           MS. BIDWELL:  Already answered.

12           MR. BENZA:  Let me phrase it this way.

13 By Mr. Benza:

14       Q.  Otherwise -- wouldn't there already be a

15 customer of record at that address if there was

16 already an agreement between AEP Ohio and the leasing

17 office?

18       A.  I'm not sure how that would work because

19 there was no customer of record.  I believe the way

20 the contract works is once a customer closes or

21 finalizes the account, then it goes into the

22 apartment complex's name.  If a customer moves out

23 and they call, it stays in the customer's name.

24           If we don't have a customer of record,

25 as was the case here, I'm not sure what would have
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1 happened, if it would have just went straight to the

2 apartment's name or if something would have had to

3 happen on that account before it would go.

4       Q.  So if there was an agreement between AEP

5 Ohio and The Avenue at Polaris, the apartment

6 complex, in March of 2015, they would have been the

7 customer of record since there was none beforehand,

8 correct?

9       A.  If there would have been one in place

10 during the October 8th call, and once we finalized --

11 or didn't finalize, once we closed the pending

12 account out, if there was one in place then yes, it

13 would have gone back to the apartments at Polaris, or

14 whatever the --

15       Q.  So by reference then, could you say that

16 in March of 2015 there was no agreement between AEP

17 Ohio and The Avenue at Polaris, correct?  You can

18 make that assumption?

19       A.  I can say I'm not sure when that -- when

20 that contract was signed.

21       Q.  Okay.  So if there's no customer of

22 record -- Strike that.

23           If there's an identity fraud alert, we

24 wouldn't sent an e-mail, would we?

25       A.  I don't know.
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1       Q.  If there's an identity fraud alert on a

2 letter asking for additional information, wouldn't

3 saying that the reason we're asking for additional

4 information is because we have a fraud alert, be

5 tipping off someone who stole your information?

6       A.  It could be.

7       Q.  In an e-mail when someone says read

8 receipts, you can reject that, correct?

9       A.  Yes.  I do that quite often.

10       Q.  So someone could send you an e-mail, you

11 could reject the receipt, and they would never have

12 confirmation that you sent it?

13       A.  Potentially.

14       Q.  So putting a read receipt on an e-mail

15 doesn't guarantee confirmation?

16       A.  Potentially, yes.

17       Q.  By the rules and through our hearings

18 and whatnot, we have to have cost effective service,

19 correct?

20       A.  Yes.

21       Q.  And a part of cost effective service is

22 that at some point you have to draw a line where you

23 stop taking actions, correct?

24       A.  I would agree with that.

25       Q.  So there's always one more thing you
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1 could have done, correct?

2       A.  Correct.

3       Q.  So in your estimation, based on what we

4 have already talked about, about sending a certified

5 letter, that would not be cost effective to send a

6 certified letter?

7       A.  I do not believe it would be.

8       Q.  When AEP Ohio originally called

9 Ms. Bidwell in October of 2014 and it went to the

10 voicemail box and the voicemail box was full, if the

11 circumstance had been that the voicemail box was not

12 full it would have been AEP Ohio's practice to leave

13 a voicemail, correct?

14       A.  That is my understanding, yes.  It would

15 have left a direct number to direct collection for

16 the application process to finish.

17       Q.  Can you please turn in your testimony to

18 MLJ 4 and read the entire October 10th letter,

19 please?

20       A.  You want me to read MLJ 4 the letter?

21       Q.  Yeah.  Just starting after, "Dear Jane

22 A. Bidwell."

23       A.  "American Electric Power recently

24 received your request to open electric service in

25 your name at 1051 Las Vegas Boulevard, Suite 105,
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1 Columbus, Ohio.  In order for us to provide the

2 service, additional information is needed.  Failure

3 to contact AEP by October 19th, 2014, will result in

4 the cancellation of your request for service without

5 further notice.  If service at this address is

6 currently on, it may be disconnected on or after that

7 date.  Please contact AEP at 1-866-339-5574.

8 Representatives are available Monday through Friday

9 between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 3:30 p.m. central

10 time.  Outside of these hours you may leave a voice

11 message providing a daytime phone number and we will

12 return your call.  Thank you for your immediate

13 attention regarding this matter.  AEP Ohio is

14 available 24 hours a day, seven days a week."

15       Q.  So in this letter, in summation, it says

16 we got your request for service, additional

17 information is needed, if you do not provide this

18 additional information by October 19th, 2014, your

19 request for service will be canceled and you will be

20 disconnected?

21       A.  That's correct.

22       Q.  So that's a disconnect notice?

23       A.  I would believe that to be one, yes.

24       Q.  In your direct testimony you talk about

25 a customer application, but you're just using it as a
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1 synonym for request of service, correct?

2       A.  I do, yes.

3       Q.  Can you turn to MLJ 2, please?  On the

4 second page, 7 of 9, Ms. Bidwell says that she wants

5 to open up a new account because she's moving into a

6 new area, correct?

7       A.  That's correct.

8       Q.  So in common parlance, that would mean

9 to apply for service?

10       A.  Yes.

11       Q.  That would mean to request for service?

12       A.  Yes.

13       Q.  Okay.  And on Page 7, Line 18,

14 Ms. Bidwell refers to it as -- excuse me, strike

15 that.

16           Page 8, Lines 2 and 3, it says --

17 Ms. Bidwell says where you turn the service on, so

18 she's requesting service?

19       A.  That's correct.

20       Q.  The $795 that Ms. Bidwell had to pay in

21 April was for the usage that she admitted to after

22 the fact, correct?  So Ms. Bidwell said that she used

23 service in October to March of -- from October of

24 2014 to March of 2015, and that's why she was billed

25 that amount for that usage?
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1       A.  Yes, that would be the usage for the

2 October to the March.

3       Q.  So if someone wasn't billed for

4 something and they come to AEP Ohio and they say I

5 used this electricity, AEP Ohio would bill them?

6       A.  Yes.  And there's an Ohio Administrative

7 Code that allows us to bill for customers from the

8 date of move in.

9       Q.  The statute that Ms. Bidwell referenced

10 earlier is ORC 4933.121.  That only -- that applies

11 to customers only, correct?

12       A.  Yes.

13       Q.  And that rule was not triggered?

14       A.  That is correct.

15       Q.  The other rule that we talked about was

16 one that involved a disconnection -- a request for

17 disconnection by the prior customer of record, and

18 then an application for service afterwards.  That's

19 not what happened in this case, correct?

20       A.  You're correct.  There was not a request

21 for disconnection from a prior tenant or apartment

22 complex prior to Ms. Bidwell applying for service.

23       Q.  And the bills that were going to the

24 landlord or the tenant office would have continued to

25 go there if Ms. Bidwell hadn't have called and
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1 started a customer service application?

2       A.  That's correct.

3       Q.  And since she never completed the

4 customer service application, in light of the fraud

5 alert, AEP Ohio never knew that anyone was at that

6 address, correct?

7       A.  Correct.  We showed no customer of

8 record at that account.

9       Q.  And this is further strengthened by the

10 fact there was a fraud alert on her identity,

11 correct?

12       A.  I guess I don't understand that

13 question.

14       Q.  In other words, just because someone

15 represents something on the phone, coupled that with

16 the fact that there's a fraud alert on this person's

17 identity, it doesn't mean that someone is at that

18 address?

19       A.  Correct.

20           MR. BENZA:  No further questions, your

21 Honor.

22           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  I'll allow any

23 followup within the scope of redirect.

24                     - - -

25                RECROSS-EXAMINATION
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1 By Ms. Bidwell:

2       Q.  Can you tell me who Mr. Akins appointed

3 from customer service to call me and investigate?

4           MR. BENZA:  Objection.  Outside.

5           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Sustained.

6 By Ms. Bidwell:

7       Q.  Would it surprise you if I said that a

8 request for service does not constitute an

9 application for service in my mind?

10       A.  I can see where the two -- it would be

11 confusing.  I can see that, yes.

12       Q.  Does it surprise you that that is not

13 common language in other industries?

14           MR. BENZA:  Objection.  This is outside

15 the scope as well.

16           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Sustained.

17           MS. BIDWELL:  You know what?  I'm done.

18 I'm really done for the day.  My brain can't think

19 anymore right now.

20           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  I have no further

21 questions.

22           MR. BENZA:  No further questions, your

23 Honor.

24           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  You may be excused.

25           (Witness excused.)
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1           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  No further

2 witnesses?

3           MR. BENZA:  No further witnesses.

4           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  I'll provide an

5 opportunity for closing argument if you choose.

6 Ms. Bidwell.

7           MS. BIDWELL:  Do I go first?  My turn?

8           MR. BENZA:  Your Honor, I want to make

9 sure that we're also going to have a brief as well.

10           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Pardon?

11           MR. BENZA:  I want to make sure we're

12 going to have a brief as well.

13           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  I'd rather do one

14 but not both.  If you want to do briefs, that's fine,

15 in lieu of closing argument.

16           MR. BENZA:  I would much, much prefer a

17 brief.

18           MS. BIDWELL:  Can I give a closing

19 argument?

20           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  I'd rather do one or

21 the other.

22           (Discussion held off the record.)

23           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  Let's go back on the

24 record.  We have had a brief discussion of a briefing

25 schedule off the record.
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1           The parties have agreed that the briefs

2 will be filed on July 8th, Friday, close of business.

3 There will be no reply briefs.  If there -- is there

4 anything further?

5           MR. BENZA:  No, your Honor.  Thank you.

6           ATTORNEY EXAMINER:  This hearing is

7 adjourned.  Thank you very much.

8           (In an off-the-record discussion Company

9            Exhibit 12 was admitted into evidence.)

10           (Thereupon, the hearing was

11              concluded at 4:26 p.m.)

12                      - - -
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